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MBRE
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the results and assets
and liabilities of Binjiang Service Group Co. Ltd. (the
“Company” or “Binjiang Service”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for each of the years ended
31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

EEBE RESULTS SUMMARY
i
Note 2020 2021 2022 2023 m
L'ON Revenue
(AE&FT) (RMB’000) 960,201 1,398,947 1,982,633 2,809,206 3,594,714
#Em increase 36.8% 45.7% 41.7% 41.7% 28.0%
EAN Gross profit
(ANR¥F) (RMB’000) 297,317 449,677 592,247 695,887 835,368
1 m increase 50.9% 51.2% 31.7% 17.5% 20.0%
EH = Gross profit margin (1) 31.0% 32.1% 29.9% 24.8% 23.2%
ERFE Profit for the year
(AREFT) (RMB’000) 220,274 325,021 418,968 503,031 553,502
)l increase 91.7% 47.6% 28.9% 20.1% 10.0%
5 & Net profit margin 2) 22.9% 23.2% 21.1% 17.9% 15.4%
KARIEZERE  Profit attributable
FE15 78 to equity

(ANREFTT) shareholders of
the Company

(RMB’000)
bl increase
ERREE Basic and diluted
BREAM earnings per
(AR¥T) share (RMB)

Hit

(N EMRTZAEMBRABAFTE -

(2)  FEMERTIAFE AT B ARAFE -

219,550 321,751 411,995 492,545 546,529
91.4% 46.6% 28.0% 19.6% 11.0%

0.79 1.16 1.49 1.78 1.98

Notes:

(1) Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by
revenue.

(2)  Net profit margin is calculated as profit for the year divided by
revenue.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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890,658

3,081,958

4,258,607

2,652,551

2,666,733

1,528,960

35.7%
1.16
0.0017

EEHABEHE SUMMARY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Kzt
Note 2020 2021 2022
BeRkFEEZEEY Cash and cash
(AR®Fr)  equivalents
(RMB'000) 805,394 905,746 1,949,891 1,455,384
mENE E Current assets
(AR¥F) (RMB’000) 1,368,118 1,482,250 2,640,070 2,605,190
BEE Total assets
(ANR¥TFr) (RMB’000) 1,502,589 1,684,636 2,993,992 4,054,902
mBEE Current liabilities
(ANREFT) (RMB'000) 642,953 710,957 1,680,801 2,491,664
Bwak Total liabilities
(AR®Fr)  (RMB000) 644,256 711,076 1,707,684 2,513,329
ARRIEZRR  Total equity
JEIE B attributable to
(ARE¥FT) equity shareholders
of the Company
(RMB'000) 841,625 941,589 1,246,254 1,488,447
BRERZBHEE  Return on
shareholders’
equity (3) 26.1% 34.2% 33.1% 33.1%
i By b & Current ratio ) 2.13 2.08 157 1.05
BAREELER  Gearing ratio (5) 0.003 0.002 0.0004 0.0026
B e - Notes:

(3)  ARERMEE M KTy A RN F R A AR FE M5 4R FE
BRIABRIE AT E -

(4 NRBLXDURDEERURBDAETE -

(5) EBARBBELEDUGFEERLEREHEAR)
MRABBEEIR 2 = B R T E o 1202412 A31
B ARA W EBSER -

6 BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(3) Return on shareholders’ equity is calculated as total profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company divided by

shareholders’ equity.

(4) Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current
liabilities.

(5) Gearing ratio is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings
(including lease liabilities) divided by total equity at the end of
the respective period. At 31 December 2024, the Company had
no interest-bearing loans.
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EE®RE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

To all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)"),

Thank you for your trust in and support to the Group.
On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of the Company, | am pleased to present
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

In 2024, the property management industry in China
underwent an ongoing change and transformation,
driven by macro-environmental restoration and policies.
Against the background of ongoing urbanization
deepening and economic stabilization with quality
enhancement, residents’ demand for high-quality
living standards continues to grow. The property
management industry is undergoing an industrial
reformation, evolving from basic maintenance services
to a quality-driven service model. In 2024, centering on
customer value creation, following the path of high-
quality development and taking lean operation and
management as the starting point, the Group remained
committed to reform and innovation, giving full play to
the advantages of regional concentration, empowering
flat control, expanding value-added service ecosystems,
and consolidating its brand advantages. It has achieved
a dual improvement in scale and reputation, stimulating
the vitality and momentum of sustainable development.
Upholding the corporate vision of becoming “The brand
leader in the property management industry and the
standard setter of premium service quality”, guided by
the service concept of “Serving with heart and filling
home with love”, the Group is striving to warm the
hearts of all families with its sincere services, build an
evergreen business with stable operations, and write a
new chapter of the era by fulfilling our responsibilities.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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ESTABLISHING INDUSTRY BENCHMARK

BY STAYING TRUE TO OUR ORIGINAL
ASPIRATION OF ENSURING HIGH-QUALITY
In 2024, based on the Board’'s guidance to maintain
brand leadership and build quality benchmarks, and
under the leadership of the management, the Group
reformed its regional organization structure, deepened
management and service standardization to achieve
the both objectives of cost reduction and quality
enhancement. The Group improved its three-tier quality
control system and enhanced its quality inspection
and management tools, which has helped realize full-
coverage and multi-dimensional professional quality
control over the implementation of star management
standards for projects, seven categories of hardware
management and five categories of soft services, etc.
Furthermore, it effectively enhanced the timeliness and
completeness of the feedback and rectification through
a better quality control appraisal mechanism and
satisfaction survey mechanism. The Group’s expert team
offered multifaceted professional technical support and
intervention assistance for all newly-delivered projects
and weak projects, guiding project management to enter
a virtuous circle of development and guaranteeing service
quality.

In addition, attaching great importance to
communication with owners, the Group launched a new
customer service intelligent system in 2024 and ensured
timely and accurate response to owners’ concerns
through multi-channel satisfaction surveys and customer
feedback mechanisms. According to the survey and
evaluation of Hangzhou residents’ satisfaction by China
Index Academy (the “CIA"), the Group has topped the
list for 13 consecutive years, taking the lead in Hangzhou.
With the increasing living experience of the owners
served by the Group, enhanced value preservation and
appreciation of second-hand houses and the value-added
rate of second-hand houses served beyond the regional
average level, the Group has won a high reputation and
loyalty from our customers.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

STRENGTHENING BRAND POTENTIAL
THROUGH DEEP CULTIVATION OF
REGIONAL MARKET

With the expansion strategy of “Focusing on Hangzhou,
cultivating the Yangtze River Delta and radiating to the
whole country” and the expansion tactics of “initiating a
project in one year, developing the project in three years
and optimizing it in five years”, the Group has expanded
its presence in the regional market through branding and
high-quality services, realizing both scale and reputation
enhancement.

Thanks to its good brand image and high-quality
services, the Group continued to expand its market
through multiple channels such as strategic cooperation,
direct expansion of existing property portfolios and the
establishment of joint ventures. Currently, the Group’s
managed area in Hangzhou has exceeded 43 million
square meters, accounting for approximately 63.7%
of the total GFA under management. In addition, the
combined total GFA under management in the top five
cities accounted for about 88.5% of the total. Through
the regional deep cultivation strategy, the Group has
continued to effectively expand its high-quality market
share and gain a firm foothold in the fierce market
competition.

In 2024, the Group strictly controlled project entry
thresholds, dynamically optimized resource allocation,
and constructed an organic market expansion ecosystem
through cross-departmental collaboration and full
teamwork, so as to continuously enhance the value of
projects. The Group has consecutively won a number of
high-quality projects, such as Tianyu Bay (X2 /&) and
Glorious City, with annual saturated revenue exceeding
RMB10 million; signed projects such as Stream Garden
(Z 7K &), which had saturated revenue of more than
RMB14 million, and successfully developed new projects
in Hangzhou Xiaoshan Airport, Shanghai, Zhoushan and
Hainan. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had GFA
under management of 67.9 million sgq.m., representing
a year-on-year growth of approximately 23.9%, and
GFA under contract management of approximately 92.9
million sg.m., covering 21 cities and municipality across
the country, including Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Shanghai,
Hainan, Jiangxi and Guangdong, and serving more than
310,000 quality homeowners.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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ENABLING A BETTER LIFE BY EXPANDING
VALUE-ADDED SERVICES

Relying on its strengths in brand, reputation, prestige,
resources and services, the Group promoted strategic
business synergies, stimulated team motivation and
innovation, and built a value-added services system for
owners with 5S as its core, aiming to provide a high-
quality and high value-added services ecosystem that
meets the multifaceted needs of owners in terms of their
living and housing asset management and maintenance.

Deep rooted in Hangzhou market, Binjiang Youjia's
agency service team accurately aligns with and satisfies
the diversified needs of the target customer groups
through the implementation of a high-standard and
high-quality service strategy for new properties and
second-hand properties, thus becoming an indispensable
traffic portal and service supplement in the 5S value-
added service system. In 2024, Binjiang Youjia and
service centers coordinated to increase sales of
parking spaces and storage units, achieving a revenue
breakthrough. Meanwhile, through the organization of
the activity namely “Joining Hands with Property Owners
for the Binjiang Village Revitalization”, it has effectively
promoted the growth of the second-hand real estate
agency business in terms of reputation and regional
influence.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In 2024, thanks to the market’s recognition of Binjiang's
centralized furnishing services, the business scale of
Binjiang Youju saw a faster growth. Relying on the
strengths of our professional team and resources, it
actively expanded the demand for customized soft
furnishings, lifestyle services, high-end low-density
residential renovation and second-hand residential
renovation through synergy with the agency business
of Binjiang Youjia. In addition, the Group integrated
the resources of upstream and downstream suppliers in
the decoration business to create the Binjiang Service
Providers Alliance, which provides cost-effective facility
and equipment upgrades, localized renovation of kitchens
and balconies, and professional geothermal heating,
air-conditioning, kitchen and electrical maintenance
services for existing owners, thus improving the one-stop
customized residence maintenance system.

Youxiang living services focus on the resources of
the Group’s high-end service team to offer caring
and thoughtful home life services that are tailored
to the service needs of homeowners in their living
environments, thereby enhancing customer stickiness,
experience and satisfaction. In addition, the Group
reshaped its new retail platform, Binxiang Mall, this year
to enhance the organization and promotion of quality
and specialty goods sources and provide owners with
high quality goods at a high price-performance ratio, in
order to satisfy consumers’ individual needs and further
enhance customer experience and brand influence.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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CONSOLIDATING DEVELOPMENT
FOUNDATION THROUGH ORGANIZATION
AND MANAGEMENT INNOVATION

In accordance with the directives of the Board, the
Group has continued to improve and deepen its
management and service standardization and intelligent
management and operation system through organization
and management reforms and innovations, and optimize
the talent team building, development and training
system, so as to achieve optimal allocation of resources
and enhance its operational efficiency and brand
management advantages.

In 2024, leveraging the advantages of regional
concentration and short radius management, the Group
significantly enhanced its organizational effectiveness
through the full implementation of organizational
reform, breaking down management barriers, and
realizing the effective integration of the management
system, appraisal system and talent system. At the
same time, Market Development Center, 55 Operation
Center, Operation Department, Engineering Center,
Housekeeping Center and Greening Maintenance
Center were established to promote efficient and flat
management, achieve precise cost control, convenient
communication and optimize resources, and ensure
the continuity and high standard of owner service
experience.

Attaching importance to the construction of intelligence
and informatization, the Group empowered the financial
management system, human resources management
system and procurement platform system to continuously
enhance the effectiveness of corporate intelligence
sharing, further strengthen the management of income
and expenditure, budgetary control, asset management
and accounts receivable management, set up a digitally-
driven dynamic monitoring system to automate
payroll accounting, improve the capability of internal
control management, and enhance the effectiveness
of management. Through the implementation of a
supplier grading evaluation and centralized procurement
mechanism, the Group enhanced the response speed of
suppliers, and reduced procurement costs, ensuring the
steady development of the enterprise.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The Group attaches great importance to its talent
development strategy and adheres to an employee-
oriented employment philosophy. It has revised and
improved various human resources policies, constructed a
talent cultivation and development system, enhanced the
effectiveness of internal cultivation, expanded the pool
of talents and strengthened the foundation of the talent
echelon. The professional teams integrated operational
practice and industry experience, independently
developed adapted training course systems, launched
specialized training for undertaking inspections and
fire elevators, completed the third and fourth phases
of the "“Eagle Program” project manager training while
deepening the construction of corporate culture, and
organized special activities of skill competitions and
speech contests such as the “Ignite the Fighting Power e
Ignite the Power to Serve”, which helped to stimulate the
potential of employees while demonstrating the style of
the team, strengthen team cohesion and organizational
centripetal force, promote standardized management,
standardized operation, militarization of execution,
humanized service, forge a professional team with
combat effectiveness, and provide talent guarantee for
the development of the Group.

PRACTICING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND
BUILDING A HARMONIOUS COMMUNITY
The Group is committed to building a harmonious and
inclusive relationship between the enterprise and the
community. By actively organizing a wide range of
community activities, the Group seeks to achieve social
benefits at a higher level while enhancing the sense
of belonging of the tenants. Upholding the traditional
ethnic value of “respecting, caring and loving for the
elderly”, the Group launched the “Gingko Service”
elderly companionship program, providing a series of
convenient services on a daily basis and launching a
number of activities that are welcome and satisfied
by elderly residents. In 2024, the Group launched a
cumulative total of 1,334 services for the benefit of
the public and organized a total of 2,199 community
cultural activities during festivals and holidays, covering
more than 210,000 people. In addition, the Group also
participated in the management of affordable housing,
social public infrastructure and sites, provided social
services, and actively fulfilled social responsibilities.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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Thanks to the continuously improving service quality, the
Group has won wide recognition from the owners and
the society.

In 2024, the Group was honored with a number of
honorable awards by third-party organizations and
governmental departments, including: ranking 12th
among the Top 100 Property Management Service
Brands, 2024 China Leading Enterprise in High-end
Property Management Services, Top Ten Excellent Quality
Enterprises in the Property Management Industry in
China for 2024, Leading Service Enterprises in Zhejiang
Province for 2024, Enterprises with Double AAA Credit
Grade Among Property Management Service Enterprises
in Zhejiang Province for 2024, 2023 Corporate Social
Responsibility Benchmarking Enterprises in Zhejiang
Province, 2024 Global Zheshang ESG Classic 100
Enterprises, etc.

The Group received a total of 124 awards for projects
under its management, some of which are set out
below: the “Beautiful Home (E X E)" community at
provincial level of Zhejiang (Xixi Star (F5)¥ 2 £)) granted
by Department of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of Zhejiang Province; water-saving communities in
Zhejiang Province (Xixi Star, Thousand-islet Lake Oriental
Coast (T & # R 75 /8 %), Yongchao Mansion (¥ % /T ));
Red Property in Zhejiang Province (Xixi Pearl (75 % BH %k),
Sunshine Coast, Phoenix Town); Provincial garden-style
communities (Gucui Lanting (& 2 & kZ)); high-standard
domestic waste classification demonstration communities
in Zhejiang Province granted by Office of the Leading
Group of Classification of Domestic Garbage and Trash
in Zhejiang Province (23 projects including Oriental Star
City (R /5 £%), Yongtao Mansion (¥ & F), Yongchao
Mansion (# 8 fiF)); Outstanding Residential Project in
Hangzhou granted by Hangzhou Property Management
Association (Gucui Lanting and Star of Vanguard (£ X <
£)); and Outstanding Non-residential Projects (Creative
Green Valley (8% 4% ) and Al industrial park).
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The opportunities for sustainable development of
enterprise stem from society’s relentless pursuit of a high
quality of life. Under the guidance of the quality policy
of “sincerity, innovation, perfection, safety, health and
green”, the Group attaches great importance to green,
healthy and sustainable development, and has integrated
this concept into all aspects of its corporate governance
and business operations. By continuously listening to
and deeply understanding the needs of our owners and
other key stakeholders, we seek to create broader social
value by significantly enhancing social and environmental
benefits while improving economic efficiency.

Distinguished Shareholders, the Group, under the
leadership of the Board, will stay true to its commitment
to services. To do so, we will seize the opportunities
and meet the challenges, respond to market changes
with strategic strength, drive the internal dynamics
with reform and innovation, refine the value paradigm
with excellence, in order to repay the society’s
high expectations with responsibility, and fulfill the
development mission with sincerity!

Yu Zhongxiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, the PRC, 25 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Looking back to 2024, the Group maintained steady
growth and continued to develop and take root in the
Yangtze River Delta region, further expanding its business
scopes within the Yangtze River Delta. The Group has a
total of 179 subsidiaries and branches across the Zhejiang
Province, Shanghai,
Hainan Province and Guangdong Province in China.
Moreover, the Group has recorded a sizeable increase in
both GFA under management and the contracted GFA.
As of 31 December 2024, the GFA under management
was approximately 67.9 million sq.m., representing a
year-on-year increase of 23.9%. The contracted GFA was
representing a year-
on-year increase of 13.0%, which will provide favorable

Jiangsu Province, Jiangxi Province,

approximately 92.9 million sq.m.,

support for sustainable development of the business
growth of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
revenue increased year-on-year of 28.0% to RMB3,594.7
million. The Group’s gross profit increased by 20.0%
from the corresponding period of 2023 to RMB835.4
million. The Group’s gross profit margin was 23.2%.
Among them,
management services, value-added services to non-
property owners and 5S value-added services amounted
to RMB1,932.3 million, RMB565.4 million and
RMB1,097.0 million, respectively. In 2024, the average
monthly property management fee of the Group was
approximately RMB4.10 per sg.m. (2023: RMB4.21 per
sq.m.), calculated by dividing the property management
fee income for the Reporting Period by the average
chargeable GFA at the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Period. Leveraging its brand recognition
and industry influence, the Group was able to charge

revenue generated from property

relatively higher property management fees for its quality
In 2024, the Group
reached an upward adjustment of property management

property management services.

fees in 15 projects by its high-quality services, solidifying
the advantageous route of brand development.
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The Group provided high-quality property management
services that are tailored to its customers’ needs and
maintained its brand recognition and awareness in
property services. Its ranking increased to 12th among
the top 100 property management service brands
selected by CIA, and won the titles of “2024 High-
end Property Service Leader in China” awarded by
China Real Estate Information Corporation (“CRIC"),
and “2024 Leading Growth Companies in Property
Services in China”. As the Group’s quality services
are highly recognised within the region, Hangzhou
Binjiang Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* ( #1 M & ;T
®EERABMR QA and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Binjiang Group”), a leading property developer in
China, has established close business relationship with
the Group and continuously provided a large number
of premium properties to the Group. In 2024, the total
annual full-caliber sales of Binjiang Group amounted to
RMB111.63 billion, ranking 9th in the list of national real
estate enterprises of CRIC. In addition, Binjiang Group
acquired 23 pieces of quality land in total and 6 agent
construction projects, 22 of which were in Hangzhou.

In view of the rapid development of the overall
property services industry in recent years, the Group
shall strike a balance between quality, scale and profit
in its operations. The Group will regard its service
quality as its core competitiveness and will raise the
standard of refined services and increase its investment
in technologies to enhance the efficiency of its
management and operation by leveraging its efficient
management experience. Through strengthening staff
management, monitoring facilities and equipment
and upgrading internal office systems, the operation
procedures will be streamlined and the quality assurance
system will be optimized, and expense control and cost
control will be strengthened while improving its service
capabilities. The Group will be able to achieve synergetic
development of quality, scale and profitability.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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BUSINESS MODELS OF THE GROUP

The management of the Group classified business
segments into property management services, value-
added services to non-property owners and 5S value-
added services, forming an entire value chain of
comprehensive services within property management.

e Property management services: The Group
provides property owners with a series of high-
quality property management services, including
security, cleaning, gardening, repair, maintenance
and ancillary services, and charges service fees
from residents and property owners or real
estate developers of such properties under our
management for property management services.
In addition, the Group provides land reserve
management services, primarily including land
management and maintenance, green planting
and maintenance, wall and fence painting works,
muck removal and transportation, installation and
management of monitoring devices, and others.

e Value-added services to non-property
owners: The Group provides value-added services
to non-property owners, mainly to property
developers. These services refer to pre-delivery
services, consulting services and community space
services. Pre-delivery services include cleaning,
assisting with quality checks and security services
for completed properties and display units and
providing property sales venue management
services to property developers during the pre-
delivery stage of property sales. Consulting
services include advising property developers
at the early and construction stages on project
planning, design management and construction
management to enhance functionality, comfort and
convenience. Community space services include
(i) assisting advertisement companies with regard
to advertisement placements in the community
spaces in the Group’s managed properties, and
(i) managing community venues in the Group’s
managed properties.
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5S value-added services: The Group also
provides 5S value-added services to property
owners, including three major businesses, namely
Youjia services, Youju services and Youxiang living
services.

Youjia services currently include the primary and
secondary property sales, leasing agency services,
car parking spaces and storage rooms services. The
Group is committed to providing attentive services
for customers with its own resources.

Youju services include the home decoration services.
It adheres to its “Living Home"” interior services
concept to provide customers with elegant, stylish,
modern and customized furnishing services and
interior design services, home decoration services
and facility upgrade services and maintenance.

Youxiang living services include home living
services and Binxiang Mall services. In view of the
different functions in residential and non-residential
properties, the Group provides additional services
that are tailored to its customers’ needs.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024
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It has been the strategic objective of the Group to
expand its managed area with stability and quality.
The Group seeks to maintain a steady increase in
contracted GFA and GFA under management through
various channels. The table below sets out the change
of contracted GFA and GFA under management of the
Group in 2024 and 2023:

8220245 B ZE2023F EEYIPLE BZE2023%

12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H
As of As of As of As of
EARDIILI LT 31 December EERBDIEIT I JI@M 31 December
2024 2023 2024 2023

EHNEEER EEREHER

(FEHK) (FEAK)
contracted GFA GFA under management

(000 sg.m.) (000 sg.m.)
R E 4] At the beginning of the year 82,168 69,058 54,847 41,970
b Addition 14,114 15,076 15,973 14,760
#®IE Termination (3,416) (1,966) (2,875) (1,883)
RER At the end of the year 92,866 82,168 67,945 54,847

i R2024F12A318  ASBEEERIIBEBFES
K BHOEBRIABEF K GAEREEEE
MELEHRIZ7: 1 - AHEEEERAERR
BEEEVEEEANRREEIHSEENE
SKMEAE o
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Note: As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a GFA under
management of 67.9 million sg.m. and a contracted GFA of 92.9
million sg.m., with a ratio of contracted GFA to the GFA under
management of approximately 1.37:1. Contracted GFA refers
to the GFA managed currently or to be managed by the Group
under signed property management contracts.



BEENmRE DM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREI AN EER20245F B2023FE XS E
FREWALRE - EEREMBENIEBSHAMA

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the Group's
total property management services revenue, GFA

(RMERBE D) : under management and number of projects by type of
properties in 2024 and 2023:
B £2024512R318 HZ2023F12A318
As of 31 December 2024 As of 31 December 2023
EERE EERE
WA H#% HEE KA HE EE#A
GFA under Number of GFA under  Number of
Revenue management projects Revenue management projects
(AR# ON:-
Fr) (F¥HX) Fr) (FEAXK)
(RMB'000) ("000 sq.m.) (RMB'000)  ('000 sg.m.)
= Residential 1,476,899 56,939 314 1,131,608 45,040 252
FEE Non-residential 449,281 11,006 112 404,298 9,807 106
THER Land management 6,109 - - 13,984 — —
@it Total 1,932,289 67,945 426 1,549,890 54,847 358
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TREY AN EER2024F R2023F Y X B The table below sets forth the breakdown of the Group's

FRAEMARRE  EEEZLEEEREEHHEM total revenue from property management services, GFA

(RAZEMEEE YD) under management and number of projects by type of
developers in 2024 and 2023:

20245 2023F
2024 2023
EEEE EERE
L ON HE BEEY LN Hg EER
GFA under  Number of GFA under  Number of
Revenue management projects Revenue management projects
UN:d (AR%
Fr)  (FERXR) Frn) (FEAXK)
(RMB'000) (‘000 sq.m.) (RMB'000)  ('000 sg.m.)

BTSEREH  Properties developed by

S Binjiang Group 947,486 30,577 183 759,666 23,851 144
— AR B — early stage 435,353 15,449 106 366,009 13,408 87
—%Z2ekR — property owners'
association stage 512,133 15,128 17 393,657 10,443 57
BUMEREE  Properties developed by
RENNE independent property
developers 978,694 37,368 243 776,240 30,996 214
— AR B — early stage 596,725 24,571 178 468,004 19,316 156
—%Z2ekR — property owners'
association stage 381,969 12,797 65 308,236 11,680 58
THER Land management 6,109 - — 13,984 — —
@t Total 1,932,289 67,945 426 1,549,890 54,847 358

22 BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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The table below sets forth the breakdown of the Group's
total revenue from property management services,

A (= & 5) GFA under management and number of projects by
geographic regions in 2024 and 2023:
B 220245127318 B Z2023F12A318
As of 31 December 2024 As of 31 December 2023
EERE EERE
WA HE  EEHE KA HiE BE#A
GFA under  Number of GFA under  Number of
Revenue management projects Revenue management projects
(AR% (AR#
rn)  (F¥EX) ) (FEAX)
(RMB'000)  ('000 sq.m.) (RMB'000)  ('000 sg.m.)
M Hangzhou 1,361,911 43,274 295 1,102,000 34,879 250
g Zhejiang province (excluding
(M) Hangzhou) 509,361 22,554 116 394,796 18,362 98
AT A5 Qutside Zhejiang Province 61,017 2,117 15 53,094 1,606 10
@it Total 1,932,289 67,945 426 1,549,890 54,847 358
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to deepen standardization of
management and services for further promotion of
quality brand building.

The Group will continue to optimize the star service
standard system, pre-property services and site services
management standard system, and quality inspection
system for the standardized service and management
dedicated to property service quality, project cost control
management, pre-property services and site services
management for the further standardization of services.
The Group strives to consolidate the interim goal of “top
property management brand in China and a benchmark
in Zhejiang”. Through providing effective and consistent
service quality, the Group will gain higher brand value
and sustainable market competitiveness. The Group will
improve its regular quality inspections and strengthen
and deepen the intensity and dimension of quality
control supervision from the Group’s headquarters
inspection and engineering safety inspection. In addition,
the Group will focus on improving the quality of security
service and safety management, customer service staff’s
service quality and information feedback, timely and
accurate engineering maintenance and other aspects
of soft services, so as to ensure the long-lasting quality
of projects under management with up-to-date service
standards.
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The property management service industry in China
is increasingly concentrated. In the future, the Group
will continue to expand its brand influence, expand the
region mainly in the Yangtze River Delta, and strive
to be in the middle and upper reaches of the industry
with its quality and reputation being the first-class in
China. The Group intends to leverage its success in the
luxury market in the Yangtze River Delta and its existing
service management systems and standards to expand
its current market share and to further penetrate new
markets. The Group utilizes a benchmark model where it
takes root within the region once a benchmark property
has been established within. Focusing on Hangzhou
and taking root in the Yangtze River Delta, the Group
will focus on the operation in the existing markets and
strategically expand its business coverage across the
country. The trend for the quality expansion and high-
quality development of the Group has been basically
formed. In future, the Group will strive to initiate a
project in one year, develop the project in three years
and optimize it in five years. The expansion of the Jinhua
region has already achieved initial results, and the Group
will develop Shanghai and Ningbo and other key regions
in future.

In addition, the Group also actively expands its business
into a wide range of urban services and other industries
to strengthen its comprehensive service capabilities.

The Group strives to become a trustworthy property
manager and caretaker for property owners, it will
develop value-added service systems focusing on 5S and
fully tap into and stretch its own edges to diversify value-
added services for owners and customers, with a focus
on owners’ needs.
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Stretching the edges of the Company in brand,
customers and concentration, the Group takes a holistic
approach to the real estate agency resources of Youjia
(18 ) and works on the sales of car parking spaces and
storage rooms. The Group grows its market business by
promoting and duplicating the successful cases of Youju
(& J&) home decoration. The Group improves the “Living
Home" interior design service system, expands the sales
scope, and pilots the local decoration and renovation
business, such as the refurbishment and renovation of
bathrooms, kitchens and balconies, and the updating
service of facilities and equipment. The Group optimizes
and expands the home entry service business of Youxiang
living. The Group has launched the “Binxiang Life"”
application and an online shop to offer cost-effective
quality products and services to owners and customers.

The Group puts great efforts in upgrading its internal
management system and smart management platform,
while adhering to its principles and maintaining a degree
of flexibility to prepare for future development. The
Group aims to boost its development through optimizing
its management structure, setting up standardized
operation procedures, developing human resources
and strengthening the cost budget management and
procurement control to refine its internal control
mechanism. In addition, the Group strives to enhance
its management efficiency by using smart approaches.
The Group aims to provide property owners with
comprehensive and convenient services in a timely and
safe manner through integrating internal and external
resources. Leveraging on its management experience,
the Group intends to accelerate the application of smart
technologies and the informatization of its platforms
and ecosystems, creating a digital management system
platform.

The Group will continue the work on its corporate
management and internal control and risk management.
The Group will strengthen the construction of corporate
culture, make employees more belonging and cohesive
and the enterprise more standardized, transparent,
stable, efficient, sound and sustainable development, so
as to enhance the value of the enterprise and protect the
rights and interests of the Shareholders.
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B ¥ B FINANCIAL REVIEW
AEBWRARBZEAEZTZEL :()VWEEE The Group's revenue was generated from three main
BR7S ¢ (i) JEZE EME R Ki)5SHEEMRT °  business lines: (i) property management services; (ii)
MEHAN:(\VMEEERBEEAEBE R AN value-added services to non-property owners; and (i) 55
U AHDF B AR - 5 48 J A53.8% ¢ K& (ii)5S  value-added services. During the Reporting Period, (i) the
BERBEEAEEE KRB AKRE - (42U property management services were the largest source of
A30.5% ° revenue and profit for the Group, accounting for 53.8%
of total revenue; and (ii) 5S value-added services were
the second largest source of revenue for the Group,
accounting for 30.5% of total revenue.

20245 20234 [l bt & &
Year-
on-year
2024 2023 change

AR® 1 4 ARE h
T LN T A% %

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenue VN0 revenue %

MEEERK Property management

services 1,932,289 53.8 1,549,890 55.2 24.7

EEMEEBRRS Property management

services for residential

properties 1,476,899 411 1,131,608 40.3 30.5
FEEEMEETERS  Property management

services for non-

residential properties 449,281 12.5 404,298 14.4 1.1
T ER Land management 6,109 0.2 13,984 0.5 (56.3)
FETRERY Value-added services to
non-property owners 565,418 15.7 580,833 20.7 (2.7)
R A A1 AR % Pre-delivery services 523,793 14.6 546,090 19.4 4.1
HAR% Consulting services 21,799 0.6 21,623 0.8 0.8
[ 2 AR 7% Community space services 19,826 0.5 13,120 0.5 51.1
5S 3% {8 iR % 5S value-added services 1,097,007 30.5 678,483 24.2 61.7
BRRB Youjia services 103,885 2.9 97,692 35 6.3
He B R Including: car parking
BEEHERS spaces and storage
rooms sales services 72,235 2.0 40,582 1.4 78.0
B E R Youju services 939,282 26.1 531,526 18.9 76.7
BELEERE Youxiang living services 53,840 1.5 49,265 1.7 9.3
A&t Total 3,594,714 100 2,809,206 100 28.0
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Property management services consist of
security, cleaning, gardening, repair, maintenance,
land management and ancillary services. Revenue
generated from the services amounted to RMB1,932.3
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 24.7%
as compared with RMB1,549.9 million in 2023. It was
the Group’s main source of revenue and accounted for
approximately 53.8% of total revenue in 2024. The
growth in revenue was mainly due to an increase in the
number of projects as a result of business expansion.
Revenue generated from the provision of property
management services to properties solely developed
by Binjiang Group or its associates or jointly developed
with other parties was RMB947.5 million, and accounted
for 49.0% of revenue from property management
services in 2024. Leveraging on its leading position in
traditional property business, the Group aggressively
expanded business to cover properties developed by
the independent third parties and properties outside
Hangzhou. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the revenue from property management services for
properties developed by the independent property
developers amounted to RMB978.7 million, representing
an increase of 26.1% as compared with 2023; and
the revenue from property management services for
properties outside Hangzhou amounted to RMB570.4
million, representing an increase of 27.3% as compared
with 2023. In relation to the reserve land management
service of the Group, for the year ended 31 December
2024, the revenue from land management services
amounted to RMB6.1 million.

Value-added services to non-property owners
mainly include pre-delivery services, consulting services
and community space services. Revenue generated from
the services amounted to RMB565.4 million, representing
a decrease of 2.7% as compared with RMB580.8 million
in 2023, and accounted for approximately 15.7% of the
Group’s total revenue in 2024. The decrease in revenue
was primarily due to a decline in the business volume of
value-added services to non-property owners.
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TERANEERBABRFERRER -
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55 Value-added services are mainly composed of
Youjia services,
services. Revenue generated from the services amounted
to RMB1,097.0 million, representing an increase of
61.7% as compared with RMB678.5 million in 2023, and
accounted for approximately 30.5% of the Group’s total
revenue in 2024. The increase in revenue was mainly
due to the continued rapid growth in the scale of Youju
services.

Youju services and Youxiang living

Among Youju services,
provision of home decoration services in relation to
certain commercial apartments sold by Binjiang Group
and an associate of Binjiang Group was RMB922.8
million, representing an increase of 83.5% as compared
with RMB503.0 million in 2023, and accounted for
approximately 25.7% of the Group’s total revenue in
2024. The Group entered into home decoration service
agreements with the individual property purchasers and
entered into a decoration project contracting agreement

revenue generated from

with a third party to provide home decoration services in
relation to those commercial apartments.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Based on the above factors, the Group’s gross profit for
the year increased by 20.0% from RMB695.9 million in
2023 to RMB835.4 million in 2024. The Group’s gross
profit margin decreased by 1.6 percentage points from
24.8% in 2023 to 23.2% in 2024.

20245 20234
2024 2023
E 7 ERE E 7 E F =&
Gross
Gross profit Gross profit
profit METL [\ Gross profit margin
AR T % N %
RMB’'000 % RMB’000 %
MEEERY Property management

services 355,081 18.4 284,080 18.3

JE¥ FERRTY Value-added services to
non-property owners 218,174 38.6 192,554 33.2
5S 1% {F ARk 15 5S value-added services 262,113 23.9 219,253 32.3
S Total 835,368 23.2 695,887 24.8
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Gross profit of property management services increased
by 25.0% from RMB284.1 million in 2023 to RMB355.1
million in 2024, and gross profit margin was 18.4% in
2024, which was basically the same as that in 2023,
mainly due to the Group continues to improve the
management and control level of projects.

Gross profit of value-added services to non-property
owners increased by 13.3% from RMB192.6 million in
2023 to RMB218.2 million in 2024, and gross profit
margin was 38.6% in 2024, representing an increase
of 5.4 percentage points from 2023, mainly due to the
Group strengthened the management and control for
cost on value-added services to non-property owners,
resulting in a slight increase in gross profit and gross
profit margin.

Gross profit of 5S value-added services increased by
19.5% from RMB219.3 million in 2023 to RMB262.1
million in 2024, and gross profit margin decreased from
32.3% in 2023 to 23.9% in 2024. The increase in gross
profit was mainly attributable to the continuous growth
of Youju services business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s cost of sales
increased by 30.6% from RMB2,113.3 million in 2023 to
RMB2,759.3 million in 2024, mainly due to the year-on-
year increase in cost of sales as a result of the growth in
business scale.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s selling and
marketing expenses increased from RMB18.0 million
in 2023 to RMB24.0 million in 2024, mainly due to the
increase in commissions corresponding to the sales of car
parking spaces and storerooms, as well as the increase
in business expansion expenses of the Group and the
number of staff.



BB

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s administrative
expenses increased by 31.6% from RMB76.4 million in
2023 to RMB100.5 million in 2024, and the management
expense ratio of the Group increased from 2.7% in 2023
to 2.8% in 2024, remaining relatively stable, mainly due
to the Group’s commitment to balancing scale growth
and expense control,
expense ratio at a lower level.

which keeps the management

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s impairment
losses on trade receivables and contract assets decreased
from RMB24.3 million in 2023 to RMB10.8 million in
2024, mainly due to the Group was committed to the
collection of accounts receivable during the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, the finance income of the
Group represented interest income on bank deposits.
Finance income increased from RMB67.4 million in
2023 to RMB80.3 million in 2024, mainly due to the
increase in interest income arising from the higher-yield
deposit products as a result of the Group’s centralized
management of its own funds.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s share of profits
less losses of two associates and two joint ventures
decreased from a profit of RMB8.5 million in 2023 to a
profit of RMB1.2 million in 2024, mainly due to the losses
in certain joint ventures.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's profit before
taxation was RMB786.4 million, representing an increase
of 20.5% as compared with RMB652.5 million in 2023,
mainly due to the increase in the operation gross profit
during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, income tax expenses of
the Group increased by 55.8% from RMB149.5 million
in 2023 to RMB232.9 million in 2024, mainly due to the
growth of the Company’s business scale and withholding
tax. The withholding tax in 2024 increased by RMB50.5
million as compared with 2023, mainly due to the
increased dividends received from PRC subsidiaries in
2024 by the Company’'s Hong Kong subsidiary after the
Director’s consideration of the Company’s future dividend
plan and overall economic benefit to the Group.

In 2023, the Company's Hong Kong subsidiary received
the certificate of Hong Kong resident status. Pursuant
to the Arrangement between the Mainland China and
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the
Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of
Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income (“Tax
Treaties”) and the Announcement of the State Taxation
Administration in relation to “Beneficial Owner” in Tax
Treaties (“Announcement No. 9”), the Hong Kong
subsidiary meets the requirement for enjoying the
preferential rate and is subject to withholding tax at a
rate of 5% for dividends received from PRC subsidiaries
since 2023.

The Group’s profit for the year was RMB553.5 million,
representing an increase of 10.0% as compared with
RMB503.0 million in 2023, mainly due to the growth in
the operation gross profit. Profit for the year attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company was RMB546.5
million, representing an increase of 11.0% as compared
with RMB492.5 million in 2023. Net profit margin was
15.4%, representing a decrease of 2.5 percentage points
as compared with 17.9% for the corresponding period of
last year.

The Group maintained a well financial performance in
2024. As at 31 December 2024, current assets were
RMB3,082.0 million, representing an increase of 18.3%
as compared with RMB2,605.2 million as at 31 December
2023.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and cash
equivalents were RMB890.7 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 38.8% as compared with
RMB1,455.4 million as at 31 December 2023. This was
mainly due to the payment of dividend and the increase
of bank deposits with maturity over three months for
higher interest income. The Group's cash and equivalents
of approximately RMB880.4 million were held in RMB,
approximately RMB10.1 million in HKD and approximately
RMBO.2 million in USD. As at 31 December 2024, current
ratio was 1.2, representing an increase as compared with
1.0 as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
loans or borrowings (31 December 2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the total equity of the Group
was RMB1,591.9 million, representing an increase of
3.3% as compared with RMB1,541.6 million as at 31
December 2023. This was mainly due to the growth of
business scale.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies to ensure the liquidity
requirements from daily operation as well as capital
expenditures were met. The Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity positions, while surplus cash
are invested appropriately with the consideration of
the credit risks, liquidity risks and market risks of the
financial instruments, for example, the Group placed a
certain amount of cash as bank deposits with maturity
over three months for higher interest income to secure
liquidity mentioned above.

As at 31 December 2024, the property, plant and
equipment of the Group amounted to RMB43.4 million,
remain unchanged from RMB43.4 million as at 31
December 2023, mainly due to the Group actively
controls various assets to maintain a stable level.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’'s inventories
amounted to RMB290.1 million, representing an increase
of 18.5% from RMB244.8 million as at 31 December
2023, mainly due to the acquisition of car parking spaces
to increase inventories during the Reporting Period.

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the contract liabilities of the
Group remained largely unchanged compared with the
same period last year, mainly due to the Group’s business
management and control were relatively stable, and the
level of prepayment from basic property management
and Youju services remained consistent.

The Group did not have any pledged assets as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other receivables
amounted to RMB590.2 million, representing an increase
of RMB44.9 million and 8.2% as compared with
RMB545.3 million in 2023, mainly due to the expansion
of the Group’s business scale has led to an increase in
accounts receivable.

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other payables
amounted to RMB1,009.0 million, representing an
increase of RMB161.8 million and 19.1% as compared
with RMB847.2 million in 2023, mainly due to the
expansion of the Group’s business scale.

As at 31 December 2024, financial assets at FVPL
represented treasury products (wealth management
products of banks) issued by various financial institutions
and purchased by the Group during the Reporting Period.
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As at 31 December 2024, the wealth management
product(s) newly purchased by the Group during the
Reporting Period from the same financial institution
accounted for less than 5% of the Group's total assets.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of
14,022 employees (as at 31 December 2023: 11,647
employees). The staff cost of the Group during the
Reporting Period was RMB1,199.4 million (2023:
RMB1,013.7 million).

The Company did not have any significant investments
(including significant investments which accounted for
5% or more of the total assets of the Group) during the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the respective functional currencies of the
Group entities.

The Company, the British Virgin Islands subsidiary and the
Hong Kong subsidiary’s functional currency is HKD. Their
businesses are principally conducted in HKD. In addition,
as the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group considers
the risk of movements in exchange rates between the
HKD and the USD to be insignificant.

The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries in
the PRC is RMB and their businesses are principally
conducted in RMB. Therefore, the Group considers the
currency risk to be insignificant.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

All of the Group’s operations are concentrated in the
Yangtze River Delta, particularly in Hangzhou. During
the Reporting Period, the total GFA under management
located in the Yangtze River Delta accounted for almost
all of our total GFA under management, and property
management services revenue generated from our
managed properties in the Yangtze River Delta amounted
to almost all of our total property management services
revenue. Though the Group will further expand to other
key economics regions and cities in China, the Company
expect that the Yangtze River Delta will still continue
to account for a significant portion of our operations in
the near future. If the Yangtze River Delta experiences
any adverse economic conditions, such as an economic
downturn, natural disaster, contagious disease outbreak,
terrorist attack, or if the local governmental authorities
adopt regulations that place additional restrictions on
the property management service industry, the Group's
business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected. Given the
above, the Group actively seeks business opportunities
outside the Yangtze River Delta to expand our
geographical coverage.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group procured
almost all of our new property management service
contracts through tender processes. Property developers
and the property owners’ general meetings choose
property management companies based on a number
of factors, including but not limited to the quality of
services provided, pricing and the operating history
of the property management company. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to procure new
property management service contracts in the future.
Furthermore, some Group's property management service
contracts during the Reporting Period were related to
the management of properties developed by Binjiang
Group. Any adverse development in the operations of
Binjiang Group or its ability to develop new properties
may negatively impact the Group’s ability to procure
new property management service contracts. The Group
cannot assure that Binjiang Group will engage the Group
as their property management service provider for any
property they developed. If the Group is not able to
increase the number of managed properties developed by
independent third party property developers, the Group's
results of operations and growth prospects may be
materially and adversely affected. Given the above, the
Group will enhance its quality service capabilities, and
actively seek business opportunities from independent
third parties to expand our business access channel.
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Severe natural disasters, sudden public health events,
trade environment, policy changes may cause damage
to the Group's property and personnel and may affect
the Group’s normal operations and future investment
and development plans. Based on the Group’s own
business types and its operations, the Group conducts
risk identification and analysis from the perspectives
of national policies, industry trends and stakeholders’
concerns, and studies relevant response strategies to
reduce the adverse impact of the above risks on the
Group's business and finance.

As at the date of this annual report, based on the
business operation and capital investment of the Group,
the Board believes that the Group maintains stable
liquidity position and sufficient working capital and that
the liquidity position and working capital of the Group
are sufficient to meet the expected capital investment
plan.

Pursuant to the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
Cayman Islands currently levy no taxes on individuals
or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or
appreciations arising from holding of the Company’s
shares (the “Share(s)”) and there is no taxation in the
nature of inheritance tax and estate duty.

There has been no change in capital structure of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and
other reserves.

There were no future plans for material investments or
capital assets.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Reporting Period (including the sale
of treasury shares).
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of
14,022 employees (as at 31 December 2023: 11,647
employees). The staff cost of the Group during the
Reporting Period was RMB1,199.4 million (2023:
RMB1,013.7 million).

The Group’s remuneration packages for employees
are determined based on their duties, qualifications,
individual performance and current market standards.
The discretionary bonus paid to employees, based on the
performance of individual employees, recognized and
rewarded their contribution. The Group has implemented
and will continue to implement various employee
recognition initiatives and rewards. The Group also
makes social security contributions (including pension
plans, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance,
unemployment insurance and maternity insurance) and
housing provident fund contributions for our employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group also provided
its staff with systematic and extensive training plans
and promotion and rotation programs. Details are
set out in the section headed “5.4 Employee Training
and Development” in the Environmental, Social And
Governance Report. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not adopt any share option scheme.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Zhongxiang (R £%), aged 54, joined the
Group since October 2023 as an executive Director,
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer.
With his extensive experience, he is primarily responsible
for the overall management and business operation
of the Group, including coordinating Board affairs,
formulating strategies and operational plans and
making major business decisions. He has approximately
30 years of experience in the real estate industry and
has extensive experience in property development and
property sale management. Prior to joining the Group, he
was the executive president of Hangzhou Binjiang Real
Estate Group Co., Ltd. (a company principally engaged
in real estate development and listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 002244) (“Binjiang Real
Estate”) from February 2020 to October 2023; the
executive vice general manager of Binjiang Real Estate
from August 2011 to January 2020; the vice general
manager of Binjiang Real Estate from 2005 to July 2017,
and a project manager of Binjiang Real Estate from
2003 to 2005. From 1993 to 2003, Mr. Yu worked as an
employee in Hangzhou Cosmos Real Estate Group Co.,
Ltd* (MMEFFEHESBEFR Q).

He received a master’s degree in civil engineering and a
bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the Zhejiang
University in May 2000 and June 1993, respectively.
He is currently a senior civil engineer and a member
of the Professional Committee for Green Rock-Soil and
Anchoring Engineering of Zhejiang Rock-Soil Mechanics
and Engineering Society.

Mr. QI Jiagi (B #n &), aged 36, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 1 June 2022 and was
re-designated from a non-executive Director to an
executive Director on 1 September 2024.
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He has been serving as a Director of Robust Class
Limited and Binjiang Service Group (Hong Kong) Co.,
Limited, both the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, since 20 December 2021. From November
2021 to August 2024, he was a fund manager of China
Life Franklin Asset Management Co., Limited. From May
2019 to November 2021, he was a macro strategist of
China Life Franklin Asset Management Co., Limited. From
August 2015 to July 2018, he was a lecturer of North
Carolina State University, the United States of America.

Mr. QI obtained a doctoral degree from North Carolina
State University, the United States of America in July
2018, a master’'s degree from North Carolina State
University, the United States of America in December
2012 and a bachelor’s degree from Zhejiang University of
Finance & Economics in July 2010.

Ms. ZHONG Ruogqin (# & ), aged 39, has been an
executive Director and the secretary to the Board since
September 2018. She is also a joint company secretary
of the Company. She has joined the Group since April
2013 and is primarily responsible for formulating and
supervising operational strategies and plans, deciding
and executing the Board resolution, and undertaking
business objectives of the Board. She has extensive work
experience in the real estate industry. Since July 2018,
she has been appointed as the head of the securities
department at Hangzhou Binjiang Property Management
Co., Ltd. ("Binjiang Property”), where she is primarily
responsible for listing related matters and forming and
organizing the securities department.

From April 2013 to June 2018, she served in the
securities department of Binjiang Real Estate, where
she was responsible for the conduct of board meetings,
information disclosure, and management of investment
and refinancing. From August 2008 to February 2011,
she was an agency supervisor of CITIC-Prudential Finance
Company Ltd., a company engaged in insurance and
wealth management business, where she was responsible
for personal selling, team management and performance
appraisal.
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She received her master’'s degree in business
administration from the City University of Hong Kong,
Hong Kong, in October 2012 and the bachelor’s degree
in business from the Dundalk Institute of Technology,
Ireland, in June 2008.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. MO Jianhua (E#Z %), aged 54, has been the
non-executive Director since December 2017. He
is primarily responsible for providing guidance and
supervision to our Group’s business operations. He has
nearly 26 years of experience in the real estate industry.
Since January 2017, he has also been serving as the
general manager of Hangzhou Pute Equity Investment
Management Limited (“Pute Equity"”), a company which
is principally engaged in equity investment, where he is
responsible for the overall management of business. Since
November 2006, he has been a director at Binjiang Real
Estate, where he is responsible for providing guidance
and supervision to our Group's business operations.

From July 2011 to November 2017, he was the general
manager of Hangzhou Binjiang Venture Capital
Investment Limited* (“Binjiang Venture Capital”), a
company which is primarily engaged in venture capital,
and he was responsible for overall operation of business.
From December 1999 to July 2011, he was the managing
deputy general manager of Binjiang Real Estate, where
he was responsible for the management of construction
costs. From October 1996 to December 1999, he served
as a deputy general manager at Binjiang Real Estate
Construction Co., Ltd., a company engaged in real estate
construction. He was responsible for the management of
construction costs.

He obtained an executive master's degree in business
administration (EMBA) from Zhejiang University, the PRC,
in June 2013.
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Mr. CAI Xin (£38), aged 49, has been the non-executive
Director since September 2018. He is primarily responsible
for providing guidance and supervision to our Group's
business operations. Since November 2017, he has been
the general manager at Binjiang Venture Capital, where
he is in charge of overall operation of business, marketing
expansion and investment projects implementation.

From July 2011 to November 2017, he served as the
deputy general manager of Pute Equity, where he was
responsible for corporate fund raising and investment
projects implementation. From September 2002 to
July 2011, he served as the manager of the finance
department at Binjiang Real Estate, where he was
primarily responsible for the general management of the
finance department, preparation of financial reports,
formulating budget plans and tax reports.

He obtained an executive master’s degree in business
administration from Zhejiang University in December
2015 and a bachelor’s degree in economics from Zhejiang
University of Finance & Economics, the PRC, in July 1997.
He obtained the certificate of senior accountant granted
by Zhejiang Senior Accountant Certificate Evaluation
Committee in June 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. DING Jiangang (T #Hl), aged 61, joined the
Group in February 2019 as an independent non-executive
Director. Since May 2014, he has been the dean of
Zhejiang Daily Media Real Estate Institute, which is
engaged in provision of market analysis of real estate
industry, and is responsible for research on real estate
policy and real estate market. He has also been serving
at Zhejiang Real Estate Institute as a council member
and is responsible for research in relation to policies and
market trends in the real estate industry since October
2017.
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He has over 30 years of experience in the media
industry. He has been an employee of Decision Research
Consultancy Limited since June 2014. He worked for
Hangzhou Joint Founder Information Technology Co.,
Ltd., which is engaged in the provision of market analysis
of the real estate industry, and was responsible for
research on real estate policy and real estate market from
March 2013 to May 2014. He worked for the economic
department of, and as the deputy editor of the website
Live in Hangzhou of Zhejiang Online News Website Co.,
Ltd., which is engaged in online news publication and
he was responsible for researching financial properties
and providing commentaries thereon from September
2008 to February 2013. He worked for Zhejiang Media
Group, which is engaged in the publication and sales
of newspapers, magazines and videos, and he was
responsible for the production of property programs from
April 1989 to September 2008. He worked for teaching
and research group of building structure of Zhejiang
Construction Industrial College and was responsible for
teaching building structure courses and management of
the teaching and research group from November 1985 to
April 1989. He was also a teaching staff in Changchun
Advanced Architecture Institute from July 1983 to
October 1985.
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Mr. Ding served as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the remuneration committee,
a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of Dexin China Holdings Company
Limited, a property development company which was
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 02019) and ordered
to be wound up by the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region on 11 June 2024, from
January 2019 to 1 July 2024. He is responsible for
providing independent judgment and advice in relation
to operations and management in this company. In
addition, he served as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the remuneration committee,
a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of Shinsun Holdings (Group) Co.,
Ltd., a property development company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 02599) from October 2020
to November 2023.

He obtained his bachelor’'s degree in civil engineering
from Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology
(formerly known as Xi'an Metallurgy Architecture
College), the PRC, in July 1983.

Mr. LI Kunjun (Z3# ), aged 46, joined the Group in
February 2019 as an independent non-executive Director.
Since October 2017, he has been serving as the chief
executive officer of Hangzhou Xiaodi Technology Co.,
Ltd., a company engaged in the real estate technology
development, which attracted investments from
Hangzhou Tengguo Internet Technology Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Daily, and created one of the most influential
WeChat official accounts with regard to property
market in Hangzhou. He is responsible for the overall
management and business operation.

He has extensive work experience in the media industry.
From September 2000 to December 2016, he held
various positions at Hangzhou Daily, including reporter,
and director of property office. During his tenure,
he published a book, Hangzhou Qualified Houses —
Guidance for purchasing houses from QIU Weiwei and LI
Kunjun.

He graduated from Zhejiang University, the PRC, with his
bachelor’s degree in Chinese in June 2000.
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Ms. CAIl Haijing (%558 &), aged 42, joined the Group
in February 2019 as an independent non-executive
Director. Since December 2007, she was a lecturer of
accounting at Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics
and subsequently appointed as an associate professor
and a professor in December 2014 and November 2019,
respectively. In October 2017, she was regarded as the
leading expert of the Zhejiang High-education Youngster
and the nurturing target of the Zhejiang 151 Talent
Project in December 2015. In December 2021, she was
selected as “Leading Talents in Universities of Zhejiang
Province” and “Zhijiang Young Social Science Scholar of
Zhejiang Province”.

She has been serving as an independent director of
Zhejiang Xinguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ( #7 T ¥7
¥ B % B% 1 B BR A 7)) (a pharmaceutical company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300516) since August 2024. She has been serving as an
independent non-executive director and a member of
the audit committee of Zhejiang Hals Vacuum Ware Co.,
LTD. W I BETE ZE R MR H B R 2 8)), a commodity
manufacturing company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002615), since May 2021 and
Zhejiang Mtcn Technology Co., Ltd. (7 /T 9 & & £ &
AR RA]), a semiconductor company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 003026) since
January 2024. As an independent non-executive director
and a member of the audit committee, she is responsible
for providing independent judgment and advice in
relation to general management and audit committee to
those listed companies. She served as an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of UE Furniture Co., Ltd. CKBFR AN A
[R 2 7A]), a furniture manufacturing company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603600) since
July 2016 to February 2021, Hangzhou Jizhi Mechatronic
Co., Ltd. (MMEEHERMHAERAF), a machinery
manufacturing company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300553) from July 2015 to June
2021, Wangneng Environment Co., Ltd. (FE&EIR IR AR 1D
BB A7), an environment protection company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002034) from
December 2017 to December 2023, Zhejiang Kang Long
Da Special Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (#1 /T R =
FREhERRERKRHOABR AR, a textile manufacturing
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603665) from October 2017 to September 2023.
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She obtained a doctoral degree in accounting from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, the PRC,
in June 2013, a master’'s degree from Brock University,
Canada, in October 2007 and a bachelor’s degree
from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics, the
PRC, in June 2006. She was admitted as a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in June 2011 and the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants in September 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SHEN Guorong (Jt Bl ), aged 43, has been
appointed as an executive president of the Group in
September 2020, and he is primarily responsible for the
general management of regional projects. He has more
than 19 years of experience in the property management
service industry. He has joined the Group since October
2004 as a project manager and was responsible for the
overall management of projects till February 2005. He
subsequently served as an assistant to general manager
of Binjiang Property, and was responsible for the general
management and supervision from February 2005 to
December 2009. He was appointed as a deputy general
manager of the Group in December 2009.

Prior to joining the Group, he was a project manager
at Jiaye Sunshine Property Management Co., Ltd., a
company engaged in the property management service
industry, from January 2002 to September 2004. He was
responsible for the overall project management. In June
2017, he was appointed as the chairman of Jianggan
District Property Management Institute. He was also
recognized as the Hangzhou Property Management
Bidding Expertise and the fellow of Hangzhou Property
Management Excellent Projects Evaluation Expert Base
in July 2014. In October 2022, he was appointed as the
president of the Property Management Association of
Shangcheng District.

He graduated from Jiaxing University, the PRC, with an
associate degree in construction project management in
January 2011. In November 2013, he was recognized as a
registered Property Manager by the Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic
of China.
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Mr. WANG Guoyi ( £ # ), aged 62, has been
appointed as a vice president of the Group since
September 2020. He is primarily responsible for business
development, engineering management, pre-delivery
examination management and after-sale services. He has
over 20 years of experience in the property management
service industry. From March 2005 to December 2009,
he served as an engineering director in Binjiang Property
and was responsible for the engineering management.
He was appointed as a deputy general manager of the
Group in December 2009.

Prior to joining the Group, he previously worked as an
engineer at Zhejiang Nandu Property Management Co.,
Ltd., a company engaged in property management,
from January 2000 to February 2005, where he
was responsible for engineering management and
consultancy. From November 1996 to June 1998, he
worked as a technician at the production department
of Pt. San Weei Indonesia Rattan Industry, a company
engaged in rattan manufacturing, exporting and
importing, where he was responsible for mechanical
maintenance. From December 1991 to November 1996,
he worked as an electrician at Hangzhou Chemistry
Building, a company engaged in the chemical industry,
where he was responsible for electrical installation and
maintenance, as well as the operation of the telephone
switchboard. From December 1984 to December 1991,
he served as an electrician at Hangzhou Standard
Head Factory, a company engaged in manufacturing
mechanical components, where he was responsible for
electrical maintenance at the mold workshop. From
December 1981 to December 1984, he served as an
electrician at Hangzhou Broadcast Equipment Factory
(previously known as Hangzhou Qianjiang Maobi Factory,
a company engaged in manufacturing broadcasting
equipment, where he was responsible for electrical
maintenance.

He obtained a high school diploma from the Fifth High
School, Hangzhou, the PRC, in June 1980.
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Mr. CHENG Yanfei (2 # 7 ), aged 44, has been
appointed as a vice president of the Group since
September 2020 and is primarily responsible for the
general management of regional projects. He has more
than 20 years of experience in the property management
service industry. He has joined the Group since October
2005 as a project manager and was responsible for the
overall management of projects till January 2017. He was
subsequently served as a deputy regional manager of
Binjiang Property, and was responsible for the general
management and supervision from February 2017 to
September 2020.

Prior to joining the Group, he was a general manager at
Hangzhou Baiquan Property Management Co., Ltd. from
April 2005 to October 2005, a manager at Hangzhou
Dajia Property Operation and Management Co., Ltd. from
December 2003 to April 2005, a manager at Beijing CR
Land Property Management Co., Ltd. from April 2003 to
November 2003.

He graduated from Northern Jiaotong University with
an associate degree in property management in January
2003. In January 2008, he obtained the certificate of
property management project director in Hangzhou.
In November 2013, he was recognized as a registered
property manager by the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic
of China. Since August 2020, he has been appointed
by Hangzhou Property Management Association as a
member of Hangzhou Property Management Excellent
Project evaluation expert database. Since June 2024,
he has been appointed by Hangzhou Housing Security
and Real Estate Administration Bureau as a member
of the bidding expert database of Hangzhou property
management.
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Mr. LIN Meng (# &), aged 58, has been appointed as
a vice president of the Group since September 2020. He
is primarily responsible for business development, pre-
delivery consulting and brand operation. He has almost
20 years of experience in the property management
service industry. Since 2009, he has served as a project
manager in Binjiang Property and has been responsible
for the overall management of projects. He was
appointed as a manager of the Group in September
2015 and was responsible for business development,
pre-delivery consulting and brand operation. Since
December 2018, he has served as a director of the Group
and has been responsible for business development,
pre-delivery consulting and brand operation.

He graduated from Zhejiang University with an associate
degree in administration in July 2006. In May 2006, he
obtained the certificate of property enterprise manager
issued by the Department of Personnel and Education of
the Ministry of Construction. He was appointed as the
fellow of Early-stage Property Bidding Expert Base by
Hangzhou Housing Security and Management Bureau in
June 2020.
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Mr. TANG Xiong (5 #), aged 44, joined the Group in
April 2021 as the financial controller and he is primarily
responsible for the overall financial management of the
Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he was appointed as an
industry financial director of Zhejiang New Century
Property Management Co., Ltd., a company engaged
in property services and management, and he was
responsible for property industry financial management
from April 2015 to April 2021. He was appointed as a
financial director of Huagiao New Century Grand Hotel
Lishui, a company engaged in hotel management, and
he was responsible for the financial restructuring of
the hotel from February 2012 to April 2015. He was
appointed as a financial director of Gaosu New Century
Hotel International Anhui and he was responsible for the
general financial management during the preparation
and opening of the hotel from April 2011 to February
2012. He was appointed as a financial director of New
Century Resort Changzhou and he was responsible
for the general financial management from December
2010 to April 2011. He was appointed as an assistant to
financial director of New Century Resort Jiulong Lake
Ningbo and he was responsible for financial management
during the preparation of the hotel from February 2009
to December 2010. He was appointed as a manager
of investment and audit of New Century Hotel Group
and he was responsible for the financial management
of the group from November 2007 to February 2009.
He was appointed as the chief accountant of Wuhan
Oriental Hotel and he was responsible for accounting
management from September 2002 to November 2007.

He graduated from Renmin University of China (4 &
AR KE) with a bachelor's degree. In May 2004, he
obtained the certificate of intermediate accountant
granted by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s
Republic of China. He was admitted as a certified
management accountant of the Institute of Certified
Management Accountants of the United States of
America in January 2020. In December 2024, he obtained
the certificate of senior accountant jointly granted
by Zhejiang Provincial Department of Finance and
Zhejiang Province Human Resources and Social Security
Department.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024

51



52

EEEWE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ERBEMESHRAR

ARRAE2REE(E2RBEEDRITEHEE
FeAR #E TS R IB B R R455.3B 8B L o N
2024F1A18 - REAMIERIBFEL161.9
BEEBT WMEHA XEBECBHAMERK
TH F R 4161.98 & 78 Jr (B 702024 F 12 A31
HFEMSREBEHERESA) -

EEARRBERHRBEMBREBRAENR
ANHE H2EAARBH 5202345829
HA2023F6828HHI A E o

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL
OFFERING

The gross proceeds from the Company’s Global Offering
(the "Global Offering”) and the exercise of the over-
allotment option amounted to HK$455.3 million. As at
1 January 2024, the unutilised net proceeds amounted
to approximately HK$161.9 million. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had utilized approximately HK$161.9
million of the net proceeds (i.e. all net proceeds had
been utilized as at 31 December 2024).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 29 May 2023 and 28 June 2023 for reasons and
details of the Company’s change in the use of proceeds
from the Global Offering.
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FeRERE Use of proceeds

During the Reporting Period, the net proceeds had been

utilised as follows:

(BE#T) (FE#T)
(HKS million) (HKS million)
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R2024% R2024%

RERREE RENIEN 1A18 REERA 125318

BEBA ABA HAS A 28R ABA

FERE FEREFE  HEREFE  FEREFE  FEREFE
Utilized net

Proposed use New proceeds  Unutilized net

of proceeds  reallocation of  Unutilized net during the  proceeds as at

accordingto  the unutilized  proceeds as at Reporting 31 December

the prospectus  net proceeds 1 January 2024 Period 2024

(BE#T) (FE#ET) (BE#T)
(HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million)

WEARKI=AMAEE  Acuisition of property management
BANRAINEFAT  companies located in major cities in
MNEEBRANE- the Yangtze River Delta to further
SENASERBAD increase the Group's market share in
SRTSHEREAL the existing market, and also in new
SENMEEER cities such as Shenzhen to expand

the Group's geographical coverage 159.4 - - - -
EHAEENERRBZL - Updating the Group's management
NRBERERAT service systems and recruiting and
nurturing talents 113.8 1253 97.2 97.2 —
RENEEERTE JME  Investment in the asset management
EEEIZF platform to engage in the operation
of industrial parks 91.1 - = = =
BEHHARMERZHEA  Establishing joint venture companies or
ERIAERAZTA platforms through the cooperation
with local governments and property
developers' 455 752 314 314 -
HBEEeREM—KEE  Asworking capital and for other general
A corporate purposes 455 50 333 333 —
4553 2505 161.9 1619 —

1. HE2024F128318 ° ERX N IIREERRFA -

1.

As of 31 December 2024, 31 cooperation companies platforms

had been established.
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PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
property management services, value-added services for
non-property owners and 5S value-added services in the
PRC. The analysis of the Group’s principal business for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 226 to
227 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

Having considered the needs of business development
of the Group and returns of the Shareholders, the Board
recommends the payment of a final dividend for 2024
of HK$0.876 per share. The dividend ratio of the year
is approximately 70%. The proposed final dividend
amounted to approximately HK$242.1 million in total,
and shall be subject to approval by the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). The final dividend is expected
to be paid to the Shareholders on Thursday, 7 August
2025. The Company does not currently hold any
treasury shares (including any treasury shares held or
deposited in CCASS) and the treasury shares, if any, will
not be entitled to receive the relevant dividends and
distributions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
On 19 March 2020, the Board had approved and adopted
a revised dividend policy as follows:

In accordance with the dividend policy, the Group
intends to distribute not less than 50% of its net profit
to its Shareholders as dividend distribution for each year.
The Board will consider, among others, the following
factors when proposing to pay any dividend:

e  the business environment and various internal or
external factors which may affect the operation or
financial performance of the Group;

. the actual and estimated future financial
performance of the Group;

J the actual and estimated working capital
requirement, operation strategy and development
plan of the Group;

o legal and regulatory requirement;

. contractual restriction on the distribution of
dividend by the Group or subsidiaries of the Group;

. the taxation implication;
o interests of the Shareholders; and
J other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration of the dividend by the Company shall
be at the full discretion of the Board and be subject
to the Company Law of Cayman Islands and the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”). Even though the Board decides to
propose and declare the distribution of dividend, the
form, frequency and amount of the dividend distribution
shall be subject to the factors disclosed above and other
factors which may affect the Company. For details of
the abovementioned revised dividend policy, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 19 March
2020.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Reporting Period
and the Group's prospects are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 39 of this annual
report. The analysis of the Group during the Reporting
Period using key indicators of financial performance is set
out in the section headed “Financial Review” on pages
27 to 35.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and adopted stringent measures for
environmental protection in order to ensure the
compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Given the nature of operations of the Group, the Group
believes it is not subject to material environmental liability
risk or compliance costs. During the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report, no fines or penalties
for non-compliance with the PRC environmental laws had
been imposed on us.

The environmental, social and governance report of the
Company is set out on pages 119 to 213 of this annual
report.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 36 to
38 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strictly complied with the following laws
and regulations which may have a significant impact on
its operation: (a) the laws and regulations relating to
foreign investment; (b) the laws, regulations and policies
relating to qualification of property management service
company, appointment, fees, outsourcing and real
estate brokerage; (c) the laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property; (d) the laws and regulations relating
to merger and acquisition of domestic enterprises by
foreign investors; (e) the laws and regulations relating
to foreign exchange and taxation; and (f) the laws
and regulations relating to labor and social security.
Meanwhile, a list of applicable laws and regulations was
established within the Company and updated from time
to time for compliance.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company was able to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations within and outside China which have
a significant impact on it, through the full cooperation
between its legal department and the external legal
advisors, and the Company’s continuous and effective
supervision.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years are set out
on pages 5 to 6 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue
from of the Group’s top five customers accounted for
14.8% (2023: 26.0%) of the Group’s total revenues while
the revenue from the Group’s single largest customer
accounted for 9.5% (2023: 12.7%) of the Group's total
revenues.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the costs of
purchase of the Group’s top five suppliers accounted for
12.0% (2023: 22.8%) of the total costs while the costs of
purchase of the Group’s single largest supplier accounted
for 7.0% (2023: 7.8%) of the Group’s total costs.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements, none
of the Directors, any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares)) had any interest in the top
five customers or suppliers of the Group.

As a service-oriented enterprise, the Group has realized
employees’ service level and professional development
are critical to its development. During the Reporting
Period, the Group continued to offer competitive
compensation packages and performance review systems,
enhance employee recognition initiatives and rewards
and provide various training opportunities to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging. During the Reporting
Period, employees were satisfied with the Group and the
Group had not experienced any material labour disputes
or litigations.

The details of employment, salaries and benefits and staff
training of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set out in the paragraphs “Employees and remuneration
policies”
and Analysis” on page 39 of this annual report.

in the section headed “Management Discussion
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s share capital has not changed during the
Reporting Period. Details are set out in Note 26(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 230 to 231 and Note 26(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION
As of 31 December 2024, the reserves available for
distribution of the Company (including share premium
and retained profits of the Company) amounted to
RMB870.8 million.

PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
total amount of dividend proposed or paid by the Group
amounted to RMB382.7 million and RMB344.8 million,
respectively, representing an increase of approximately
11.0%. The increase was mainly due to the Group’s
sound operating conditions represented by the steady
growth of profits and the Group’s focus on the
Shareholders’ return.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
bank loans and other borrowings.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

YU Zhongxiang

Ql Jiaqi (re-designated from a non-executive Director
to an executive Director since 1 September 2024)

ZHONG Ruogin

MO Jianhua
CAI Xin

DING Jiangang
LI Kunjun
CAl Haijing

Mr. QI Jiagi, Ms. ZHONG Ruogin and Ms. CAIl Haijing
shall retire by rotation, and offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM in accordance with Articles 84(1)
and 84(2) of the Articles of Association.

A circular setting out, among other things, details of the
Directors subject to rotation and re-election at the AGM
will be dispatched to the Shareholders in due course.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 40 to
51 of this annual report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM
THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) and the Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are in
compliance with the independent guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

None of the Directors has a service contract which
is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

For the details of the service contracts and the
appointment letters of the Directors, please see the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report, no Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The primary duties of the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
are to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy and to ensure that no Director or any of his/
her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

In determining the remuneration of Directors and senior
management, the Board will consider the remuneration
level of comparable companies, the time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group, individual performance of
respective Directors and the Company’s performance.
No Director shall be involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and the five
highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 7 and Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits
scheme of the Company are set out in Note 5(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme administered
and operated by the local municipal governments. The
Group's PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentages of the employee salary
as agreed by the local municipal government to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the defined contribution scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contributions will be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions.
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CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RELATION
TO THE DIRECTORS

There was no change to any information required to
be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules during the period from the date of the
interim report 2024 to the date of this annual report that
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31
positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO") which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be maintained
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules,
are set out as follows:

December 2024, the interests and short
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Approximate

percentage of

Number of  Long/Short shareholding in

Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares position the Company

RRgEte(EEENW#2) PREGANEXARRZEERS 35,640,000 e 12.89%
Mr. MO Jianhua (“Mr. MO") (Note 2) Settlor of a discretionary trust and interest Long position

in controlled corporation
BN A (W E3) PREFANZEA 126,720,000 e 45.85%

Mr. Ql Jiaqgi (Note 3)
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Beneficiary of a discretionary trust

Long position

Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares were
276,407,000.

(2) As at 31 December 2024, Haoyu Ventures Limited (“Haoyu")
held 12.89% of issued Shares. The entire issued share capital of
Haoyu is held by Infiniti Trust (Asia) Limited (through its nominee
companies) as trustee of Great Splendor Trust. Great Splendor
Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. MO as settlor on 19
November 2018. The beneficiaries of the Great Splendor Trust
include Mr. MO and his certain family members. Therfore, Mr.
MO is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Haoyu
under the SFO.

(3) As at 31 December 2024, Great Dragon Venture Limited (“Great
Dragon”) held 45.85% of issued Shares. The entire issued share
capital of Great Dragon is held by Cantrust (Far East) Limited
(through its nominee company) as trustee of Bright Cloud Trust.
Bright Cloud Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. QI Jinxing
("Mr. QI"”) as settlor on 19 November 2018. The beneficiaries
of the Bright Cloud Trust include Mr. QI, Mr. QI Jiagi and certain
family members of Mr. QI. Therefore, Mr. QI Jiaqgi is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Great Dragon under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions

7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed

interests or short positions in the shares,

to have under such provisions of the SFQO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be maintained
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate,
or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
were required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded
in the register of the Company required to be maintained
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

EARDT R

®E LTV £33 ROBE HR/ %A ZHREI

Approximate

percentage of

Number of  Long/Short shareholding

Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares position in the Company

E#(i#2) ExBRAA 126,720,000 e 45.85%
Great Dragon (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long position

Bright Cloud Holding Limited (#77#2) — X#ExEfR 126,720,000 e 45.85%
Bright Cloud Holding Limited (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation Long position

Cantrust (Far East) Limited (4772 REARZBEERS 126,720,000 e 45.85%
Cantrust (Far East) Limited (Note 2) Trustee and interest in controlled Long position

corporation

BEEMNE2) PREANZXARRZEEES 126,720,000 e 45.85%

Mr. QI (Note 2) Settlor of a discretionary trust and Long position
interest in controlled corporation

MRBRRERERDA(RRIDNAHZ3) ERERA 35,640,000 e 12.89%

Jovial Success Global Holdings Limited ~ Beneficial owner Long position
("Jovial Success”) (Note 3)
Splendid Force Holding Limited (477£3) S AB# % 35,640,000 HE 12.89%

Splendid Force Holding Limited (Note 3)  Interest in controlled corporation Long position
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Approximate

percentage of

Number of  Long/Short shareholding

Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares position in the Company

rE(H#3) ESREA 35,640,000 e 12.89%
Haoyu (Note 3) Beneficial owner Long position

Great Splendor Holding Limited (f7:#3) X £E# = 35,640,000 e 12.89%
Great Splendor Holding Limited (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation Long position

AERARE(TREEDMH 23) PREANZIARKZEEES 35,640,000 e 12.89%
Mr. ZHU Huiming ("Mr. ZHU") (Note 3)  Settlor of a discretionary trust and Long position

interest in controlled corporation
Infiniti Trust (Asia) Limited (47 2#3) XEARXRZEEER 71,280,000 e 25.79%
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Trustee and interest in controlled

Notes:

W)

)

3

Long position

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued Shares were
276,407,000.

As at 31 December 2024, Great Dragon holds 45.85% of issued
Shares. The entire issued share capital of Great Dragon is held
by Cantrust (Far East) Limited (through its nominee company) as
trustee of Bright Cloud Trust. Bright Cloud Trust is a discretionary
trust set up by Mr. QI as settlor on 19 November 2018. The
beneficiaries of the Bright Cloud Trust include Mr. QI, Mr. QI
Jiagi and certain family members of Mr. Ql. Therefore, each of
Cantrust (Far East) Limited, Bright Cloud Trust, Mr. QI and Mr.
Ql Jiagi is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Great
Dragon under the SFO.

As at 31 December 2024, each of Jovial Success and Haoyu hold
12.89% of issued Shares, respectively. The entire issued share
capital of Jovial Success and Haoyu are held by Infiniti Trust
(Asia) Limited (through its nominee companies) as trustee of
each Splendid Force Trust and Great Splendor Trust, respectively.
Therefore, Infiniti Trust (Asia) Limited is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Jovial Success and Haoyu under the SFO.
Splendid Force Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. ZHU as
settlor on 19 November 2018. The beneficiaries of the Splendid
Force Trust include Mr. ZHU and his certain family members.
Therefore, each of Splendid Force Holding Limited, Splendid
Force Trust, and Mr. ZHU is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Jovial Success under the SFO. Great Splendor
Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. MO as settlor on 19
November 2018. The beneficiaries of the Great Splendor Trust
include Mr. MO and his certain family members. Therefore, each
of Great Splendor Holding Limited, Great Splendor Trust and
Mr. MO is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Haoyu
under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the
knowledge of the Directors, none of any other person
(other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to
be recorded in the register referred to in section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no share
option scheme has been adopted, granted, exercised or
cancelled by the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group or in existence during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
that would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company’s controlling shareholders, Mr. QI
Jinxing and Great Dragon Ventures Limited (the
“Controlling Shareholders”) entered into the Deed
of Non-Competition on 21 February 2019 pursuant to
which the Controlling Shareholders have unconditionally
and irrevocably undertaken to and covenanted with the
Group that he or it will not (except through the Group
and any investment or interests held through the Group),
and will procure that his or its close associates (except
members of the Group) will not, directly or indirectly
(including through nominees), either on his own account
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm
or company, among other things, invest in, participate
in, engage in and/or operate or be interested in (in
each case whether as a shareholder, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise) any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
property management services, value-added services to
non-property owner and 5S value-added services in the
PRC (the “Non-Competition Undertaking”).

Please refer to the Prospectus for details of the
Non-Competition Undertaking.

The Company has received annual confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders in respect of their compliance
with the Non-Competition Undertaking for the year
ended 31 December 2024 for disclosure in this annual
report.

Based on the information and confirmations provided
by the Controlling Shareholders, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the implementation
of Non-Competition Undertaking during the Reporting
Period, and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the Non-Competition Undertaking.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interest in any
business which directly or indirectly compete or may
compete with the businesses of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in “Connected Transactions” and
“Continuing Connected Transactions”, no controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

DIVIDEND WAIVED OR AGREED TO BE
WAIVED BY SHAREHOLDERS

As confirmed by the Board, for the year ended 31
December 2024, none of Shareholders has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out
in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of any related party transaction which constitutes
continuing connected transaction not exempted under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are disclosed below,
and other related party transactions did not constitute
connected transactions.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the above related party
transactions.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1
Management Company Limited (“Ningbo Binrun”)
received the Guanpin Mingyu Letter of Award and the
Yuhongfu Letter of Award, which confirmed that Ningbo
Binrun was the winner of the biddings conducted by
Hangzhou Binyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Binyuan Real
Estate”) and Hangzhou Bingian Real Estate Co., Ltd.
("Bingian Real Estate”) respectively for the transfer
of the right to use of certain car parking spaces in the
Guanpin Mingyu Project and the Yuhongfu Project, at a
total consideration of RMB32,596,560.00. Accordingly,
the relevant agreements for the acquisitions were entered
into on 10 February 2024. Accordingly, Ningbo Binrun
has agreed to assume the right to use of 33 car parking
spaces from Binyuan Real Estate at a consideration of
RMB4,107,510.00. Such car parking spaces are located
in the Guanpin Mingyu Project. Ningbo Binrun has
agreed to assume the right to use of 449 car parking
spaces from Bingian Real Estate at a consideration of
RMB28,489,050.00. Such car parking spaces are located
in the Yuhongfu Project.

February, 2024 Ningbo Binrun Property

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 1 February 2024.
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As at the date of this annual report, Ningbo Binrun is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Binjiang Real Estate is controlled by Mr. QI Jinxing,
one of the controlling shareholders. Each of Binyuan
Real Estate and Bingian Real Estate is a subsidiary and
an associate of Binjiang Real Estate, and is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the above acquisition agreements constitute connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on
connected transactions dated 16 August 2023 and 29
November 2023 in relation to the agreement of Ningbo
Binrun to acquire the right to use of parking spaces from
certain subsidiaries of Binjiang Real Estate (the “2023
Acquisitions”). The above acquisition agreements and
the acquisition agreements of 2023 Acquisitions were
entered into with companies controlled by Mr. QI Jinxing
within a 12-month period and have a similar nature upon
their respective executions. Accordingly, the acquisition
agreements shall be aggregated under Rule 14A.81 of
the Listing Rules. As the maximum applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the acquisition agreements
exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated under the acquisition agreements are
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group has entered into continuing connected
transactions subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:
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As the property management services agreement dated
28 November 2023 entered into by the Company (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Binjiang Real
Estate (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the
“2024 Master Property Management Services
Agreement”) expired on 31 December 2024, and
the Group expected to carry on the transactions
contemplated thereunder with Binjiang Real Estate Group
upon its expiry, the Company entered into the 2025
master property management services agreement (the
“2025 Master Property Management Services
Agreement”), on 5 December 2024 (after trading
hours), to renew the transactions contemplated under
the 2024 Master Property Management Services
Agreement and regulate the transactions in relation to
the provision of property management services by the
Group to Binjiang Real Estate Group for their unsold
residential and non-residential property units. The 2025
Master Property Management Services Agreement is
for a term commencing on 1 January 2025 and expiring
on 31 December 2025. For details of the 2025 Master
Property Management Services Agreement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 5 December
2024.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Master Property Management Services Agreement
and the 2025 Master Property Management Services
Agreement in 2025. The Directors estimated that for
each of the year ended 31 December 2024 and the year
ending 31 December 2025, the maximum amount of
the relevant property management service fees payable
by Binjiang Real Estate Group to the Group would
not exceed RMB80.0 million and RMB80.0 million,
respectively. The actual transaction amount for these
continuing connected transactions in 2024 was RMB54.8
million.
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As the master consultancy agreement dated 28
November 2023 entered into by the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Binjiang Real Estate
(for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the “2024
Master Consultancy Agreement”) expired on 31
December 2024, and the Group expected to carry on
the transactions contemplated thereunder with Binjiang
Real Estate upon its expiry, the Company entered into
a 2025 master consultancy agreement (the “2025
Master Consultancy Agreement”), on 5 December
2024 (after trading hours), to renew the transactions
contemplated under the 2024 Master Consultancy
Agreement and regulate the transactions in relation
to the provision of property management consultancy
services by the Group to Binjiang Real Estate Group
for its property projects. The 2025 Master Consultancy
Agreement is for a term commencing on 1 January 2025
and expiring on 31 December 2025. For details of the
2025 Master Consultancy Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 5 December 2024.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Master Consultancy Agreement and the 2025 Master
Consultancy Agreement. The Directors estimated that
for each of the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
year ending 31 December 2025, the maximum amount
of service fees payable by the Binjiang Real Estate Group
to the Group would not exceed RMB20.0 million and
RMB20.0 million,
amount for these continuing connected transactions in
2024 was RMB14.6 million.

respectively. The actual transaction
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As the master pre-delivery management services
agreement dated 8 November 2023 entered into by the
Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
and Binjiang Real Estate (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries) (the “2024 Master Pre-delivery
Management Services Agreement”) expired on
31 December 2024, and the Group expected to carry
on the transactions contemplated thereunder with
Binjiang Real Estate Group upon its expiry, the Company
entered into a 2025 master pre-delivery management
services agreement (the “2025 Master Pre-delivery
Management Services Agreement”), on 5 December
2024 (after trading hours), to renew the transactions
contemplated under the 2024 Master Pre-delivery
Management Services Agreement and regulate the
transactions in relation to the provision of pre-delivery
management services by the Group to Binjiang Real
Estate Group. The 2025 Master Pre-delivery Management
Services Agreement is for a term commencing on the
effective date of the agreement (i.e., 1 January 2025) or
the date the parties receive all necessary consents and
approvals (including the approval of the Independent
Shareholders), whichever is later, and expires on
31 December 2026. For details of the 2025 Master
Pre-delivery Management Services Agreement, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 5
December 2024 and the circular of the Company dated
23 December 2024. The 2025 Master Pre-delivery
Management Services Agreement was approved by the
independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 17 January 2025.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Master Pre-delivery Management Services Agreement
and the 2025 Master Pre-delivery Management Services
Agreement. The Directors estimated that for each of
the year ended 31 December 2024, the years ending 31
December 2025 and 31 December 2026, the maximum
amount of service fees payable by Binjiang Real Estate
Group to the Group would not exceed RMB340.0 million,
RMB290.0 million and RMB290.0 million, respectively.
The actual transaction amount for these continuing
connected transactions in 2024 is RMB258.5 million.

As the sales agency services master agreement dated

28 November 2023 entered into by the Company (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) and Binjiang Real
Estate (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the
“2024 Sales Agency Services Master Agreement”)
expired on 31 December 2024, and the Group expected
to carry on the transactions contemplated thereunder
with Binjiang Real Estate Group upon its expiry, the
Company entered into a 2025 sales agency services
master agreement (the “2025 Sales Agency Services
Master Agreement”), on 5 December 2024 (after
trading hours), to renew the transactions contemplated
under the 2024 Sales Agency Services Master Agreement
and regulate the transactions in relation to the provision
of sales agency services by the Group to Binjiang Real
Estate Group. The 2025 Sales Agency Services Master
Agreement is for a term commencing on 1 January 2025
and expiring on 31 December 2025. For details of the
2025 Sales Agency Services Master Agreement, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 5
December 2024.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Sales Agency Services Master Agreement and the 2025
Sales Agency Services Master Agreement. The Directors
estimated that for each of the year ended 31 December
2024 and the year ending 31 December 2025, the
maximum amount of service fees payable by Binjiang Real
Estate Group to the Group would not exceed RMB36.0
million and RMB36.0 million, respectively. The actual
transaction amount for these continuing connected
transactions in 2024 was RMB11.8 million.

As the master leasing agreement dated 28 November
2023 entered into by the Company (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries) and Binjiang Real Estate (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) (the “2024
Master Leasing Agreement ”) expired on 31
December 2024, and the Group expected to carry on the
transactions contemplated thereunder with Binjiang Real
Estate Group upon its expiry, the Company entered into
a 2025 master leasing agreement (the “2025 Master
Leasing Agreement”), on 5 December 2024 (after
trading hours), to renew the transactions contemplated
under the 2024 Master Leasing Agreement and regulate
the transactions in relation to the leasing of certain
properties by the Group from Binjiang Real Estate
Group. The 2025 Master Leasing Agreement is for a
term commencing on 1 January 2025 and expiring on 31
December 2025. For details of the 2025 Master Leasing
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 5 December 2024.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Master Leasing Agreement and the 2025 Master Leasing
Agreement. The Directors estimated that for each of the
years ended 31 December 2024 and ending 31 December
2025, the maximum amount of rental fees payable by
the Group to Binjiang Real Estate Group would not
exceed RMB4.0 million and RMB4.0 million, respectively.
The actual transaction amount for these continuing
connected transactions in 2024 is RMB2.4 million.

On 16 July 2024 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into a supplementary agreement with Binjiang
Real Estate to revise the existing annual cap for the year
ended 31 December 2024 under the Catering Services
Master Agreement (the “2024 Catering Services
Master Agreement”) entered into on 28 November
2023 between the Company (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries) and Binjiang Real Estate (for itself and
on behalf of its subsidiaries) from RMB4.0 million to
RMB10.0 million. For details of the revision of the annual
cap of the 2024 Catering Services Master Agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
16 July 2024.

As the 2024 Catering Services Master Agreement expired
on 31 December 2024, and the Group expected to
carry on the transactions contemplated thereunder with
Binjiang Real Estate Group upon its expiry, the Company
entered into a 2025 catering services master agreement
(the “2025 Catering Services Master Agreement”),
on 5 December 2024 (after trading hours), to renew
the transactions contemplated under the 2024 Catering
Services Agreement. The 2025 Catering Services Master
Agreement is for a term commencing on 1 January 2025
and expiring on 31 December 2025. For details of the
2025 Catering Services Master Agreement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 5 December
2024.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Catering Services Master Agreement and the 2025
Catering Services Master Agreement. The Directors
estimated that for each of the year ended 31 December
2024 and the year ending 31 December 2025, the
maximum amount of rental fees payable by the Group to
Binjiang Real Estate Group would not exceed RMB10.0
million and RMB10.0 million, respectively. The actual
transaction amount for these continuing connected
transactions in 2024 is RMB2.6 million.

On 16 July 2024 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into a Framework Agreement on Parking Spaces
(the “2024 Framework Agreement on Parking
Spaces”) with Binjiang Real Estate. With the consent of
both parties to the transaction, the Group may conduct
transactions with Binjiang Real Estate Group at any
time to obtain the right to use (including the right of
occupation and transfer) the parking spaces within the
projects developed and owned by Binjiang Real Estate
Group and managed by the Group, for the purpose
of resale. The 2024 Framework Agreement on Parking
Spaces is for a term commencing on 17 July 2024 and
expiring on 31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).
For details of the 2024 Framework Agreement on
Parking Spaces, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 July 2024.



A 7A2024 5F 1= 3 (i 1E 28 173 3% 12024512 A31
HEm  BEASBERREEREEERZE
TIEESBETHBRS  AARER2024
F12AR (RS K HE%E)FT L 2025F F B »
FEEELEHBEE T HE(2025F FEN -
BREREA@HBEINRE])  LEE20245F
BUERBZASIRARS 20255 25
- - REZELEHEE T HBEIBRB2025F
1818 2025512 A318 - B8 » 5] 20254
FEN REEZLAEHEBEETHEOFE -
BLR ARG T R2024F 12 ASHM R E o

ot

EEPREBUNTER)REASEEE
HIT2024 F (R BALME SR 1 3% R 2025 F (F B AL
FEAELEEHEABEIHEE TOISHEAR
AlAR - EBEMET - Bl E£2024%F K20255F12
ANBLEEEAEE AEBENEBEIFRES
EnHcBANSEaE I TEHBEAR
15008 8 T K AR 200088 T - E
BEUEERIHN0AFEERRSSHEA
ARBI67TEBE L °

RAFREH BIFERERBEERZ
CEEEES  MEBRBEEMRAUBRAR
AIMEEALT - Bt BRFE LT BIF14A
B 20205 MEEERE EWE - 2025F E
MEWZE 205G RN BEBRRBE EWHE
2025FHENRERF EWE - 2025FHE X
ek - 2025F B R AR £ 1 5% X2025F = &
U REEAEABEEIHEALIERNRS
BRARGNBEBRERS -

EEEWRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

As the 2024 Framework Agreement on Parking Spaces
expired on 31 December 2024, and the Group expected
to carry on the transactions contemplated thereunder
with Binjiang Real Estate Group upon its expiry, the
Company entered into a 2025 Master Agreement for the
Purchase of Parking Spaces, Storage Rooms and Shops
(the "2025 Master Agreement for the Purchase
of Parking Spaces, Storage Rooms and Shops”),
on 5 December 2024 (after trading hours), to renew the
transactions contemplated under the 2024 Framework
Agreement on Parking Spaces. The 2025 Master
Agreement for the Purchase of Parking Spaces, Storage
Rooms and Shops is for a term commencing on 1 January
2025 and expiring on 31 December 2025. For details of
the 2025 Master Agreement for the Purchase of Parking
Spaces, Storage Rooms and Shops, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 5 December 2024.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that it is in the interests of the
Company to continue the transactions under the 2024
Framework Agreement on Parking Spaces and the 2025
Master Agreement for the Purchase of Parking Spaces,
Storage Rooms and Shops. The Directors estimated
that for each of the years ended 31 December 2024
and ending 31 December 2025, the maximum amount
of rental fees payable by the Group to Binjiang Real
Estate Group would not exceed RMB150.0 million and
RMB200.0 million, respectively. The actual transaction
amount for these continuing connected transactions in
2024 is RMB16.7 million.

As at the date of this annual report, Binjiang Real Estate
is controlled by Mr. Qi Jinxing, one of the controlling
shareholders, and is therefore a connected person of
the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
the transactions covered by the 2025 Master Property
Management Services Agreement, the 2025 Master
Consultancy Agreement, the 2025 Master Pre-delivery
Management Services Agreement, the 2025 Sales
Agency Services Master Agreement, the 2025 Master
Leasing Agreement, the 2025 Catering Services Master
Agreement and the 2025 Master Agreement for the
Purchase of Parking Spaces, Storage Rooms and Shops
are the Company’s continuing connected transactions.
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As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
for the transactions contemplated under the 2025
Master Property Management Services Agreement, the
2025 Master Consultancy Agreement, the 2025 Sales
Agency Services Master Agreement, the 2025 Master
Leasing Agreement, the 2025 Catering Services Master
Agreement and the 2025 Master Agreement for the
Purchase of Parking Spaces, Storage Rooms and Shops
are more than 0.1%, and all the applicable percentage
ratios are less than 5%, the transactions under each
of the agreements are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, but exempt from the circular
and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for
the transactions contemplated under the 2025 Master
Pre-delivery Management Services Agreement is more
than 5% and the total consideration is more than
HK$10.0 million, the transactions contemplated under
the 2025 Master Pre-delivery Management Services
Agreement are subject to announcement, circular and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above non-exempt continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that, during the Reporting Period, these
transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s
business;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better terms
available or obtained by the Group from an
independent third party; and

(©) in accordance with the respective agreements,
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company has engaged its auditor to report on
the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter containing
the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group disclosed above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

1. Nothing had come to its attention that may cause it
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions had not been approved by the Board.

2. For transactions involving the provision of services
by the Group, nothing had come to its attention
that may cause it to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group.

3. Nothing had come to its attention that may
cause it to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions.

4.  With respect to the aggregate amount of each
of the continuing connected transaction, nothing
had come to its attention that may cause it to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions had exceeded the annual caps as set by
the Company.

BLRBEEGRAR FERS 2024

81



82

EEEWE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ARALELREBREXINGFE S BESAE
MEPHABTERRAIEFALBREE
HRRESIMNEZER  FLEARQR T
R2024F 1M A28 R E AR AR A F #ER
202412 A23B M BEEA - A AR ERER
HEHRNETLEMHRAUEUVAEZENEERT -
REPA AEBETHRERERIIRME
BHEEERRIBEREKRELEBRERE
5| o

HBEBX
RBERA ARBEFELOBEEBRREM
BRRARENSETT -

BREEFR
HE2024F12A31BLEFE  ARQRATFE
HRAEME R ARFRR(PE - HESZATA
BAGFEEMEARTEXNERNRBFTEBRE
MHERERFDRHIRE -

B ERTHYRE R X
ARREREEENSRAEREETRE SR
CREHEEZEZRFR REZTRS AR
BZREEFHEENRREZE

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For details of the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions, including specific pricing terms or program
under each agreement and material information about
pricing policies and guidance, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 28 November 2024
and the circular of the Company dated 23 December
2024. The Company confirmed that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period. During the Reporting Period, the Group complied
with the value and the transaction terms pursuant to
these pricing policies and guidance when carrying on
continuing connected transactions.

CHARITY DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other
donations made by the Group amounted to RMB115,000.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
was not involved in any material legal proceeding or
arbitration. To the best knowledge of the Directors, there
is no material legal proceeding or claim which is pending
or threatened against the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
coverage for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of potential legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising from corporate activities.
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The Directors, secretary and other senior officers of the
Company at anytime, whether at present or in the past,
and the liquidator or trustees (if any) acting or who have
acted in relation to any of the affairs of the Company
and each of them, and each of their heirs, executors and
administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts; and
none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts,
neglects or defaults of the other or others of them or
for joining in any receipts for the sake of conformity, or
for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys
or effects belonging to the Company shall or may be
lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency
or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys of
or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or
invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or damage
which may happen in the execution of their respective
offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of
any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said
persons.

Each Shareholder agrees to waive any claim or right of
action he might have, whether individually or by or in the
right of the Company, against any Director on account
of any action taken by such Director, or the failure of
such Director to take any action in the performance of
his duties with or for the Company; provided that such
waiver shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, the
Directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are
disclosed in note 26(c) of the consolidated financial
statement.

Except as disclosed above, there were no events that had
a material impact on the Group that required disclosure
after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) has, together with the Company’s
management, reviewed the annual results and the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group, and discussed matters in relation to audit, risk
management, internal control and financial statements,
including reviewing the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices. Information about the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
86 to 118 in this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required by the Listing Rules and at least 25% of the
Company’s entire issued share capital was held by the
public during the Reporting Period and up to the latest
practicable date (i.e. 17 April 2025).
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AUDITOR

KPMG has been appointed as auditor for the year ended
31 December 2024. KPMG has audited the accompanying
financial statements which were prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards. There
has no change in the auditor of the Company since the
Listing Date.

KPMG is subject to retirement and, being eligible, offers
itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for re-appointment of KPMG as auditor will be
proposed at the AGM.

By Order of the Board
YU Zhongxiang
Chairman and executive Director

Hangzhou, the PRC, 25 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Group strives to become “the brand leader in the
property industry and the standard setter of high-end
quality”, carrying the corporate purpose of
first, service first, quality first”, bearing in mind the
“serving with heart and filling home
with love”, and under the guidance of the quality
policy of “sincerity, innovation, perfection, safety,
health and green”, the Group continues to implement
standardization, actively benchmarking with its excellent

"owner

service concept of

counterparts and improving its own management level,
striving to make the Group’s brand better, stronger and
more reputable. Details of the Group’s mission and vision
and related initiatives are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability of the Company. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has adopted and complied with all
applicable code provisions under Part 2 the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”
or "CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
except for the following deviations:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. However, the
Company does not have a separate chairman and chief
executive officer and the responsibility of both chairman
and chief executive officer vesting in Mr. YU Zhongxiang.
The Board believes that vesting the responsibilities of
both chairman and president in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership within
the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning of the Group. Besides, with
three independent non-executive Directors out of a total
of eight Directors in the Board, there will be sufficient
independent voice within the Board to protect the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole. In addition, all decisions of the Board are adopted
by a majority vote. Therefore, the Board considers that
the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer of the Company at
a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into
account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company complied with the
Corporate Governance Code during the Reporting Period.
The Company will continue to strictly abide by the
corporate governance requirements under the Corporate
Governance Code and the Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of
the Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions
and monitors business and performance. The Board has
delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established four
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), ESG and the
strategy committee of the Company (the “"ESG and
the Strategy Committee”) collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties
in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.

The Company plans to arrange appropriate insurance
coverage in respect of liability arising from legal action
against its Directors, and will conduct an annual review
on such insurance coverage.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors as set out
below:

YU Zhongxiang (Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer)

Ql Jiaqi

ZHONG Ruogin
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MO Jianhua
CAI Xin

DING Jiangang
LI Kunjun
CAI Haijing

The biographies of the Directors are set out in section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the
requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, which relates to the appointment
of independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non —
executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors
as set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report, none of
the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) with any other Directors or any chief
executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and expertise to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, ESG
and Strategy Committee and Remuneration Committee.
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As regards the code provision under the CG Code
requiring directors to disclose the number and nature
of offices held in listed companies or organizations and
other significant commitments as well as their identity
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have
agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in
a timely manner.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
they have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as their responsibilities
under relevant statutes,
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide

laws, rules and regulations.
Directors with updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
management of the Company is also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties.

The Company encourages continuous professional
development training for all the Directors to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The joint company
secretaries of the Company update and provide the
Directors with written training materials in relation to
their roles, functions and duties from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all current
Directors have received relevant training on corporate
governance and regulatory issues, and have provided
their training records. In view of the above, the Company
considers that all Directors have complied with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.
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A summary of the continuous professional developments
in relation to the business of the Group received by the

Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as

follows:

#ZAl X
Way of training

ZINARE
Training topics

HITES

Executive Directors
A

YU Zhongxiang

FNE (R2024F9R1ERERITES)

Ql Jiagi (transferred to the position of
executive Director on 1 September
2024)

BEE
ZHONG Ruogin

FHITES
Non-executive Directors
R

MO Jianhua

¥
CAI Xin

BYXBITES

Independent Non-executive
Directors

T 22 Ml

DING Jiangang

FHE

LI Kunjun

%51
CAIl Haijing

& 2
=

Meeting

/\*
=

Meeting

Yy
Meeting/Training

A*;g
23

Meeting

/\*
==

Meeting

&
=

Meeting
o s

El =
Meeting
=
Meeting

EERTEMERERER
Corporate governance/Industry related
training/Laws and regulations

EERTEMERBSEEER
Corporate governance/Industry related
training/Laws and regulations

EERTERB EEERWH
Corporate governance/Industry related
training/Laws and regulations/Finance

TEERTEMEREEER
Corporate governance/Industry related
training/Laws and regulations

TEERTEMEREEER
Corporate governance/Industry related
training/Laws and regulations

TEE RRIER

Corporate governance/Laws and regulations

ERER/ERER

Corporate governance/Laws and regulations

EERERER B
Corporate governance/Laws and regulations/
Finance
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. However, the Company does not have
a separate chairman and chief executive officer and
the responsibility of both chairman and chief executive
officer vesting in Mr. YU Zhongxiang. The Board believes
that vesting the responsibilities of both chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit
of ensuring the consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning of the Group. Besides, with three independent
non-executive Directors out of a total of eight Directors
in the Board, there will be sufficient independent
voice within the Board to protect the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. In addition,
all decisions of the Board are adopted by a majority vote.
Therefore, the Board considers that the balance of power
and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and this structure will enable the Company to
make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.
The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate
and suitable by taking into account the circumstances of
the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors consider
that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code is appropriate in the circumstances.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, subject to termination in
accordance with the requirements of the service contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into
a service contract with the Company, with a term of
3 years, subject to termination in accordance with the
requirements of the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, with a term of 3 years, subject to termination
in accordance with the requirements of the letter of
appointment.
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None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at each annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with Article 84 of the Articles
of Association. Appointed as an addition to the Board
or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be subject
to re-election by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company respectively
after the appointment. In addition, when an independent
non-executive Director proposed for re-election has
served the Company for more than nine years, his/her
re-election will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved at the annual general meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of
Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the Board'’s structure, size and composition,
and for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of
Directors.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly, at least four times a year. Notices of
no less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to
attend and discuss matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting.
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For other Board meetings and Board Committees
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given by the
Company. The agenda and accompanying Board papers
are included in the notice and dispatched at least three
days before the Board meetings or Board Committee
meetings to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time
to review the papers and be adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or the Board Committee
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman
prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept
by the company secretary with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees
meetings are recorded in sufficient detail on the matters
considered by the Board and the Board Committees and
the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes
of the Board meetings are open for inspection by all
Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, 5 Board
meetings and 2 general meetings were held and the
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and
general meetings is set out in the table below:

HEEBRE dHEEBRE

BERHE BERHE

EEns Name of Directors EEgERAY BREXERE
Number of

Number of Meetings

Meetings Attended/

Attended/ Eligible

Eligible to attend the

to attend the general

Board meetings meeting

REHEE Mr. YU Zhongxiang 5/5 2/2
Bn&E & E Mr. Ql Jiaqi 5/5 1/2
EEEu L Ms. ZHONG Ruogqin 5/5 2/2
Rggrst Mr. MO Jianhua 5/5 1/2
B4 Mr. CAl Xin 5/5 2/2
TRk A4 Mr. DING Jiangang 5/5 2/2
FTHELEA Mr. LI Kunjun 5/5 2/2
sBHFLL Ms. CAI Haijing 5/5 2/2

ETRSXZNEETH

RARABIEHRMIZESTR  EAREAGERE
ERHEAREETESFRINBRTTA (R
HZRFTFE]) - ARFEHRESELTETIZ
EFAFMENRERERNEBESFELAR
B MEREFSCERABRIEIRE E20245F
RANBLEFERN—EEFTERETARES
X 5SFAl o

AREEEARBIARBERNARBEEITRA
BETHERETESFRXS TR - REE2024%F
RZAJNBILEFE ARAFAHEZRETAEAR
AIREREERESRRSTRIMNER -

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions of the Directors
and relevant employees (the “Securities Transactions
Code”). The Company had made a specific enquiry
with all Directors whether they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code and
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code and the Securities Transactions Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in
possession of inside information of the Company, have
also been subject to the Securities Transactions Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance
of the Securities Transactions Code by the Company’s
relevant employees was noted by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters
of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict
of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The Directors could have recourse to seek
independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense. The Directors are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s
senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are
available to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors should
be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on
an annual basis, in particular the portion of the
independent non-executive Directors and the
independence of the independent non-executive
Director who has served for more than nine years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the
Company under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in
relation to his/her independence of the Company.
The Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.
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In view of good corporate governance practices
and to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who
are also directors and/or senior management of the
controlling Shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries
of the controlling shareholders, would abstain from
voting in the relevant Board resolutions in relation
to the transactions with the controlling shareholders
and/or its associates.

The chairman of the Board shall meet with
independent non-executive Directors at least once
annually.

All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s

policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring

independent views and input are available to the Board

on an annual basis, whether in terms of proportion,
recruitment and independence of independent

non-executive directors,

and their contribution and

access to external independent professional advice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for the day-to-day operations of
the corporate governance functions of the Group, which

include:

(a)

(b)

(@

(d)

review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices in complying with legal and regulatory
requirements;

review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and
senior management;

develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees
and the Directors;

develop and review the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, make
recommendations and report on related issues to

the Board;
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(e) review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures in the Corporate Governance
Report; and

(f)  review and monitor the Company's compliance with
its whistleblowing policy.

Major duties of the Board in 2024 were as follows:

J consider and approve related matters of connected
transactions;

J discuss and formulate strategic plans of the
Company;

J discuss and adjust the management structure and
employment policy of the Company;

e review the internal control report of the Company
and reviewed the compliance of corporate
governance of the Company; and

o monitor and review the anti-corruption and internal
reporting practice of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all being
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. CAl
Haijing (chairman), Mr. DING Jiangang and Mr. LI Kunjun.

The roles of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities to review and monitor
the Company’s financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems, and to perform any other
duties as may be delegated by the Board from time to
time. The Audit Committee has the authority to engage
independent legal and other advisors and conduct
investigations as it considers necessary.
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The major duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

to monitor the integrity of the Group’s interim and
annual results and interim and annual financial
statements. To meet with the chief financial officer
and other senior management of the Company
to receive, consider and discuss reports from
management, the internal audit team and the
external auditors in order to review the Company’s
interim and annual results, interim reports and
annual reports, to monitor the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and annual reports
and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to review the
materiality of the financial reporting contained in
the statements and reports (including the business
logic and accounting treatment of new businesses,
the annual aggregation of connected transactions
and regulation) to ensure that the Group’'s
consolidated financial statements are prepared
in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards and in compliance with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules,
and that such internal controls as are considered
necessary for the preparation of the financial
statements are such that they are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

to be primarily responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor and the objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process. To review the
annual letters received from the external auditors
confirming their independence and objectivity, to
meet with the external auditors’ representatives to
consider the scope of their audit and to approve
their fees and the scope and appropriateness of
the non-audit services to be provided, to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors, and to
address any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditors;
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to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and to review the scope,
coverage and effectiveness of the internal audit
function. To discuss the risk management and
internal control system with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to
have an effective system in place. The discussion
should include consideration of the adequacy of
the Company’s resources, staff qualifications and
experience in the accounting and financial reporting
functions, as well as the adequacy of training
courses and related budgets. To review the Group’s
process for assessing its control environment and
managing material risks, including sustainability
risks, to assist the Board in assessing the overall
governance, risk management and internal
control framework and maintaining effective risk
management and internal control systems. To
obtain and consider risk management reports,
management reports, etc. and to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems; and

to establish and review the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices. To receive and
review regular compliance reports on corporate
governance matters and other reports on corporate
governance, including the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and to ensure that any deviation from
the CG Code is properly explained and disclosed in
the annual reports.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. Major works of the Audit Committee in
2024 were as follows:

review the annual results of the Group for the year
2023;

review the interim results of the Group for the year
2024,
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review the auditor’'s report on the Group’s audit
plan and strategy;

hold 3 meetings with the auditors to consider the
auditors’ report on the scope, strategy, procedures
and results of their independent review of the
interim financial report for 2024 and the annual
audit of the consolidated financial statements for
2023;

separately communicate with the auditors, the
chief financial officer and the internal audit team
in the absence of management to review the
independence of the auditors and the objectivity
and effectiveness of the audit process, review the
audit fees and non-audit service fees payable to
the auditors and recommend to the Board the
re-appointment of KPMG as external auditor after
considering its performance and independence;

review and discuss the Group’s connected
transactions;

review the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal controls (including the
Company's internal controls over fraud risks and
the handling and identification of business conflicts
between major Shareholders in relation to listed
companies, etc.) and risk management systems and
procedures. The Board did not deviate from any
recommendation made by the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, retirement or dismissal
of the external auditor; and

review the internal audit function, and confirm it is
adequate and effective.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit

BEeHAMANREH BEXREZEEHEMNH Committee held 4 meetings in total and the attendance
EmskE N T record of the Audit Committee members is set out in the
table below:

HEEZIRE

FEBEEERRE

Number of meetings

Name of Audit attended/eligible

ERZEEERBEHRE Committee Members to attend

2R (FE) Ms. CAIl Haijing (chairman) 4/4

T &M%k A4 Mr. DING Jiangang 4/4

T LA Mr. LI Kunjun 4/4
YMEZE SRR =-RKEAK BIMAzE  The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
VIHEHITEST EMAEE(ERE)REEFEFLZ  members including two independent non-executive
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Directors, namely Mr. DING Jiangang (chairman) and Ms.
CAI Haijing as well as a non-executive Director, Mr. MO
Jianhua.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors;
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1.

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration;

to consult with the Company’s chairman and/or
the president/managing director/chief executive
officer about their remuneration proposals for other
executive Directors;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider all other matters as referred to the
Remuneration Committee by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration

Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Major works of the
Remuneration Committee in 2024 were as follows:

review the remuneration policy and structure of the
Group;

approve the terms of service contracts with the
executive Directors; and

review the remuneration of each Director and

senior management of the Company and make
recommendations on its adjustment to the Board.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings in total and
the attendance record of the Remuneration Committee
members is set out in the table below:

HEEZIRE

FEBEEERRE

Number of meetings

Name of Remuneration attended/eligible

FHWEEERENRA Committee Members to attend
TERE®(EE) Mr. DING Jiangang (chairman) 2/2
2BEZL Ms. CAI Haijing 2/2
EgExt Mr. MO Jianhua 2/2
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The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
members including two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. DING Jiangang and Mr. LI Kunjun
as well as an executive Director and chairman of the
Board, namely Mr. YU Zhongxiang (chairman).

The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

1. to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, diversity, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strateqgy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and

4.  to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive.
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The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”).
Policy, the Nomination Committee carefully considers,
including but not limited to the following criteria for
evaluating, selecting and recommending candidates for
directors to the Board:

Pursuant to the Nomination

1. diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, professional level, skills and
knowledge;

2. sufficient time to perform their duties effectively;
their services to other listed and unlisted companies
shall be limited to a reasonable amount;

3. qualifications, including skills, achievements and
experience gained in the relevant industries involved
in the Company’s business;

4. independence;
5. integrity and reliability;

6. potential contribution that the person may made to
the Board; and

7. commitment to enhancing and maximizing
shareholders’ value.

The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Major works of the
Nomination Committee in 2024 were as follows:

° review the structure, size and composition (including
skills, diversity, knowledge and experience) of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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e assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and

o make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Nomination Committee held 2 meetings in total and

ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁé?%i the attendance record of the Nomination Committee
members is set out in the table below:
HEEBERY
CENREE
== /|
Number of meetings
Name of Nomination attended/eligible
REEZEEHENSR Committee Members to attend
SEERE(EE) Mr. YU Zhongxiang (chairman) 2/2
THEL A Mr. LI Kunjun 2/2
T2l %k A4 Mr. DING Jiangang 2/2
EEENEZTILEE BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
EEeRETHHWS KIESHEFERERIR The Board remains committed to enhancing its operating
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efficiency and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance on a continuing basis and recognizes the
vital importance of the diversity of the Board with
regard to the maintenance of competitive advantage
and sustainable development. Therefore, the Company
has adopted a board diversity policy. In designing the
composition of the Board, the Company has taken into
account the diversity of the Board from various aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical
and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of service and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will consider its own business model and
special needs from time to time as well. The ultimate
decision will be made based on the merits of the selected
candidates and the contributions they can bring to the
Board.
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The Board strives to ensure the appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are
essential for the implementation of its business strategies
of the Board and the effective operation of the Board.
As of the date of this annual report, the eight Directors
include two women. The Company considers that the
Board has achieved gender diversity. The Company will
continue to maintain at least two female Directors on
the Board. Each of the Directors is aged between 36 and
61. Their industry experience covers such a wide range
of fields such as real estate, investment and financing,
accounting and auditing, media and market research.

The Board is of opinion that the composition of
the Board is sufficiently diversified. The Nomination
Committee will review the diversity policy from time to
time to ensure the sustainability and effectiveness of the
policy and will continue to review the diversity of the
composition of the Board.

As of 31 December 2024, the proportion of female
and male employees of the Group (excluding Directors)
were approximately 47.6% and 52.4% respectively. As
such, the Company also considers that it has achieved
gender diversity among its employees. For the Group,
recruitment is considered regardless of gender, as any
position in the Group does not require any ability or skill
that is considered to outperform another gender.

ESG AND STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The ESG and Strategy Committee currently comprises
seven members including two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. DING Jiangang and Mr. LI Kunjun,
two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. MO Jianhua
(chairman) and Mr. CAIl Xin as well as three executive
Directors, namely Mr. YU Zhongxiang, Mr. QI Jiagi and
Ms. ZHONG Ruogin. The Company changed the name
of the Strategy Committee to the ESG and Strategy
Committee on 25 March 2024 and revised its terms of
reference at the same time.
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as follows:

1.  to review and make recommendation to the Board
on business development;

2. to provide advice to the Board on significant
investment, merger, acquisition and disposal;

3. to advise the Board on the objectives, strategies,
priorities, measures, objectives and guidelines of
the Company’s environmental, social and corporate
governance responsibilities (or sustainability);

4. to monitor, review and evaluate the actions taken
by the Company to implement the corporate
environmental, social and corporate governance
responsibilities (or sustainability) priorities,
objectives and guidelines, including coordinating
with the Company’s business units to ensure that
their operations and practices comply with the
relevant priorities and objectives;

5. to review and report to the Board on risks
and opportunities related to the Company’s
sustainability and environmental, social and
corporate governance;

6. to monitor, assess and review environmental, social
and corporate governance (or sustainability) related
issues and trends that may affect the Company’s
business operations and performance;

7. to monitor and review the Company’s
environmental, social and corporate governance
responsibilities, as well as related policies, practices,
frameworks and management guidelines, and make
recommendations for improvement;

8. to review and advise the Board on the Company’s
public communications, disclosures and releases
(including environmental, social and governance
(ESG) reports) regarding the Company'’s
environmental, social and corporate governance (or
sustainability) performance; and
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9. to perform other duties and responsibilities as may
be assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the ESG and Strategy
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Major works of the ESG and
Strategy Committee in 2024 were as follows:

1.  to discuss about the latest strategic planning
progress of the Group up to 2024; and

2. WWmAEBRKREEFIAELEZ o 2. to discuss about the direction and targets of future
development of the Group.
R E E2024F12A318 1 FE 85 © ESG X During the year ended 31 December 2024, the ESG and
REZESHAMAIANGRE ESGRIKMEZE  Strategy Committee held 1 meeting in total and the
EREMNHFEDHEIANTX: attendance record of the ESG and Strategy Committee
members is set out in the table below:
HESRRE
REREE
EE VS
Number of meetings
Name of ESG and Strategy attended/eligible
ESGREXMZEESGREHA Committee Members to attend
SERELAE(ERE) Mr. MO Jianhua (chairman) 11
REFLELE Mr. YU Zhongxiang 1/1
B & A& Mr. Ql Jiaqi 1/1
EEE L Ms. ZHONG Ruogqin 1/1
BEEkE Mr. CAI Xin 1/1
TER LA Mr. DING Jiangang 1/1
THERE Mr. LI Kunjun 1/1
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has made full disclosure of remunerations
of Directors by name, amount and type in Note 7 to the
financial statements. No Director has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments for the year ended 31 December
2024.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The remuneration of senior management of the Company
(whose biographies are set out on pages 47 to 51 of this
annual report) for the year ended 31 December 2024
falls under the following bands:

A
e &R Band of remuneration Number
Z_ A R#1,000,0007T Nil-RMB1,000,000 1
A A R #1,000,0007T Over RMB1,000,000 4
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group,
and presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects.

The management of the Company has provided to the
Board such explanation and information as are necessary
to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment
of the Group’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions, which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditors regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 214 to 225 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

In the course of business operation, the Group is subject
to various risks, including business risks, financial risks,
compliance risks, and operational and other risks.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, and is responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems. The Audit Committee
is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
records, internal control procedures and risk management
systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or fraud. During the Reporting Period, the Company
has established the internal audit function, which is
carried out and reviewed by the Audit Committee, in
order to independently evaluate the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control system
and timely report to the Board.
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The Company has established comprehensive risk
management and internal control processes through
which the Company monitors, evaluates and manages
the risks that the Company is exposed to its business
The risk management procedure of the
Company is based on the well-defined risk identification
standards,
measure of each major classification. The management
of the Company actively monitors the regional economy,
trend of property management services industry,
reliance on continuing connected transactions and
changes in applicable laws and regulations, and assesses
income and expenditure and absorptive capacity of
business expansions. The recommendations submitted
by independent consultant have been accepted by
the Company and implemented in stages, to further
enhance the policies, procedures and practices of
its internal control and risk management. The risk
management procedure of the Company clearly specifies
the management duties, authorization and approval of
each party in respect of the major risk identification
and management, and develops clear written policy for
significant risk management process and circulates it
to all managements and staffs. The Company’s internal
control procedures are designed to provide reasonable
assurance for achieving objectives, including efficient
and stable operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

activities.

risk monitor responsibilities and risk control
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In order to effectively reduce unnecessary financial risks
and operational risks, and thus ensure the realization
of corporate business objectives, the Company has
designated specific departments to perform internal
control and audit functions, establish a sound internal
control system, monitor the implementation of the
system, and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal control and risk management systems
annually. For the significant risks affecting the Group’s
business and operations, the management has ensured
that appropriate measures have been taken to provide
reasonable protection for compliance with laws and
regulations and improve the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations. The Board and management of the
Company also evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness
of the relevant systems annually, and consider and
implement the recommendations proposed by the
specific departments for the improvement of systems.

The Directors and senior management of the Company
regularly receive training relating to continuing disclosure
obligation of listed groups. The Company also engaged
external legal consultant to obtain professional
guidance on disclosure obligations in respect of inside
information. The management of the Company is
responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining
the effectiveness of the internal control system, which
includes monitoring on compliance with disclosure in
respect of inside information. The Board is responsible
for supervising the appropriateness and efficiency of the
internal control measure carried by management.

The Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well
as the "“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
published by the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong in June 2012.
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The Company has established a system, including
management regulations, processes and procedures for
external information dissemination, to comply with the
disclosure obligations in relation to price-sensitive and/
or inside information. The major steps involved are as
follows:

o the Board and the company secretary identify the
existence of inside information in a systematic
and timely manner through regular financial and
operational reports;

J monitoring business and corporate developments
and events through core management to enable
timely identification of information that may
constitute inside information;

o extensive disclosure of information to the public
through channels such as financial reports,
announcements and the Company’s website;

o ensuring inside information is kept strictly
confidential before it is disclosed to the public; and

o authorizing designated personnel (including
Directors and company secretary) to communicate
with Shareholders, investors and analysts, subject to
compliance with the relevant disclosure obligations
and requirements under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has adopted various measures to ensure the effective
implementation of the internal control system, including
through the review of the Group’s internal control system
and provision of guidance in respect of the internal
control policies, responsibilities and duties of the listing
company'’s directors and management under the Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations for the
Directors, senior management and employees. The Board
had reviewed the risk management and internal control
system of the Group for 2 times. The Board and the
management has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered it
sufficient and effective.
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The Company has adopted an inside information policy in
accordance with the SFO and the Listing Rules to ensure
the confidentiality of handling inside information and the
publication of respective disclosure to the public as soon
as practicable. The Company will make corresponding
information disclosure timely with regard to information
that is unlikely to maintain confidentiality, so as to
ensure effective protection of the rights and interests of
investors and stakeholders.

In conclusion, the Company believes that its internal
control system is sufficient and effective.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the auditor’s
remuneration for the annual audit services and review
services were RMB2.1 million and RMBO0.5 million
respectively and the aggregate amount was RMB2.6
million. The fee for non-audit services, mainly the
environmental, social and governance report consulting
services, general meetings’ vote monitoring services, due
diligence investigation services was RMBO0.2 million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. ZHONG Ruogin, one of the Company’s executive
Directors, is also one of the joint company secretaries of
the Company.
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Ms. AU Wai Ching (“Ms. AU"”) has been appointed
as the Joint Company Secretary and an authorized
representative of the Company under Rule 3.05 of
the Listing Rules, an authorized representative of
the Company pursuant to Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and an authorized person of the Company under Rule
19.05(2) of the Listing Rules for the acceptance of service
of process and notices in Hong Kong on behalf of the
Company with effect from 10 November 2021. Ms. AU
is a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited with over 15 years of experience
in corporate secretarial services. Ms. AU obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration and a
master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. AU
is a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom.

The primary contact of Ms. AU Wai Ching in the
Company is Ms. ZHONG Ruogin.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. ZHONG
and Ms. AU have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company considers that effective communication
with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and understanding of the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information on the Company for the
Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the
chairmen of the Board Committees attend the annual
general meeting to answer the Shareholders’ questions.
The auditor also attends the annual general meeting
to answer questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and
auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an
inter-relationship and communication channel between
the Company and the Shareholders, the Company adopts
a shareholders’ communication policy and maintains a
website at http:/www.hzbjwy.com, where the up-to-date
information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available
for public access.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
has reviewed the shareholders’ communication policy,
including the actions taken at the general meetings,
the handling of enquiries received and the various
communication channels available. The Company
considers that the shareholders’ communication policy
has been effectively implemented during the year ended
31 December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution will be proposed for each issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual
Directors.
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All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and
the poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS

According to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders
may put forward proposals at the general meeting of the
Company for consideration. Any one or more member(s)
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
(carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company on the basis of one vote per share) shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the
Company for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition or resolution and to add the resolution
to the agenda of that meeting; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board to convene such general meeting shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the website of the
Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries
about the Company to the Board may send their
enquiries to the Investor Relations of the Company at its
headquarters through email at ir@binjiangfuwu.com.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

The Company’s third amended and restated Articles of
Association were approved at the annual general meeting
held on 7 June 2024.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
This is the seventh “Environmental, Social and
(the "ESG Report”) issued by
the Group to present the achievement of the Group
regarding its management policies in the environmental
and social aspects and the fulfilment of environmental
and social responsibilities in 2024.

Governance Report”

This report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Code of the Listing Rules.

ESG report is released annually and this report covers
the year from January 2024 to December 2024. The next
report for 2025 is expected to be released in April 2026.

The scope of this report other than emissions from
stationary combustion in environmental includes Binjiang
Service Group Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries, which is
unchanged from the previous year. With regard to the
emissions from stationary combustion on environmental
categories, due to the Group’s business attributes, which
have a limited impact on the use of resources in projects
under management, the scope of the report covers the
Group's headquarters, and there is no change from the
previous year.

The data used in this report are derived from the internal
documents and related statistical materials of the Group.
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This report is prepared based on the following principles:

Materiality: The Group identifies major Environmental,
Social and Governance (the "ESG") issues through
materiality assessment, and the relevant process and
results have been disclosed in this report.

Quantitative: The Group makes quantitative disclosure
of the key performance indicators with historical data in
the areas of “environmental” and “social” according to
the requirements of the “Key Performance Indicators”
in the Appendix C2 the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Code of the Listing Rules, makes
quantitative disclosure of forward-looking information
such as targets as much as possible, and will gradually
improve the statistical process to achieve full disclosure
in the future.

Balance: This report objectively, fairly and truly
discloses the Group’s work performance and practice in
environmental and social matters in 2024, and discloses
the problems encountered and improvement measures in
a responsible manner.

Consistency: The Group follows a consistent statistical
method for disclosure. In this report, we have maintained
the same statistical method for the information
as disclosed in the previous year’s report. For the
information disclosed for the first time, the Group will
adopt a consistent statistical method for ESG information
disclosure in subsequent years, in order to facilitate
meaningful comparisons from year to year.

This report will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the official website of the Group.
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STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

The business development opportunities of the
Group stem from the society’'s pursuit of better
quality of life. Because of this, the Group pays
special attention to the sustainable development,
establish and improve the ESG governance system,
and have the review and decision-making of major
ESG issues led by the Board, including identifying
and evaluating ESG risks, formulating ESG strategies
and policies, establishing management policies
and plans, approving and reviewing ESG target
management, and approving the annual ESG report
and other management content.

Assuming full responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting, the Board is responsible
for assessing and determining the Group’s ESG
related risks, and ensuring that the Group has
an appropriate and effective system for ESG risk
management and internal monitoring. The ESG and
Strategy Committees are the lead committees that
support the Board in fulfilling these responsibilities.

Based on the external environment and the Group’s
development strategy, the Group conducted
research on internal and external stakeholders,
identified key ESG issues, and clarified work
priorities, including: corporate governance, risk and
crisis management, employees’ rights and benefits,
development and training, customer relationship
management and community development and
services, with focus on reviewing the above issues
and improving performance in daily work, and
carried out target management accordingly. In
the future, the Group will continue to adjust the
strategy and promotion method of sustainable
development management according to the
expectations of stakeholders and the actual
operation of the Group, so as to continuously
improve the level of sustainable development.
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This report disclosed details of the progress and
effectiveness of the ESG work of the Group in
2024. The Board, as the highest responsible and
decision-making body for ESG matters, warrants
that there are no false representations or misleading
statements contained in, or material omissions from
this report, and accepts all responsibilities for the
truthfulness and accuracy of this report.

ENVIRONMENT, SOCIETY AND
GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW

The Group is committed to the service concept
of “Hearty Service, Loving Home “ and the
corporate vision of becoming “the Leader
of Property Management Brands and the
Setter of High Quality Standards”. The Group
aims to secure the well-being of owners
and residents through more professional,
standardised and humanized services. At the
same time, the Group adheres to the quality
policy of “Sincere, Innovative, Perfect, Safe,
Healthy, Green ”
corporate social responsibility in mind. These

and strives to always keep its

policies and principles instill the concept of
sustainable development into every aspect
of the Group’s governance and business and
enable the Group to realise economic, social
and environmental benefits.
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The Group has established a top-down ESG
governance structure, with the Board being
responsible for overseeing the environmental
and social matters of the Group, and the
ESG and Strategy Committee being the
main responsible committee. In addition, we
have also set up an ESG Reporting Working
Group led by senior management with the
participation of middle management. The
working commission consists of representatives
from all regular management divisions of
the Group, including the Board Office, the
Integrated Management Department, the
Finance Department, the Human Resource
Department, the Procurement Department,
the Information Department, the Market
Development Centre, the Operations
Department and all Service Centres.

ESG Management Structure

Board ESG-related risk assessment,
prioritisation and risk management,
monitoring and reviewing the
Group's performance on
environmental and social issues.

ESG and Refining and implementing
Strategy ESG-related work based on
Committee material issues, strategies and

policies derived from the ESG
materiality assessment; and
coordinating ESG reporting.

ESG Reporting Regularly reporting to the Board
Working and the ESG and Strategy
Team Committee; listening to opinions

and suggestions; and conveying,
communicating and implementing
the Group’s strategies, specific
measures and feedback on
environmental governance and
social governance;
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Promoting ESG-related daily
work, coordinating the sorting
of materials, data and statistics
related to ESG information
disclosure, and ensuring
smooth communication with
stakeholders.

The Group’s ESG stakeholders mainly
include the employees, suppliers, customers,
shareholders and investors, local government,
and projects at our business community.
The Group believes that listening to and
understanding the opinions of stakeholders
will provide a solid foundation for the long-
term development and success of the Group.
The Group actively explores various channels
to maintain good communication with
stakeholders, to enhance the stakeholders’
understanding of the Group's development
and operational policies, and to provide
more opportunities for them to put forward
suggestions so that the Group can provide
them with timely and effective feedback
regarding their concerns. In this way, the
Group ensures that it is cooperating and
working alongside stakeholders to achieve
mutual benefits.
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¢ Respond to state
policies

o Operate according to
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o Promote employment
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« BRERHFYE

o Take partin
discussions when
relevant policies are
being formulated,
and share enterprise
experience

¢ Guide and influence
public policies actively

¢ Engage in dialogue
with the local
government
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Shareholders

o FRERNGEZE
¢ BREERE

o FHAREL
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o Business strategy
& operating
performance

* Protect shareholders'
legal rights

* Business sustainability

¢ Company
transparency
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+ Information
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¢ The board meeting,
shareholders meeting
and investors' meeting
of exchange

+ Direct communication
among shareholders

BI
Employees

SHE
EsRE
B4R
ZEER

i 344
Payment & welfare
Guarantee of rights
and interests
Career development
Safety and health
Corporate culture

>mo

H
w4
BE S

=
|_|
-

H
o emf =
[l S
S oES >
|t me)
=l
b

Sg S
=
=

Employee
representative

Trade union
Employee
representative
conference
Employee survey and
provision of timely
feedback

Enhance information
disclosure
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Timely service
Safety of
householders
Privacy protection
Steadily improve
service quality
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Communicate during
the service offering
process

Owners survey and
provision of timely
feedback

Complaint hotline
Enhance information
disclosures
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Suppliers

o ARETHEEEN
BRERER

o RELE

o EFEE EHER

o Abide by commercial
ethics & state laws
and rules

¢ Be transparent and
fair

o Fulfil commitments,
achieve mutual
benefits and enable
win-win cooperation

» DBEBAERER
v 4RHH
v RREBRY

X
© BMERRE

o Announce the supplier
management rules

¢ Contract negotiation

o Daly husiness
exchange

¢ Enhance information
disclosures
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Community

o BRHERD
» BERERR
» RAREAR
o REHEEE

* Hold community
activities

o Assist in community
construction

* Secure community
welfare

* Promote the
community's
development

o BERHE-
kS

o HEED XA

o EMERRE

+ Communicate with
local government and
organisations

o Exchange ideas with
community members

+ Enhance information
disclosures
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Implement state
policies, and abide

by state laws and
regulations

Accept supervision
and check-ups

Create more posts to
boost the employment
rate
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classification activities
in cooperation with
the government
Declare taxes in a
timely manner
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Take action to
implement garbage
classification
Number of persons
employed
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Hold shareholders'
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Stock value and
dividend returns
Stock market value
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Employees

MEBT LKA

Enhance trainings

for employees in
respect of culture and
technical skills
Improve living and
working environment
for employees
Guarantee employees'
rights and benefits,
and upgrade their
welfare level

Health and safety
quarantees for
employees

Establish an employee
trade union
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AAZEIRNE

Number of hours of
employee training
Remuneration and
welfare system

The sum of money
donated to employee
with financial
difficulties
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Service normalisation,
standardisation and
humanized

Conduct reqular
customer satisfaction
surveys

Respond to client
complaints and
provide them with
feedback in a timely
manner

Eamestly protect
Customer privacy

Investments in
greening

Number of customer
complaints

Solutions for handling
customer privacy cases
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Set up an open
and transparent bid
invitation system
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communication
platform for suppliers
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selection system
Offer equal
opportunities to
suppliers
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Contract performance
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Assessment of
supplier
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Regularly hold
activities to benefit
community residents
Encourage good
deeds

Be passionate about
public welfare, and
contribute to society
Conduct employee
volunteer activities
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Examples of good
deeds

Number of acts of
bravery

Investments in social
welfare causes
Amount of agricultural
products sales
empowering farmers
Volunteer activities
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The Group attached importance to the
identification and management of ESG issues.
We conducted interviews, surveys and other
activities to collect the opinions and feedback
from stakeholders in order to identify material
ESG issues and made specific disclosures in
the report accordingly so to enhance the
sustainable development and management
effectively. The Group will also continually
pay attention to all stakeholders, constantly
review and update the materiality assessment,
and include external stakeholders when the
conditions are right, so as to achieve a more
accurate and thorough understanding of the
demands of various parties, and to provide
guidance and direction to the enterprise’s
business operations and controls over
environmental and social governance.

The Group identified industry-related ESG
issues based on relevant guidelines on
sustainability information disclosure, such
as the Material Issues Database formulated
by the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board (SASB), and based on the analysis and
summary of the results of the materiality
assessment of ESG issues from all stakeholders,
and formed the following materiality
assessment matrix, which is prepared in
considering the stakeholders’ focus on
corporate operations and environmental and
social governance and in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Code. The Group focuses on
social fields such as rights and interests
of employees, development and trainings,
community development and customer
relationship management, and environmental
issues such as use of energy and climate
change.
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Climate change
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Waste discharge management
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BEEZ
Highly important
BEEE

Highly important

HRENEAERNTE 52
Impact on the environment Important
and natural resources

BERE 32 BE
Energy management Important
K% 4L [ 52
Low-carbon community Important
IKE IR E A B2
Water Usage Important
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Wastewater discharge Important
B = R 8 B BE
Greenhouse gas (GHG) Important
emissions
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Waste gas emissions Relevant
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ESG materiality Matrix of Binjiang Service

FEEE
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6 Y | F Governance Issues
A RigHRE
Environmental Issues
m HEHE
Social Issues
HEEEENEEMN
Importance to business management
3 RIERE 3 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
RIBHR Environmental Policy
FEREMSGNRRBENEE  ~5E As a socially and environmentally responsible
RAEREERARFTERENRIERE corporate citizen, the Group is fully aware of its
EE - -ERRELZNETEBEHR K& responsibilities in environmental protection. In the
ErEafRERENEEN  BHRE process of daily operations and development, the
THEERRERIM SEREERE Group maintains an emphasis on the importance
REBRTRNEETE  RKEER of environmental protection, actively implementing
Bt ETE - green and low-carbon development strategies,

minimizing the negative impact of business
development on the environment, and trying to
generally have a positive effect on the environment.
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The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the development
of the Group, such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving
Energy, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, and
constantly improves the environmental protection
benefits of the Group. In order to strengthen
environmental protection awareness, the Group
monitored the use of electrical appliances, water
conservation, paperless office measures, business
vehicle management, and other areas, so as to
regulate employees’ environmental protection
behaviour in daily operations. In addition, the
Group has a GB/T24001-2016 1SO14001:2015
certified environmental management system, which
affirms the Group’s achievements in environmental
management. Going forward, the Group will work
to further develop and optimise the environmental
management system.

The promotion and implementation of the
green office system have greatly enhanced the
awareness of all employees in saving energy and
reducing consumption, playing a significant role
in strengthening the management of water and
electricity consumption, reducing waste, effectively
reducing energy consumption, guiding all employees
to form the habit of saving resources and protecting
environment and promoting the sustainable
development of the Group.
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The Group regards resource conservation
as a vital part of its development strategy
and operational approach and is committed
to constantly monitoring and improving
the Group’s environmental protection
performance. The resources used by the
Group mainly include electricity, gasoline and
water. Among which, electricity and water
are the main resources used and consumed
by us. The Group has obtained the GB/T2331-
2020/1SO50001:2018; RB/T107-2013 Energy
Management System Certification. In the
future, we will continue to actively explore
new technologies and energy sources as we
pursue more environmentally friendly, efficient
and sustainable development.

Smart renovations for energy
conservation

The Group’s carbon emissions are mainly
caused by electricity consumption. In the
Reporting Period, the Group consumed
electricity of 217,357.00 kWh in total. In order
to reduce energy consumption and conduct
reasonable planning and efficient management
of electricity consumption, the Group
formulated the “Binjiang Service Green Office
Management System”, which regulates the
temperature of air conditioners at the entry
and exit, and implements “lights off when
people leave and machine stop” for power
facilities in the office. In addition, the Group
also encourages employees to use natural
lighting and ventilation as much as possible to
reduce the use of electrical appliances.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group
actively pursued the strategies of energy
conservation, emission reduction and green
development. To this end, we renovated the
basement lighting fixtures in the underground
parking garages of several of the Group’s
properties. This project aimed to reduce energy
consumption and improve the effectiveness of
lighting by replacing the original lamps with
energy-efficient lighting fixtures. As a result of
the renovation, the lighting in the underground
parking garage has been improved, users
have been provided with a safer and more
comfortable parking environment, and power
consumption has been significantly reduced.
Among these, the lighting renovation of the
Jinhua Lakefront City Garden Project and
Taizhou Pleasant Lake Blue Court Project
is expected to save approximately 196,224
kWh of energy annually, fully demonstrating
the economic and social benefits of energy
conservation and emission reduction. Going
forward, the Group will continue to strengthen
energy conservation and emission reduction,
promote green and low-carbon development,
and make more concrete contributions to the
achievement of its sustainability goals.

At the same time, the Group attaches great
importance on both energy conservation
and emission reduction and owners’
experience and satisfaction. We provide high-
quality services while putting great efforts
in improving our performance in energy
conservation and energy efficiency.
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20245 20234
2024 2023
o (B71) Gasoline! (0’000 litres) 2.23 20.19
SNEEE ) (F R BF) Purchased electricity (kWh) 217,357.00 205,126.00
FEkRER(TRE) Comprehensive energy
consumption? (kWh) 412,245.91 1,970,103.34
BT TE WM EERFAA  Comprehensive energy
(?HM/)\E%?E e consumption per thousand
A yuan of revenue (kWh/
operating income of
RMB1,000 Yuan) 0.11 0.70
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Multiple measures for water recycling
The Group mainly uses municipal water,
and uses river water and reclaimed water in
some qualified projects, and has no problem
in accessing to water resources that fit for
purpose, but the Group is fully aware of
the shortage of freshwater resources and
importance of water conservation and actively
plan and construct urban water-efficient
communities. In 2024, a total of three service
centres under the Group were awarded the
provincial honorary commendation of “Water-
efficient Communities”.

When carrying out daily operation and
maintenance of the community environment,
the Group reasonably reduces the frequency
of water refreshing, reduce labour intensity
and improve work efficiency through scientific
maintenance, and with the assistance of robots
and other methods, to reach the triple goals of
achieving environmental, social and economic
benefits.

As a result of the reduction in the use of certain official vehicles
by the Group this year, there has been a significant decrease in
gasoline consumption.

Comprehensive energy consumption is calculated based on the
conversion factors in the General Principles for Calculation of
Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T2589-2020), the
national standard of the People’s Republic of China.
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20245 20234
2024 2023
FEKE (LK) Water consumption
(cubic metres) 1,419 1,219
FRKZEE(ZLFKAREE Water consumption density
BILEERA) cubic metres/operating
income of RMB1,000,000) 0.40 0.43
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Energy Management and Long-term
Planning

In terms of managing environmental targets
for our own operations, the Group aims to
reduce water and energy use (and therefore
emissions and greenhouse gas emissions) in
our offices by promoting green office, which is
also beneficial to our operational cost control.
However, given that the Group does not own
the building where the office is located and
cannot directly influence the renovation of
its facilities or the source of its electricity,
there is limited scope for setting quantitative
targets for energy use and its emissions from
stationary combustion. In terms of mobile
combustion, as the Group's business expands,
the demand for business travel is likely to grow
and it is difficult to set targets of total usage
at this stage, but we are considering setting
intensity targets.
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For the management of environmental targets
in our business, as the number of property
projects under the Group’s management is
growing rapidly and the types of projects
are becoming more diversified, considering
the maintenance needs of different types of
property projects under management and the
large differences in material consumption level,
energy consumption level, greenhouse gas
emissions and water use, it is difficult for the
Group to set quantitative emission reduction
targets in terms of energy use efficiency, water
use efficiency, emissions and waste at this
stage. However, from a long-term perspective,
the Group insists on improving the efficiency
of resource and energy use, reducing energy
consumption without compromising service
quality to reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
reducing the probability of maintenance,
extending service life and reducing the
severity through optimizing design, scientific
investigation and timely response, and are
gradually accumulating and analysing the
energy, water and material consumption of
different property types by adopting digital
means, to formulate quantitative targets in the
above aspects in the future.

A system that empowers green office
operations

In 2024, the Group has continuously
strengthened the construction of its
information systems to enhance overall
operational efficiency. During the Reporting
Period, the Group successfully launched the
Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
system, introduced new functional modules
and statistical reports on the Smart Control
Platform, integrated key systems such as
the Procurement Management Platform and
Zhangguanjia (seal management platform),
and conducted in-depth optimization of
existing internal control systems, including
the Human Resources (HR) system,
attendance management system, and contract
management system.
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Carbon emissions and environmental
protection

The Group paid special attention to low
carbon emission and environmental protection,
actively responded to the country’s energy
saving and emission reduction initiatives.
The Group’s carbon emission was mainly
generated by the use of electricity and natural
gas in projects under our management
and automobile fuel consumption, with
an annual volume of 172.85 tonnes. The
Group integrates energy conservation and
consumption reduction measures into internal
management and encourages employees to
reduce carbon emissions in various ways. With
regard to company-financed vehicles, their
use is controlled and managed in a unified
manner by the Integrated Management
Office. Employees are encouraged to make
contribution to environmental protection
by using public transportation. The Group
advocates for a paperless office and
encourages the use of recycled paper and
double-sided printing. In these ways, the
Group strives to reduce carbon emissions by
reducing paper use.
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BB 2R Source of emissions 2024 %3 20234
20243 2023
#E—:EEHR Scope 1: Direct emissions*
(|t EE (tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent) 48.89 442 .80
#E = MR Scope 2: Indirect emissionss
(& LiREE (tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent) 123.96 116.98
BEREHENE T Greenhouse gas emissions
(E-—FiREE (tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent) 172.85 559.79
R EE (M =Rk E 2 Intensity (tonnes/operating
ARBEBETEEKRAN) income of RMB1,000,000) 0.05 0.20
RE R BER YD Exhaust Emissions 2024 %s 20234
2024s 2023
RE/(BLL: F5=) Nitrogen oxide (unit: kg) 86.03 174.39
ety (Ba: T7) Sulfur oxide (unit: kg) 0.33 2.97
Y (BAL: T7) Granulates (unit: kg) 8.01 12.84
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Due to a significant decrease in gasoline usage this year, scope 1
emissions have been notably reduced.

The calculation of direct greenhouse gas emissions is based on
corporate gasoline consumption multiplied by the corresponding
emission factor. The emission factor refers to: @ China Energy
Statistical Yearbook @ IPCC 2006.

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions for 2024 are calculated
based on the average carbon dioxide emission factor of China’s
regional power grids in the Notice on Issuing the Power Sector
CO, Emission Factor for 2022 issued by the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of China.

The reduction in exhaust emissions is primarily attributed to the
use of official vehicles, as the Group has implemented measures
this year to reduce the utilization of certain official vehicles,
resulting in a significant decrease in emissions.
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Case: Plant Here in This Garden, Ten Miles of Spring Breeze Beauty!
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On 11 March, the eve of Tree Planting Day, Binjiang Service initiated a tree planting activity
titled “Plant Here in This Garden, Ten Miles of Spring Breeze Beauty.” Multiple neighbourhood
property service centres responded positively to the initiative, carefully selecting appropriate
sites and meticulously choosing saplings that align with the development of their community
gardens. They prepared tools and worked together with parent-child families to plant trees,

adding greenery and colour to their beautiful homes.
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Garbage classification, benefit the
country and the people

The Group strictly abides by the laws and
regulations such as the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste of the People’s Republic of China and
the Implementation Plan for the Domestic
Waste Classification System to implement
classified management of waste. Garbage
classification is essential for social governance
and relies on the cooperation and participation
of the government, enterprises, residents,
social organisations and other sectors. The
government, enterprises, residents, social
organisations and other stakeholders are able
to promote their self and mutual regulation,
service, education and supervision through
cooperating and participating in garbage
classification. Contentment, happiness and
sense of security of people lie in the efforts
made by all sectors in garbage classification.
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As domestic garbage classification has far-
reaching significant for environmental
protection, it is essential to encourage the
extensive participation and action of the
population. The Group's practice should be
changed from producing garbage to classifying
garbage while property management provider
should assume their responsibilities in garbage
management. Driven by policy guidance and
internal factors, the Group has adopted a
number of measures to classify garbage at
its source, in an effort to instil in people the
concept of garbage classification. The Group
further enhanced property owners’ awareness
on domestic garbage, classification rate and
disposal accuracy through voluntary services,
regular seminars, disposal guidance, regulatory
management, and other measures. The Group
has obtained the GB/T 19095-2019 Domestic
Waste Classification Service Capability
Certification. We have forged ahead in the
field of domestic waste classification services.
Going forward, the Group will continue to
adhere to the concepts of environmental
protection and sustainable development,
improve its garbage classification capabilities
and management, and make greater
contributions to the construction of an
ecological civilisation.

In 2024, 28 of the Group’s service centres
received awards related to “waste separation”
and “zero-waste communities”.
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Compliant Emission, Ecology Peace of
Mind

In addition to daily domestic garbage
classification, the Group has also standardised
the treatment of waste and domestic sewage
resulting from home maintenance. For
maintenance waste generated in projects
under our management, the property service
centre first places the waste in special
warehouses on a temporary basis. They
will then be collected and disposed of by
the recovery units certified by the relevant
qualification authority after the disposal
scheme is approved. The Group verifies the
qualification of the recovery units on an
annual basis. With regards to domestic sewage
discharge, the Group strictly complies with
the relevant provisions of the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, so as to eliminate any non-compliant
discharge that may have a negative impact on
the environment.

In terms of the Group’s business, during the
Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any non-compliance matters with laws and
regulations that have a material impact on
the Group in terms of air and greenhouse gas
emissions, pollutant discharge to water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes.
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Currently, global warming, sea level rise
and abnormal weather intermittently affect
people’s work and life and have become main
concerns of the society. Enterprises face tough
challenges of addressing climate changes.
With reference to the framework set out in the
TCFD (Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures), the Group has assessed risks and
opportunities arising from climate changes
and formulated strategies for managing risks
and identifying and managing indicators and
objectives.

Governance

The Board is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s environmental and social matters,
including risk assessment, prioritisation and
risk management, as well as identifying and
studying the impacts of climate change on
the Group’s business activities in collaboration
with relevant departments, in order to
adequately manage climate-related risks and
opportunities.

Strategy

The Group is deeply aware that climate change
presents physical risks such as floods, extreme
weather and rising temperatures, and may also
lead to transition risks caused by changes in
markets, regulations and policies. The Group
refers to the risk categories recommended by
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), conducts risk identification
and analysis based on its own business type
and group operations, takes into consideration
national policies, industry trends and
stakeholder concerns, and studies relevant
coping strategies to reduce the adverse impact
of climate change on the Group’s business and
financial activities.
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Risk Management
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Climate-related risks
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Extreme climate or weather
events are very likely to damage
production equipment and
jeopardize employee safety,
giving rise to additional adverse
impacts.
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Longer-term climate change
issues, such as gradual changes
in temperatures and rainfall,
rising sea levels, etc.
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As policy actions around climate
change continue to evolve,
regulators will take stricter
measures to limit GHG emissions
and strengthen GHG emissions
disclosure requirements.
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Response
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The Group has formulated

the “Plan for Flood Control

and Other Emergencies”,

which includes plans for early,
continuous and subsequent
responses to thunderstorms,
typhoons and other extreme
weather events. All service
centres are required to
implement training and drills in
relation to this plan.
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We have arranged for effective
greening maintenance,
strengthened outdoor pipe
network maintenance and taken
other measures to reduce the risk
of increased maintenance costs
caused by climate change.
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The Group keeps a close

watch on policy dynamics and
regulatory changes, and adjusts
its response strategies in a timely
manner. At the same time, we
should actively participate in
relevant policy discussions and
policy development initiatives to
create favourable conditions for
the Group.
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When introducing new
technology or equipment to
adapt to climate change, the
Group may encounter problems
such as immature technology,
equipment failure or high
maintenance costs.
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Under the guidance of policies
and markets, and as consumers
become increasingly aware of
lower-carbon alternatives and
environmental protection, they
will opt for greener products,
which may have an impact

on the Group’s raw material
procurement.
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Stakeholders are increasingly
concerned about issues related
to responses to climate changes,
and the Group may suffer from
reputation risk if it fails to

meet stakeholder expectations
or violates relevant laws and
regulations.
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Response
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The Group should establish long-
term cooperative relationships
with technology suppliers

to ensure that it can obtain
technical support and updates

in a timely manner. At the same
time, the Group’s equipment
must be maintained and
inspected regularly to ensure it is
operating properly.
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REEREE -

We have formulated relevant
procurement policies to
reduce the consumption

and procurement of relevant
resources.
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We continuously monitor
stakeholder expectations, and
actively respond to and stage
climate change-related activities.
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As the Group’s business consists of property
management, the Group business activities
does not involve significant consumption of
natural resources nor a significant impact on
the environment. However, the Group is well
aware of the possible environmental impact
of day-to-day business operations. The Group
takes our own actions to mitigate climate
change, protect biodiversity, prevent soil and
water resources from being polluted, and
maintain a sound and sustainable ecological
environment with practical actions. The Group
actively conveys environmental protection
awareness to owners, employees and other
stakeholders. By carrying out environmental
protection publicity activities across the
country, we strive to convey environmental
protection culture such as protecting plants,
reusing recyclable resources, and garbage
classification in the community, and jointly
build a good environment in the community.

The Group adheres to the concept of saving
energy, building beautiful community, and
protecting environment, integrates the concept
of protecting environment into community
construction, plans and improves the
greening and garden area of the community,
and creates a green and environmentally
friendly community, while providing owners
and employees with comfortable living and
working place.
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The Group’s community garden and greening
areas have been set up based on the following
considerations:

> Focusing on a rational combination
of plant varieties. Community green
space is the area most commonly used
by residents, so it is important to keep
it green. Reasonable greening can
create a pleasant outdoor environment,
provide a variety of venues for residents
to enjoy, and meet the recreational
needs of residents. Meanwhile, plants
are instrumental in generating oxygen,
cooling and humidifying, which makes for
a pleasanter microclimate. They also make
temperatures milder, landscapes more
beautiful, and recreational environments
more comfortable for residents.

> Highlighting the importance of
community greening. Greening is
an indispensable part of community
construction. Plants are vital to the urban
landscape and eco-balance as they create
a dynamic but harmonious living space.

> Paying attention to the direct
impact of community green space
on the urban eco-environment.
As an integral part of urban green
space, community green space is widely
distributed in the living space of urban
dwellers. Plants play a distinct role in
ecological aesthetics and psychology
and deliver unique benefits, including
by regulating temperature and humidity,
improving air quality, and preventing
wind and dust. The beautiful landscapes
they help create ease stress and are
conducive to physical and mental health.
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Binjiang Service has developed and
improved its emergency plan for pest and
disease control, refined and supervised
the implementation of the prevention and
control system, and achieved “prevention
and control with a focus on prevention”.
As a result of these efforts, we have been
able to fundamentally improve the resilience
and adaptability of garden plants in our
communities’ external environments.

The Group will continue strengthening
our environmental management system to
ensure its compliance with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations and make
contributions to the common environmental
protection cause of mankind.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Based on the enterprise principle of “Proprietor
First, Service First, Quality First”, the Group’s
quality policy focuses on “Sincere, Innovative,
Perfect, Safe, Healthy, Green” and treats
every customer with sincerity. The Group uses
scientific, reasonable and advanced technology
and concepts to provide excellent services to
customers.

In strict accordance with the requirements of
the Property Management Regulations issued
by the State Council, the Group has compiled
the “Operational Instructions”, “Service
Standards of Binjiang Service Residential
Quarters” and “Standardised Management
Manual of Binjiang Service”, which requires
that every work process must be improved
with the ultimate goal of meeting owners’
needs.
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Guided by the requirements of the institutional
system and supported by the “Quality
Inspection Management System” and the
work manuals of the five major modules
(customer service, cleaning, landscaping, order
maintenance, and engineering), we inspect and
urge projects to implement the Group’s service
standards. This ensures that high-quality
and efficient property management services
are provided to property owners, enhances
the company’s brand value, and realizes the
Group's overall development strategy.

First-class quality as the industry
benchmark

Our Group's aspiration of property service
is to refine our service quality continuously.
After years of practical experience and
innovations, the Group has established three
major service models with “three major value
service systems” as its core content. These
are, the community services based on the
characteristics of the property, individualised
service based on householder needs and
property management service based on the
property’s use as an investment product. In
2024, the Group ranked 13t in the China
Top 100 Property Management Companies.
In the survey of Hangzhou residents’
satisfaction conducted by the China Index
Academy, Binjiang Service had been in the
leading position among Hangzhou property
management companies for 13 consecutive
years, becoming a benchmark for the
property management industry in Hangzhou
and leading the city. The core value of our
Group’s service is to provide owners with a
safe, comfortable and warm living or office
environment, while maximising the value of
properties of owners. For this reason, the
Group earnestly controls property service
standards and quality, and ceaselessly promote
the construction and development of the
Quality Management System, which is certified
by the GB/T19001-2016/1S09001:2015
Authentication Standard. We strive to offer
reliable and excellent services.
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o The first-level inspection work was carried
out rigorously: A total of 657 projects
were covered throughout the year. During
this period, two announcements were
issued efficiently, and two announcement
meetings were successfully organized.

o Remote control work: Since the formal
establishment of the Operations
Department in July, starting from the
third quarter, key operation links of
various projects, such as front desk
services, gate post management, and
fire protection and monitoring systems,
have been comprehensively included in
the scope of remote monitoring. As of
the end of the Reporting Period, a total
of 269 projects have been effectively
included in the remote inspection system.
Through this approach, a total of 355
problems were discovered and reported.
At the same time, the secondary
operation departments were actively
urged to rectify and follow up on the
discovered problems, with the aim of
comprehensively improving the overall
operation quality of the projects.
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The Group was honored with the honorary
title of 2023 Zhejiang Provincial Model
Enterprise of Corporate Social Responsibility
for advancing ESG development.

On July 19, 2024, the forum “Promoting ESG
Development, Empowering Chinese-style
Modernization — 2024 Zhejiang Corporate Social
Responsibility Forum” was held in Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province. Over 200 representatives
from government, academia, and benchmark
enterprises gathered to explore new models
and pathways for ESG development. The event
recognized outstanding enterprises in Zhejiang
Province's corporate social responsibility
efforts in 2023, and the Group was awarded
the honorary title of 2023 Zhejiang Provincial
Model Enterprise of Corporate Social
Responsibility.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



RIR - B REREHE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2024 BAIRB BEES A
MEREKEMAFEEREETR &

SEFETMETHEERE kD
BETATNENEERANNES
sz -

— . HEAA

EWTRAEBFYWEEERER
FERBIRBHEALAE
HEBAmML DR EER
ZE HREE AEZA -
ATEEREZBRNRHEE -
BHRTAEAIRBERELSE
BMBEALCLRETENERE
BR BRITEEILTEMT -

= EHXRET#HEH
EIXFREIEIZEEFS P -
BIIRBMREZ 2EHE L E
AR TERE CBESTHEM
CEEHEPMMEEE A E
B RERER -

BEEEEFEANERSE
HE BEIRKENEZET
HAEMEXEETENAL
- ERERTHETTIR
EPRIGEEBEINDEEEH
E—FRATEENREER
MhregeEn -

In 2024, Binjiang Service, with its excellent
property service level and innovative
management practices, achieved remarkable
results in various evaluations, fully
demonstrating the company’s leading position
in the property management field.

/. City-level Excellent Projects

In the selection of city-level excellent
property management projects, five
projects of Binjiang Service stood
out, namely Wanjia Zhixing, Gucui
Lanting, Chuangzhi Lvgu, Artificial
Intelligence Industrial Park, and Tongxie
Jinzuo. This reflects Binjiang Service’s
profound accumulation in standardized
management and refined services, setting
a benchmark demonstration role for the
industry.

/.~ Model Projects of Beautiful Home
In the “Beautiful Home"” creation activity,
the Xixi Zhixing project of Binjiang Service
won the provincial-level demonstration
title, while the two projects of Puyang
No.1 and Jinhua Junlanmeidi won the
municipal-level demonstration titles.

Through the practice and promotion of
these excellent projects, Binjiang Service
has not only consolidated its leading
position in the property management
industry but also fulfilled the corporate
mission of “creating value for customers”
with practical actions, further enhancing
the company’s brand value and social
influence.
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Case: Wanjia Zhixing — A Model of Refined Property Service in High-end Residential
Areas
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Wanjia Zhixing Apartment is located in Liangzhu New City, Yuhang District, Hangzhou. The
surrounding environment is beautiful, adjacent to the Caihong River and Yuzhai Port. The total
construction area of the project is 78,172.8 square meters, consisting of 2 high-rise residential
buildings and 9 waterfront townhouses. The planned total number of households is 508,
with 489 underground parking spaces equipped. The landscape design of the residential area
takes the subtropical style as the theme. Although it has been delivered for five years, the
greenery and landscape have been continuously maintained in good condition. The project
is also equipped with complete supporting facilities, including an outdoor swimming pool,
a waterscape system, a children’s playground area, and a leisure and entertainment area,
providing residents with a high-quality living environment.
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Since the project was delivered, based on traditional property services, we have customized
an exclusive service plan for Wanjia Zhixing, committed to creating a safer, more comfortable,
and more considerate living experience, fully meeting the diversified needs of customers. By
continuously optimizing the service quality, Binjiang Service has not only improved customer
satisfaction, but also injected more vitality into the sustainable development of the project.

1 52 BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



RIR - dERERBME
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

FHRETFIARHT © TR TR SESREREREE  BEITEED SRR R4 - BIZER R

B#FF - B RRMEBEE - REREZZ -

Upgrade unit door face recognition, Introduce intelligent electric vehicle Introduce intelligent security systems,

visitor QR code for intelligent automatic charging stations, implement remote fire alarm systems, to

door opening. separation of price and fees, automatic safeguard the safety of the
disconnection when fully charged. community.

BEMLE WESENFN=SHFEEE  HEEAL I&Fﬁ% - BEEMBEETAR  REARAER - BER=5H00E) - B8
E2EE) IENDEPJK I E HmEE MR IR R

Through three-party joint meetings among the commumty, property management committee, and property company, discuss common
issues and difficult points in the park (or community/estate, depending on the context), propose solutions, achieve tripartite
co-governance, organize homeowners to participate in community co-governance, and enhance homeowners’ satisfaction and
happiness index.

=hHEEE BUXE [FRRE =5 [Aezik] 28
Three-Party Joint Meeting Enthusiastic Homeowners’ Three-Party “Red Tour” Visit

“Clean Home” Initiative
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Some green areas in the park have occupied the fire escape access area. In order to improve the fire rescue environment in the park and
ensure the safety of residents’ lives, the property management, in collaboration with the community and the property management
committee, actively engaged with the real estate developer to jointly discuss the fire rescue restoration and rectification plan. After one
month of construction, the residential area has increased the hardened area of the fire escape access by 245m? while maintaining the
green space, achlevmg both aesthetic appeal and safety Addltlonally, the residential area has also added 200m? of leisure space.

Jar

ZhBESRTHRE AT Bk
Three-party collaborative Before renovation After renovation
discussion meeting
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During the Reporting Period, the Group
actively promoted the Binxiang Life online
service platform. Through the platform,
owners/tenants can conveniently complete
various procedures such as property
management fee payments, repair requests,
feedback, visitor access, satisfaction surveys,
etc., without leaving the comfort of their
homes.

Thoughtful Service, Round-the-Clock
Care

To meet the needs of the elderly and owners/
tenants with mobility issues, we provide door-
to-door services, including exclusive access and
other convenience measures, to ensure that
these individuals receive considerate services.
At the same time, flexible customized service
time for office workers to ensure that owners/
tenants can still easily handle related business
after work We also provide 24-hour non-
stop services, and they quickly address any
problems encountered by the owners/tenants
in their daily life. The Group is committed to
providing all-round and considerate services to
each owner.

In addition, we provide various caring services
for owners:

> Birthday wishes: The service centres
carefully collect owners’ birthday
information from their files, through social
media or through daily communication.
On the day of the owner’s birthday, we
send our warm wishes to the owner,
let owners feel the warmth and care of
home.
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Visitor access management: Owners
need to inform the service centre in
advance when their relatives and friends
come and visit them. Staff members of
the service centre are responsible for
guiding and reminding visitors to abide by
traffic regulations within the community
to ensure community order and safety.

Seamless night shift: The night shift
personnel seamlessly take over their
duties and serve the owner groups after
the housekeepers have left the office.
We are committed to quickly addressing
problems encountered by the owners in
their daily life to ensure that they can get
timely help and support at any time.

Satisfaction surveys, collection of
property management fees and
solicitation of owners’ opinions:
We regularly carry out satisfaction
surveys to understand owners' opinions
of our services, and we collect property
management fees in a timely manner
to ensure the normal operation of our
properties. In addition, we welcome
valuable comments and suggestions
from owners as they help us continue
improving service quality.

Caring for elderly residents living
alone: The service centres pay special
attention to elderly residents living alone
in the community. In particular, we
have established a team of more than
40 enthusiastic volunteers under the
Yingyuetai Service Centre of Binjiang
Service. We are committed to gaining
an understanding of elderly residents
and their hobbies, and we regularly
organise cultural and artistic activities to
bring them the warmth and care of the
community.
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Case: Loving Owners of Binjiang Service Bring Coolness, Touching Hearts
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During the high temperatures of summer, loving owners and the owners’ committee in
the communities served by Binjiang Service launched the activity of “Bringing Coolness in
Summer” to offer condolences to the front-line staff of Binjiang Service. When boxes of
beverages, drinking water, as well as various heatstroke prevention and cooling items like
watermelons were delivered to the hands of the property staff, they were extremely touched.
The property staff in the community will continue to safeguard the homeland. They will do so
with love in their hearts, supported by their beliefs, and by walking through every corner of

the community.
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Focusing on key areas to ensure safety

As protecting the safety of owners is the
fundamental duty of property service
providers, the Group place great importance
on the health and safety of owners. The
Group is committed to providing safe
accommodations for our residents, adhering
to a safety inspection system, conducting
regular, item-by-item inspections for potential
safety hazards, ensuring that all safety issues
are resolved within the specified time-frame
with 100% completion, and achieving
a collaborative effort where “residents
participate, the government oversees, and
property management supports.” During the
Reporting Period, the Group mainly focused on
the following tasks in each residential project:
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The Group adopts the policy of “focusing
on fire prevention and managing fire safety
through fire prevention and fire-fighting” for
fire safety management, and requires each
service centre to organise fire drills at least
once a year with the purpose of enhancing
the fire prevention awareness and emergency
response capacity of staff members and
residents. In addition, the overall Management
Department provided firefighting knowledge
and skills training to certain persons from
each service centre and set up voluntary fire
brigades. The voluntary fire brigades are
required to put out any fires and evacuate
people before the arrival of the fire fighters,
so as to minimise personal casualties and
property loss. In order to eliminate fire
accidents caused by battery flammability, the
Group also checked battery motors placed
at upper floors and required that the battery
motors be moved to the ground floor.

In addition, based on the high level of
alertness to large-scale public health incidents
and the dedication to community safety, the
Group’s management quickly set up a special
leadership team to ensure that all measures
were fully implemented by anticipating
the development situation in advance and
coordinating staff arrangements and material
procurement. Property management staff
came up at that time and took prompt action
to protect community safety and provide
thoughtful services. The speed of emergency
response, professionalism in management, and
the ability to allocate personnel and supplies
have won wide recognition and praise from
homeowners and the local government.
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Case: Fire Drill Conducted in Jiangnanyufu in 2024
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In order to further improve the basic fire protection knowledge of all employees in the service
center, enhance their safety awareness, and strengthen their self-protection ability, the service
center of Jiangnanyufu under Binjiang Service carried out two practical fire drills in 2024.
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Both of these two fire drills were well-prepared in all stages, from the planning of the drills,
preliminary preparations, organization and implementation to the formal exercises. The
drills covered the whole process, including alarm reporting, alarm receiving, alarm checking,
dispatch, the establishment of the first fire-fighting force, emergency evacuation. After
all employees were evacuated, they gathered for follow-up work and evaluation, which
was carried out in a clear and orderly manner. Through these two fire drills, the Order
Maintenance Department will further improve the fire emergency response plan for the
community, strive to enhance the fire safety quality of all employees in the service center, and
strengthen the overall self-prevention and self-rescue ability of the community, so as to create
a safe living and working environment for the owners and employees in the community.
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During the Reporting Period, some properties
under the Group took the initiative to acquire
automatic external defibrillators (AED) to
cope with emergency medical conditions
and improve the service quality and safety
of the properties. To ensure the correct and
effective use of this professional medical
equipment, the donor unit and the subdistricts
concerned arranged for special training for
employees, so that they could master the use
of the equipment and properly respond to
medical emergencies. Through these efforts,
we have improved the quality of our property
management services, while also providing
a guarantee for the safety and health of
residents.
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Latest policy to protect privacy

The Group believes that effective protection
and management of owners’ privacy is an
essential factor in the establishment of long-
term trust and friendly cooperation between
owners and the property service provider. The
Group strictly complies with the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection
of Personal Information and other relevant
laws and regulations relating to personal
data and privacy protection, and make clear
provisions in the “Operation Instructions”. On
the one hand, property service personnel are
required to sign a “confidentiality agreement”
when they start to work for us to strictly keep
the owners’ information and related materials
confidential. The owner’s informational files
must be sealed and stored at the time when
the house is delivered. On the other hand, we
have formulated the Management Regulations
for the Information System, Computers and
Network. The Group also only allows electronic
informational materials to be accessed by
authorised users. Access to an account requires
approval from department head in order to
ensure that the network runs efficiently and
that electronic informational materials are
effectively protected.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
formulated the “Information System
Management Measures (Trial)”, the “Owners’
File Management System (Trial)”, and the “IT
Infrastructure Management System (Trial)”,
which are designed to standardise the Group’s
collection, storage, transmission, application,
security and daily management of owners’
information, while also strengthening the
use and management of office equipment
such as servers, computers and network
equipment. These policies ensure the normal
operation of the Group's servers, office and
network equipment, the smooth exchange of
information, and the full and effective use of
information resources.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group took
the following measures to manage servers:

Daily maintenance: The Information
Department is responsible for the daily
maintenance of servers, and that remote
backups are carried out weekly. The
backup files are kept for two weeks and
then overwritten. At the same time,
the snapshot backup is updated every
six months to ensure the timeliness and
security of data.

Updates and test management:
System updates must be fully tested using
the beta version before each update. This
task is jointly completed by the functional
departments and the Information
Department, and a test report should be
prepared. The test results are reported to
the departmental leaders, and the update
is applied in the official system after
approval is granted by the departmental
leaders. In addition, data recovery tests
are conducted every six months to verify
the effectiveness of backup data. This
helps ensure that data can be recovered
in a timely manner and that business
operations can be maintained in the
event that data is lost or damaged.

Response to interruptions due to
system failure: We are committed to
solving system failures and restoring
normal operations within 12 hours
following full-scale interruptions. If
the system still runs despite a serious
problem, we solve the problem within
24 hours to mitigate the impact on the
business. For a failure that affects system
efficiency but does not affect system
operations, we solve the issue within 48
hours.
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> Emergency plan: If a catastrophic
event occurs, we restore the system using
the snapshot backup, or through local
data import recovery or remote data
import recovery. During interruptions,
all operations are recorded locally and
exported to the property management
system after the system is restored.

>  Cyber-attack: The system administrator
of the Information Department
disconnects a server from the external
network at once if the server is found to
be facing a cyber-attack and reinforces
the firewall via the remote control
server. The latest security patches are
installed when anti-virus procedures are
complete. As mentioned above, during
interruptions, all operations are recorded
locally and exported to the system after
the system is restored.

During the Reporting Period, we obtained
the GB/T 22080-2016/I1SO/IEC 27001:2013
Information Security Management System
Certification. This milestone is a testament
to the significant efforts we have made in
the field of information security, and it also
demonstrates our determination to protect the
data security of our customers, partners and
employees. Going forward, we will continue
to improve the efficiency of our information
security management system and provide
secure and reliable information services for our
customers, partners and employees.
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Listening to opinions for improvement
Our success depends on the satisfaction of
householders. To uncover weak points in our
services, the Group makes every effort to
listen to the voices of householders in order
to increase their satisfaction and improve our
service quality. During the Reporting Period,
we received a total of 221 valid complaints
and properly addressed all related issues.
The Group per forms owner satisfaction
assessments with regard to property services
in a variety of ways and conduct owner
satisfaction surveys in several levels, namely
a comprehensive survey conducted by the
Group at the end of each year, an interim
sample survey conducted by the Company,
a monthly telephone sample survey and
a quarterly communication with owners’
committees. Through the multidimensional
survey data we acquire, we perform overall
and specific assessments on the work quality
and achievements of each service centre.
The Group regards each survey as a valuable
opportunity for communication to understand
the actual needs of owners. The Group makes
vertical comparison between results of annual
satisfaction surveys, so as to improve our
services and address the needs of owners.

In 2024, Binjiang Service conducted a
satisfaction survey through electronic
qguestionnaires regarding various services and
management aspects, including customer
service, engineering maintenance, order
maintenance, cleaning and landscaping,
community cultural activities, and complaint
management. A total of 305 projects were
included in this survey. Data from various
aspects indicate that owners are relatively
satisfied with the services provided by
our Group. Going forward, we will serve
homeowners with commitment and
enthusiasm and respond proactively to their
opinions and suggestions. We will coordinate,
communicate and work with various units to
improve service quality and win more support,
recognition and trust from homeowners.
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Brand Building and Public Opinion
Management

The Group attaches great importance to brand
building. A series of systems and management
measures have been formulated to timely
understand the market performance and
operational status of the company or projects,
so as to make more precise adjustments.

In terms of public opinion management, we
have established a public opinion management
system. By collecting and analyzing a large
amount of public opinion data, the system can
monitor potential or ongoing negative events
related to the company or projects in real time,
providing the Group with valuable information
on project operation trends, public demands,
brand image, etc. This enables us to respond
promptly and effectively solve problems,
thereby reducing the negative impact on
the Group’s brand reputation and project
operations.

The Group strictly controls the selection
of suppliers for material procurement and
service outsourcing, and its purchase control
procedures have clearly specified rules for
supplier selection, the procurement process,
and verification of purchased products and
suppliers’ services. At the same time, through
effective communication, we constantly
consolidate and expand our partnerships with
suppliers to stabilise supply channels and
ensure the supply quality.
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Annual evaluations for procurement
management

In 2024, the Group further improved its
management efficiency by improving the
procurement system, expenditure control
standards, cost budget control standards,
promoting the construction of information
technology and intelligence, optimizing the
precise energy consumption control system.
To further strengthen supplier management
and procurement control, the Group
updated its supplier management system
and implemented supplier evaluation and
assessment standards. Depending on different
procurement categories and needs, the
procurement department manages the bidding
plan in a unified manner. According to the
tiered procurement model, executives from
the Group’s management level and regional
management level are invited to determine
the bidding for the Group’s centralized
procurement, daily and annual evaluations
of suppliers are set up to strengthen supplier
management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
terminated partnerships with 6 suppliers
primarily due to their failure to meet service
quality standards, refusal to fulfil quotations;
none of the suppliers were terminated due
to environmental or social factors. After the
shortlisting review and screening, the Group
successfully introduced more high-quality new
suppliers. In 2024, 58 new suppliers were
added, injecting new vitality into the Group’s
business development. As at the end of 2024,
a total of 476 suppliers were included on the
Group's collective procurement list, up by 12%
compared to 424 suppliers as at the end of
2023.
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procurement

The Group has established a multi-dimensional
supplier evaluation mechanism to assess
the qualifications of suppliers in multiple
dimensions. When selecting suppliers, the
Group has relevant system and practice
for selecting suppliers of environmentally
friendly products and requiring suppliers to

£ Bk

2HE’J and environmentally friendly products for
service centres to select. The Group requires
that large cleaning equipment, such as floor
scrubbers and sweepers, run on lithium
batteries and Internet of Things. The Group
follows up product information and sign
contracts in a timely manner to standardise
service centres’ To further
strengthen its procurement and management
of environmental protection products, the
Group also requires that such equipment be
purchased from the shop. In this way, the
Group ensures that environmentally friendly
products are purchased through the proper
procurement channels, which gradually
increases the share of these products in overall
procurement and promotes the Group’s green
procurement and sustainable development
strategies.

fn Y

procurement.
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Responsible procurement

The Group attaches great importance to
combatting supply chain corruption and has
taken a series of measures to ensure the
integrity and efficiency of its supply chain:

> A series of rules and regulations,
including the “Rules for Supplier
Shortlisting”, the “Rules for Procurement
Tendering”, and the “Integrity Pact”
newly revised in 2024, were formulated
and implemented. Meanwhile, the
standard procurement process was
standardized, and active participation
was made in the daily procurement
management work of projects.

> To ensure the fairness of the tendering
process, the Group has set up a special
bidding room, and ensure its openness
and transparency.

> A reporting hotline is in place to
encourage employees and suppliers to
actively report corruption and jointly
maintain the integrity of the supply chain.

In the process of supplier warehousing, we
require suppliers to sign the warehousing
commitment letter and the Integrity
Convention to ensure that the provisions of
the Integrity Convention cover all suppliers
entering the warehouse. In 2024, we updated
the provisions of the Integrity Convention and
added it as an attachment to the contract
template to further strengthen the integrity
requirements.
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In addition, the Group conducts online training
for new employees when they are recruited,
and integrity-related content is covered in
the “Binjiang Academy” course related to
the “Code of Conduct for Employees and
Management of Rewards and Punishments”.
Through such training, employees gain an in-
depth understanding of the Group's integrity-
related regulations and professional ethics
requirements, raising their awareness of the
importance of integrity and self-discipline.

The Group attaches great importance to
the suppliers’ environmental and social
governance performance. In the process of
evaluating suppliers, the Group fully considers
the supplier’'s quality, environmental and
occupational health system certification
qualifications, as well as the enterprise
reputation qualifications including corporate
image, market reputation and social
evaluation. The Group pays special attention
to suppliers that have a significant impact
on society and the environment, and exerts
influence on them in the following ways:

— The Group informs them of our
management policy in relation to quality,
the environment, and occupational health
and safety;

— The Group informs them of our
requirements regarding the environment
and occupational health and safety;

— If necessary, the Group makes a written
request to the supplier, or specifies
our requirements for environmental
protection, and occupational health and
safety management in related contracts
and agreements.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group
implemented new measures and adjusted the
evaluation criteria. The evaluation methods
mainly include two forms: interim evaluation
and year-end evaluation.

J Interim evaluation mainly focuses on
major issues that occur to suppliers in
specific projects. Once such a situation
occurs, the Procurement Department
will immediately conduct telephone
follow-ups on all projects handled by
the supplier. Based on the results of the
follow-ups, the Procurement Department
will arrange targeted interviews and
continuously track the subsequent
rectification of the supplier. Finally, a
comprehensive evaluation of the supplier
will be carried out according to the
rectification results.

° For the year-end evaluation, evaluation
questionnaires with different dimensions
will be designed according to the
categories of products or services
provided by the suppliers, and distributed
to relevant projects for evaluation. After
collecting and summarizing the evaluation
results of each project, a comprehensive
evaluation of the suppliers will be carried
out.

In addition, in order to improve the timeliness
and accuracy of the evaluation, the Group
will add a pre-project evaluation link in the
payment process. This pre-evaluation link
aims to ensure an effective evaluation of the
goods or services provided by the suppliers
before payment. If there is a decline in the
service quality of the suppliers, this link will
serve as a warning, enabling the Procurement
Department and relevant departments
to intervene in a timely manner and take
management measures.
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Upholding integrity and constantly
guarding against corruption

Misconduct in commercial activities, such
as embezzlement, bribery, extortion,
money laundering, violating the enterprise’s
interests, violating the principle of fair trade
or damaging the enterprise’s reputation,
will seriously disrupt the Group’s normal
management and operations. The Group
therefore firmly opposes and expressly
prohibits these types of misconducts.

In accordance with the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Group has specified the anti-
corruption control process in the operation
instructions, and formulated a comprehensive
and detailed anti-corruption system, including
the “Anti-fraud and Reporting System of
Binjiang Service Group Co., Ltd.”, the “Conflict
of Interest Management Measures of Binjiang
Service Group Co., Ltd.”. To enhance the
construction of a clean governance and
democratic super vision mechanism inside
the Group, we execute the system in a
comprehensive manner. The system has a
zero-tolerance policy, and the Group works to
ensure the system has no blind spots. The anti-
corruption system is based on macro planning,
the enterprise’s real circumstances, temporary
and permanent goals, and short and long-term
goals.

The Group also conducts anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering training for the member
of the Board and key management personnel,
make sure they know the consequences of
conflicts of interest and corruption and bribery,
and ensure that directors and employees are
familiar with and understand the policies and
procedures formulated by the Group to prevent
corruption and bribery, and understand the
price of corruption.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has
obtained the 1S037001:2016 Anti-bribery
Management System Certification. The
certification is a recognition of the Group’s
anti-bribery work, and also an engine driving
continuous improvement of our anti-bribery
management in the future. We will continue
to adhere to the principles of integrity, fairness
and transparency, constantly strengthen
anti-bribery management, and contribute to
the Group’s sustainable development and
performance of social responsibilities.

Improving reporting channel and
mechanism to prevent corruption

In August 2017, the Group established an
internal discipline supervision and inspection
team. The Group set up a super vision and
report bulletin boards at the headquarter and
service centres, and provided contact phone
numbers, mailboxes and mailing addresses to
ensure that any unfair actions or disciplinary
violations within the Group can be effectively
communicated through open channels. At
the same time, the Group encourages reform
and innovation and has sought to enhance
the supervision and management of the
enterprise’s assets by establishing a restraint
mechanism. We also enhanced the corporate
governance structure to enable checks and
balances. We work to improve the enterprise
management personnel selection system,
and we have established a standardised
employment mechanism. In this way, we can
prevent and control instances of corruption
from the very start.
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Reporting channel:

> Email (fwb@hzbjwy.com), hotline (+86-
0571-81636118 or +86-18069443911),
and correspondence (Floor 12, Building
1, New City Time Square, No. 189, East
Fenggi Road, Jianggan District, Hangzhou
City)

Reports involving general staff and
management personnel (including the
management of holding subsidiaries) shall
be reported after preliminary assessment
by the discipline supervision and inspection
team and escalated to the general manager
within 7 working days. The general manager
shall report to the Audit Committee within
3 working days after his/her assessment,
then the Audit Committee shall decide on
whether there should be further investigation.
The Audit Committee may engage external
auditors or third-party agencies to assist in
the investigation if necessary. The discipline
supervision and inspection team shall make a
preliminary assessment within 7 working days
after receiving the report, to initially determine
whether it is a false or malicious charge, then
report the results to the general manager, and
copy the Human Resource Department for
filing.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not receive any complaint or report regarding
anti-corruption.
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The Group is committed to building a
harmonious and inclusive relationship between
the enterprise and communities. In daily
operational management, the Group takes into
consideration the community’s interests and
the needs of residents and actively organises
various kinds of community activities. While
cultivating a sense of belonging for residents,
we also seek to realise social corporate
benefits at a higher level.

Pay attention to people’s livelihood and
revitalise the countryside

In order to adhere to the assistance principle of
“people’s livelihood first, mutual benefit, win-
win cooperation, and common development”,
the Group has adopted measures such as
allocating more resources to impoverished
villages, providing support for projects, and
establishing mechanisms, to strengthen
cooperation and exchanges with impoverished
villages and make the comprehensive strength
of villages to a new level. During the Reporting
p * Period, Binxiang Mall under Binjiang
Service, in collaboration with the community
partners of “Sister Fan Helps” ((GB RBAEIT))
on Qianjiang Channel, launched the “Golden
Autumn Common Prosperity Bazaar” activity.
The aim was to bring a rich and colorful feast
of local specialty products from Zhejiang to
the property owners. Binxiang Mall carefully
evaluated and strictly selected a series of
authentic Zhejiang — featured products for
users, covering seasonal fruits and vegetables,
high — quality agricultural and sideline
products, as well as home care products. For
example, fresh duck eggs without fishy smell
and antibiotics, Xianju chickens with unique
flavor, Jinma New Year cakes with delicate
taste, and plump — fleshed Fenghua honey
peaches. These products won unanimous
praise and high acclaim from the property
owners for their unique quality and taste.
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During the Reporting Period, we set up 23 bins
for recycling waste batteries, and successfully
recycled 0.15 tons of waste batteries,
significantly reducing environmental pollution.
Meanwhile, we placed 10 bins for recycling
used books, magazines and paper; and a tota
of 0.15 tons of used books, magazines and
paper have been recycled so far. In addition,
in order to support charities, we placed 107
bins for recycling clothes; and a total of 5.43
tons of used clothes have been recycled so
far to help people in need. These measures
demonstrate our environmental awareness
and sense of social responsibility, and lay a
solid foundation for the Group’s sustainable
development. In 2024, we organised blood
donation drives in properties under our
management, which were positively received
and drew significant employee participation.
In total, 191 employees participated in the
blood donation drives, and donated 52,450
ml of blood, making a positive contribution to
society.
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Case: Party Members of Binjiang Service Donate Blood to Save Lives
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On the afternoon of October 24, 2024, the Party branch of Binjiang Service meticulously
organized a voluntary blood donation public welfare activity. This event received a warm
response and active participation from the Party members of the branch. They demonstrated
the lofty spirit of “saving lives with blood and uniting hearts through dedication” with
their practical actions. According to statistics, during this blood donation activity, the Party
members of the branch donated a total of 1,800 milliliters of blood, fully demonstrating the
love and sense of social responsibility of the Party members.
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Handyman services for owners

As China has entered an aging society,
property service providers need to care
more about the elderly and provide more
convenience for owners who have the elderly
to take care of. The Group has been providing
services for the benefit of the people, and has
carried out a number of popular activities with
high participation of senior owners.
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Case: Love on Chongyang Festival: They Persist in Serving a Bowl of Longevity
Noodles!
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On Chongyang Festival, the “Ginkgo Service” activity of Binjiang Service was carried out
successively in various communities. Multiple service centers such as Qiandao Lake Oriental
Coast, Qiandao Lake Peninsula Impression, and Hangzhou City Star insisted on cooking
longevity noodles for elderly property owners on Chongyang Festival. Among them, the
property management staff at Qiandao Lake Oriental Coast have been making longevity
noodles with dried beancurd and shredded pork for elderly property owners for six
consecutive years, which has been praised by the owners. The Binjiang Service Center will live
up to the trust of the property owners, continuously provide good services, and achieve the
transmission of warmth.

WEMKN BIRBHERARRT During the Reporting Period, Binjiang Service
= R R #1,3343% - & £66,7008 has carried out a total of 1,334 service
AR ERE ERBPLAMRE activities to benefit the people, covering
FHNEFEREH®#T - RINERR more than 66,700 persons. In terms of
B REANCEETHERHE B home-based care for the elderly, the Group
BREZRIETIEY - provides the elderly with reassuring services

and care. Our service centres provide various
handyman services to elderly residents in local
communities during our daily operation to find
solutions for home care of elderly residents.
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Diversified community activities

Binjiang Service has followed the tradition of
holding cultural activities during anniversaries
or festivals, each service centre organises
unique cultural activities that meet the
homeowners’ needs, wishes and satisfaction
based on the Group’s central planning. In
addition to traditional outdoor movie shows
and other on-site activities, we are also trying
new forms, such as organising activities such
as flea markets. We conduct satisfaction
surveys on the cultural activities held in
community during holidays for continuous
improvement.

In 2024, the service centres of the projects
under the management of the Group held a
total of 2,199 community cultural activities
during holidays, covering more than 210,000
person-times.
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National — style Dragon Boat Festival: May Goodness Come in “Zongzi”

20246 A10BmF & - BIMRBE N\ BRYEEBTERT HMEE RLYEFED
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On June 10, 2024, the Dragon Boat Festival, property management teams in various
communities of Binjiang Service organized activities such as making zongzi, sachets, and
braiding colorful ropes. These activities received an enthusiastic response and active
participation from a large number of property owners. The Dragon Boat Festival embodies
connotations such as reverence for nature, commemoration of Qu Yuan, sharing of delicious
food, and traditional Chinese medicine culture, demonstrating the charm of intangible cultural
heritage and the trend of national-style fashion.
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Case: The Summer “Fantastic Night of Light and Shadow"” for Binjiang Service
Fans: The Nostalgia of Open — air Movies!

2024 Z2H [ AEFTYRIBIRBEREXHER LTI EEERIE LERISZEHE]
SEFrEET JERAIEEAP - EFBEETRER O RETEFHAMZFINF R Ef
EHEY HDERKERMN - EAERER  ZXMBENEY EXEBRXUEENL -
During the summer vacation in 2024, the “Fantastic Night of Light and Shadow” — Binjiang
Service Open-air Film Festival set up three theme units: “Love for the Motherland and Family”,
“Love for Comedies”, and “Love for Cartoons”. Each community could choose one of these
theme units for screening, meeting the property owners’ demand for watching popular films.
Patriotic films and cartoons remained popular among them. When night fell, the property
owners gathered to watch the movies and enjoyed the cultural time in summer.
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Acting Without Hesitation and Being
Heroically Benevolent

The Group has always adhered to the concept
of actively assuming social responsibilities,
calling on front — line Binjiang business employees
to practice a sense of social responsibility and
mission through actions. Facing emergencies,
employees respond actively, charge forward,
ensure safety, and maintain the stability
of the community. This demonstrates the
noble character of the employees who live
up to their mission and are brave to take on
responsibilities, and it is also a shining spiritual
symbol in the Group’s culture.
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Case: Front — line Binjiang Service Workers Respond Rapidly, Interpreting the
Spirit of “People First, Life First"”!

2024F8H27B15K - MM T EMEETHFMNCELABYERE P OK IR L AHEZ
BN REBAARELE -BIHAKFEIERTEE-"KRABLINEEAESHK  #
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At 15:00 on August 27, 2024, the property service centers of Qianjiang Yufu and Renbin
Apartment in Shangcheng District, Hangzhou City received an urgent notice from the police
station. The police reported that someone was attempting to commit suicide. Wu Fangbin,
the order supervisor of Qianjiang Yufu, immediately ran to search around the community
and found the girl who was trying to jump into the river within five minutes. Eventually, Wu
Fangbin, the order foreman Wang Jibo, and Zhong Ronghui, the order foreman of Renbin
Apartment, cooperated with the police to pull the girl ashore, interpreting the spirit of “People
First, Life First” with their actions.
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Case: Suspicious Person Appears in a Community in Fuyang, Hangzhou; Three
Employees of Binjiang Service Receive Awards for Their Acts of Heroism
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On March 29, 2024, the service center of Shuixie Shanju, a property managed by Binjiang
Service, received a report from a community resident that a suspicious person had entered
their home. The Order Department promptly cooperated with the public security organs
to increase the frequency of community patrols and set up stakeouts. In the early morning
of March 30, the property security team members discovered the suspicious man in the
community, and handed him over to the public security organs. The heroic acts of the team
members were fully recognized and commended by both the public security organs and the
residents.
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TALENT LEADERSHIP

As a provider of property services, the Group
has consistently offered long-term and stable
employment opportunities to society, addressing a
significant number of employment challenges and
maintaining good employer-employee relationships.
Additionally, community properties have assumed
an important responsibility for maintaining law
and order. The Group is committed to achieving
safety, stability, harmony, and happiness within
communities, striving to contribute to the
maintenance of social stability.

The Group has formulated a standardised
recruitment process that ensures that
employees will be provided reasonable
remuneration, a non-discriminatory working
atmosphere, fair and just promotion
opportunities, and various training
opportunities that meet their needs for
diversified development. This process
also ensures that employees will be given
recognition and incentives based on their
performance. When we help our employees
with their career development, we are also
laying a solid foundation for the future
development of the enterprise.

Fair and equal talent recruitment

The Group adheres to the recruitment principle
of fair competition and conducts open
selections in an orderly manner. The Group
recruits employees through various channels
such as labour market fairs, online recruitment,
campus recruitment, and others. The Group
actively promotes cooperation between
schools and enterprises, implement trainee
management plans, give outstanding students
internship opportunities, and provide retention
opportunities for those with outstanding
performance.
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Campus recruitment: “Eyas Program”,
promising future

“Eyas Program” is a university students
growth program by the Group and an
important part of talent reserve strategy
of the Group. The Group divided campus
recruitment positions into two categories,
“project management” and “professional
management”, based on business
categories and conducted extensive
recruitment on students majoring in
property management, engineering and
technology, greening and gardening,
physical education and human resources.

Offline seminars: In 2024, the Group
organized 7 offline job fairs, covering
Jiangxi, Hangzhou, Jiaxing, Huzhou,
Shaoxing, Yiwu and other places, with a
total of 352 participants.

University-enterprise cooperation:
We recruit interns in a timely manner,
arrange formal pre-employment training
and retention assessment for interns
for relevant posts, clarify the selection
and retention standards of interns,
improve the entry standards of interns,
and establish cooperative relationship
with relevant colleges and universities
to meet the needs of rapid business
development and talent reserve of the
Group. Participate in offline information
sessions at cooperative institutions,
promoting students’ understanding of
our group through methods such as
hanging banners, distributing company
recruitment flyers, and hosting executive
Q&A sessions. In 2024, the Group
recruited a total of 161 interns, out of
which 39 interns successfully secured
employment opportunities within the
Group.
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> Social recruitment: We recruit
outstanding talents in the market,
continue to input advanced technology
or management concepts into the Group
to enhance the overall competitiveness of
our talents.

> Internal referrals: We encourage all
employees of the Group to participate in
recruitment and attract more outstanding
talents for the Group.

In 2024, the number of projects under our
management increased from 358 to 425,
and our demand for employees increase
significantly, which offers great employment
opportunities to the society. As of the end of
the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of
14,022 employees (2023: 11,647).

The Group has a planned and clear promotion
path for employees. We have a prioritised
promotion mechanism for internal personnel
under the same conditions to provide
guarantee for the development of employees
within the Group. During the Reporting
Period, a total of 41 mid-level staff members
(2023: 49) were promoted within the Group,
accounting for 59% of the total number
of new mid-level staff members (2023:
58%). The Group provides equal promotion
opportunities for junior staff in various
divisions to encourage them to grow and
surpass themselves, and to contribute more to
the development of the Group.
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The Group strives to make our remuneration
in line with prevailing industry rate. For
the aspects in which we lag behind other
enterprises, the Group will strive to improve to
the average level to increase the attraction for
talents for the Group. In the future, the Group
will further specify our position requirements
to recruit suitable staff and provide on-the-job
trainings to reduce turnover rate of the coming
year.

In the process of managing human resource,
the Group formulates standard working-hour
systems in strict accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China. We
provide reasonable overtime pay and subsidies
for overtime hours. We follow the regulations
on statutory holidays and arrange employees
to take vacations. For employees who must
remain on duty, such as guards, cleaners and
other special positions, we provide rest days or
overtime payment. When an employee resigns,
the Group pays compensation according to the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, as well as certain humanitarian
compensation according to the actual
situation. These measures effectively protect
the rights and interests of employees.
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HE204F K AEEEIHENXIE The employee proportion of the Group at the
P lNE end of 2024 listed below:

2024F 15 L 2023F Bkt
Proportion in Proportion in

2024 2023
4 7l Es 52.45% 51.48%
Gender Male
4 47.55% 48.52%
Female
F iR 205% AR 1.04% 1.44%
Age Under 20
20-4073% 52.85% 52.56%
20-40
4055 A £ 46.11% 46.00%
Above 40
& TWMET 87.39% 87.16%
Seniority levels Ordinary staff
MHmERAB 10.06% 10.01%
Junior managerial staff
FEEEAB 2.48% 2.74%
Middle managerial staff
aRERE 0.07% 0.09%
Senior managerial staff
= 38 B HEANE 10.62% 10.37%
Position distribution Maintenance staff
ERAE 21.88% 22.50%
Customer service Staff
®FF 26.53% 25.71%
Security staff
BR -~ AE 27.14% 25.80%
Cleaning & greening staff
EBAB 12.61% 12.84%
Management staff
HAh 1.23% 2.78%
Others
i 15 5 5 AN 96.29% 96.25%
Region Zhejiang
B! 1.08% 1.23%
Shanghai
L &R 0.73% 0.87%
Jiangsu
it} 0.57% 0.69%
Jiangxi
3= 1.18% 0.75%
Hainan
el 0.14% 0.21%
Shenzhen
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Employee benefits

The Group considers its employees to be
its most important asset and strives to
give them maximum and meticulous care.
We try to make it so that they feel they
are part of a warm family when they are
working in the Group. According to the
specific needs of our employees, we provide
significant benefits for them in various ways.
We care about what our employees think,
and we are eager to meet their needs. We
provide them with the following benefits:
lunch allowance, accommodation, festival
gifts, physical examinations, heatstroke
prevention, targeted financial relief and
employee insurance. To protect the health
and safety of its people, the Group has
purchased additional commercial insurance
for employees. As of the end of the Reporting
Period, the total number of participants in
commercial insurance programs amounted to
23,630. Among them, 6,122 were covered
by employer liability insurance, 6,620 were
covered by employee health insurance, and
10,888 were covered by accident insurance.
These insurance policies provide all-round
coverage and protect the rights and safety of
employees, giving our people a strong sense
of security in their work and life. During the
Reporting Period, the Group provided quality
dormitory accommodations for employees.
We have a total of 302 dormitories, which
can accommodate 2,142 employees. These
accommodations ensure that our employees
can enjoy a comfortable and safe environment
after work.
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To fulfil its corporate social responsibility,
Binjiang Services has continuously
implemented employee care programs, taking
systematic measures to help employees
overcome life challenges. Every December,
we conduct a comprehensive care survey for
all employees, focusing on understanding the
actual difficulties faced by employees and their
families. The survey covers multiple dimensions
including family conditions, health issues, and
economic burdens, aiming to fully understand
employee needs. For employees who indeed
face difficulties, we will submit special
assistance applications to the Binjiang Group
Sunshine Public Welfare Fund. The Sunshine
Public Welfare Fund adheres to the principles
of openness, fairness, and justice, conducting
strict review procedures for all assistance
applications in January of the following
year. Through meticulous assessment, the
foundation carefully determines the amount
of assistance based on the specific degree of
difficulty each employee faces, ensuring that
every cent of care funding is used to maximum
effect. In 2024, this program successfully
provided timely assistance to five employees
within our group who were facing special
difficulties.

The Group reviewed the above welfare system
and employee needs on a regular basis and
ensured multiple measures and policies have
been applied. These measures allowed the
employees to feel the care and warmth of the
Group, and effectively alleviated the problem
of staff turnover in the property service
industry under current environment.
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During the Reporting Period, the turnover rates
are as follows. As the Group is in the property
service industry, the main lost employees are
security personnel and cleaners and other
grassroots employees. In this regard, the
Group has taken measures such as adjustment
of standard wages for posts, reasonable
arrangement of employee shifts, and taken
a number of care and welfare measures for
employees, so that the relevant turnover rate is
lower than the average level in the industry.

BRHEED
By geographical location
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Zhejiang Shanghai Jiangsu Jiangxi  Hainan Shenzhen

20245 1576 18.05 0.34
2024
2023F 18.70  20.06 0.31
2023

BEER REER

AEBBERERB(PEARKANE
BEHEXPEARANMELSEHER
FOIRCREARKAMBEHL S REIE)
FERMEEAZEAREZR  REETA
AiEn  WEHEEHEBEMETHM
B ERENEEAES - 8
EAFEHRR  AEEBRRKRE
BTl hk—<EER2EEE -

13.49

13.99

32.62 0.40 0.24 0.15 0.26 0.15

37.39 0.55 033 0.1 = 010

Legal compliance and rights protection
In strict accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China, such as the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the
Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Group protects the lawful rights
and interests of their employees. The Group
and its subsidiaries pay salaries on time, pay
social insurance premiums and housing fund
for employees. As of the end of the Reporting
Period, our social insurance and housing fund
fully covered all employees except for those
who have retired but were recruited again by
the Group or its subsidiaries.
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To ensure that employees do not face
discrimination, harassment or injuries in the
workplace, the Group has formulated and
implemented a series of policies and measures:

> Anti-discrimination and anti-harassment
policies have been explicitly formulated
and published to ensure that every
employee fully understands these
policies.

> To enhance employees’ awareness of
workplace discrimination and harassment,
the Group regularly holds training and
educational activities to help employees
understand the definition and types
of discrimination and harassment, the
potential harm posed by these issues, and
how to effectively prevent and respond to
workplace discrimination and harassment.

> The Group’s management personnel
strive to act as role models in the strict
implementation of anti-discrimination
and anti-harassment policies. They are
committed to creating a fair and just
workplace and to ensuring that each
employee is respected and protected.

In terms of attendance management, the
Group has established the “Gaia” attendance
management platform and the Jiayang
system to centrally manage attendance data,
automatically calculate salaries, improve
attendance management efficiency, and fairly
safeguard employee rights and interests. In
2024, the Group achieved 100% coverage
of facial recognition systems for attendance
management. By the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group had deployed a cumulative
total of 528 facial recognition machines,
representing an increase of 138 units
compared to last year.
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The Group attaches great importance to the
communication among employees, care much
about them, and creates an equal, respectful
and harmonious working environment for
them. We maintain an atmosphere of harmony
and common progress within the Group, listen
carefully to employees’ valuable opinions and
make improvements according to the opinions,
and continuously improve employees’ sense of
belonging and satisfaction.

In 2024, the Group conducted two satisfaction
surveys of front-line employees and lower
and middle management, which covered
employees’ satisfaction with their work
environment and work arrangements, their
feelings regarding team management and the
care demonstrated by leadership, as well as
their personal opinions and suggestions for the
Group. As of the end of the Reporting Period,
the average overall satisfaction score was 97.

Going forward, the Group will continue to
broaden the communication channels for
employees, improve the establishment of
the employee rights protection system, and
continue to pay attention to the needs and
feedback of employees in work and life.
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Prohibition of forced labour and child
labour

Young children represent the future of the
country, and their healthy growth must be
protected in all walks of life throughout the
country. In accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China, such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Minors
and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Child
Labour, the Group and its subsidiaries explicitly
prohibit the employment of persons under
the age of 18 and conduct strict examinations
in the recruitment process so as avoid the
employment of underage individuals. The
human resources department of the Group
conducts random checks on the employment
situation from time to time. If child labour
is found, the relevant internal personnel will
be held accountable and reported to the
regulatory authorities.

The Group fully respects the freedom of its
employees and does not conduct any improper
activities, such as withholding their valid
certificates, collecting deposits, engaging in
forced labour or defaulting on remuneration
during the period of employment. The
Group has also set up an internal supervision
mechanism to ensure that no breaching
behaviour will occur.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has
no underage employment or forced labour
occurred.
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The Group attaches great importance to the
health of employees and the safety of the
working environment. We have stipulated
control procedures for environmental safety
operations and occupational health and safety
operations in the “enterprise management
manual”. The Group strictly abides by relevant
laws and regulations such as the Work Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases, and the Norms for the Management
of Labour Protective Articles for Employers, so
as to provide employees with a safe, healthy
and comfortable working environment.

Protective gears

The Procurement Department purchases
safety protection equipment regularly,
and the purchased products are required
to be designated with the product safety
qualification identification mark issued by the
national testing institution. The division is not
allowed to buy unqualified products. Public
protective equipment is kept in special custody
to ensure that each service centre can respond
effectively and in a timely manner in the event
of an emergency. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has strengthened procurement
management through centralized procurement
by the Procurement Department, with
cumulative safety production expenditures
amounting to approximately RMB4.47 million.
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Occupational health system and
employees’ health

Physical health and personal safety are the
basic guarantees necessary for people to
pursue a better life. The Group adheres
to this people — oriented concept and
attaches importance to the health of its
employees. In addition to providing regular
physical examinations to employees, the
Comprehensive Management Division
establishes health records for all staff and
workers, and cooperates with other divisions
to identify, prevent and treat diseases in
accordance with the Law on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases of the
People’s Republic of China, so as to ensure
early diagnosis and treatment of any potential
diseases.

The construction of the Group’s occupational
health and safety management system has
achieved its initial results, and the system has
obtained GB/T45001-2020 and 1SO45001:2018
certification.

In the past three years, there were 1 work-
related deaths, neither of which occurred in
2024 (2023: 0, Rate of work-related deaths
in 2023: 0%; 2022: 1, Rate of work-related
deaths in 2022: 0.010%). Work-related injuries
in 2024 were as follows:

20245 20234
2024 2023

ERITHBAREML:A)

Number of work-related

injuries (unit: persons) 8 5

ERTHBERTHEAR
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Lost days due to work injury 715 564
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In order to further strengthen the safety
management of the Group, raise the safety
awareness of employees, and ensure the safety
of the Group's property and employees’ lives,
the Group organises employees to receive
safety training on a regular basis. In 2024,
the Group has carried out one safety incident
emergency drills, and the topics of staff
safety education and training include safety
categories including:

@ Electric vehicle, vocational safety
education

@ Emergency and incident training

®  Fire protection and safety training

The total training time was 49,396 hours,
and the total number of participants was
12,328, among which the proportion of male

employees was 76%, and the proportion of
female employees was 24%.
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Modern enterprises compete in terms of
talents. As the advancement of knowledge
and technology accelerate, enterprises
are required to innovate continuously and
introduce new technologies and philosophy
through staff training. Staff training enhances
the understanding of enterprise decision and
executive ability of staff and enables our staff
to familiarize with our management philosophy
and advanced management approach. The
advancement of our staff strengthens our
competitiveness continuously.

In the past year, the Group has issued the
“Operation Guidelines for New Employee
Induction Training, the Development Plan”
and “Operation Guidelines for the Eyas
Plan”, and the “Management Measures for
the Recruitment, Training and Retention
of Interns”, “Operating Rules on Star
Housekeeper Rating (2022)” and the
“Mentorship Management System (2022
version)”. It is committed to regulating staff
training and improving the staff training
system, formulating an exclusive development
path for each employee, stimulating the
potential of employees, and supporting their
development, so as to further facilitates the
talent development efforts and helps the
Group retain outstanding talents and achieve
long-term development.
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The Group has taken a series of important
measures to promote equal opportunities
and employee diversity. To better understand
employees’ talent and potential, during
interviews with employees, the Group
pays special attention to the workplace
competencies and management potential they
exhibit in their current positions. Moreover,
the Group provides different training paths for
different calibres of employees:

> Leadership talent: The Group delivers a
series of training courses that provide a
learning map for employee promotions
and positions. Employees are required to
complete the corresponding courses, pass
examinations, engage in job reporting
and succeed in promotion interviews to
ensure that they have the knowledge and
skills required for promotion to higher
positions.

> Management talent: The Group
conducts weekly and quarterly follow-
up interviews with management trainees
(the “MTs") through personal reporting
and case analysis, and provides MTs
with opportunities to communicate with
mentors, with a view to improving their
management capabilities and effectively
preparing them for future management
positions.

These measures are designed to promote
the personal growth and development of
employees, while also improving the efficiency
and competitiveness of the Group’s overall
team.
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Talent echelons for career development
The Group anticipates talent demand based
on its business development and identifies
external engagement needs based on the
status of human resources. The Group
completed a well-established chain for training
talents, which include the Set Sail Scheme
designed for training new joiners, the Voyager
Scheme designed for training professionals,
and the Navigator Scheme designed for
training core staff members. The Group
continued to perform scientific training for
and evaluation on staff at different stages and
posts based on their capabilities, personalities
and career development needs to select talents
to form a talent echelon and establish a sound
talent development mechanism.

> Set Sail Scheme

For the newly recruited grass-root’s
employees such as butlers, engineering
personnel, security personnel and
cleaners, the Group provides them with
general courses and training materials
required for specific posts in accordance
with the “Operation Guidelines for New
Employee Pre-job Training”:

> general courses: corporate culture,
human resources system, and
etiquette;

> training materials required for
specific posts: post introduction,
post safety knowledge.

In order to help new employees quickly
master the skills required for posts, their
instructors will guide them according to
the “Task List”. The project managers
and the instructors will jointly check and
review whether the new employees have
mastered the required skills according
to the “Appraisal Form for Employees in
Performing Tasks”.
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> Navigator Scheme

>

Eagle Plan

For new management personnel,
the Group designs training programs
based on their competency models,
provide systematic training as
well as asking them to put what
they have learned into practice,
so as to continue to build a talent
pool. We conduct offline training
for management personnel, and
let them learn independently on
the online plat form, and make
task list for them according to

job requirements to improve their

business capability and management
capability.

Tercel Plan

For new project managers,
according to the needs of the
Group’'s strategic development
and the establishment of a talent
echelon, the Group focuses our
training on three aspects: changing
cognition, teamwork, and ability
improvement. We have developed
12 targeted training courses, and
formulated diversified and long-
term training programs with mentor
providing guidance and these
programs help the Group to develop
talents from within.

Third Phase of the Eagle Training
Program: A total of 357 participants
engaged in the training, with 287
valid questionnaires received. The
participation rate in the satisfaction
survey was 80.4%, and the average
satisfaction score was 9.84.
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Fourth Phase of the Eagle Training
Program: A total of 122 participants
engaged in the training, with 106
valid questionnaires received. The
participation rate in the satisfaction
survey was 86.88%, and the
average satisfaction score was 9.93.

Eyas Program

The Group is fully aware of the
significance of cultivating campus recruits
for improving business quality and project
management, and therefore continues
to enhance the system and optimize
the process of the management trainee
program. This training plan boasts the
following highlights:

1. Through standard and procedural
training under a half-year
mentorship program, a talent
echelon has been built to provide
a pool of talents for the Group's
future development.

2. Theories are put into practice
under mentors’ guidance for
comprehensive development of
management trainees: mentors train
management trainees in six areas
of online self-study, on-the-job
practice, weekly journal, interview,
reading and work reporting over
half a year.
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In 2024, the Eyas Program campus
promotion activities were successfully
conducted. They mainly included the
following content:

Conducting specialized lectures at
Hangzhou Vocational and Technical
College and Zhejiang Tree Person
University.

Distributing promotional brochures
and hanging promotional banners
for preliminary promotion.

Organizing three campus seminars,
inviting company executives to
engage in face-to-face exchanges
with students, providing detailed
introductions to the project content
and prospects.

In 2024, a total of 12 leadership training
sessions were organized, with 75 trainees
passing the certification. The pass rate
was 62.5%.
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Skill Competition, Illuminate Service
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To better provide talent support for the high-quality development of enterprises, our
group has organized the 11th Skill Competition of Binjiang Service Management, using
skill competition as a training method. The competition is divided into different tracks such
as order competition, customer service competition, cleaning competition, landscaping
competition, and engineering competition, tailored to employees of various business types
within the group. This has greatly ignited the employees’ enthusiasm for the competition.

FET—ERELRAERS
The 11th Skills Competition Site
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Diversified training for targeted
development

R > Offline training
REVNEHDEICEERER In order to effectively help employees
B EBER N BES to enrich their professional skills,
IKFR B X EEMBETS expand their professional abilities, and
REBESHETRBHEALHE cultivate high-level professional ethics
HTZBAKTEIER - I and behaviours, the Group has launched
BB EEIEMETER © various types of offline training programs
AEEHHEBIMERRA for talents at different levels, and
HFNBEMETRETE organised professional training lecturers
BRRRBEQHREREEE to give lectures. The relevant departments
T WREEIE E M of the Group conducts qualification
Ro assessment on lecturers before the
training courses. After the lecture, the
trainees will rate on the quality of the
training courses to ensure their quality
and effectiveness.
#R_EIE ) > Online training

BE-STESBUNABS
B HBATEREE A%
BRETFOEISE R -
Y FA AEBSEEL
S BERBEERRET
WEZ REIEREHAE

In order to further create a learning
atmosphere in the Group and set up the
development path for talents, the Group
has continuously updated the “Binjiang
Academy”, an online training platform,
which includes standardised courseware,
learning results tracking and learning
maps, etc., so that employees can learn
by themselves.

BIREEEERAR FERE 2024
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During the Reporting Period, training
courses for induction training, star
housekeepers, supervisors and project
managers were made available on
the platform, covering 1,100 courses
on engineering, landscaping and pre-
sale customer service etiquette under
the professional lines of business and
company-level standard courses.

In 2024, we utilized the training platform
to organize 39 online examinations and
released learning maps 22 times. By
introducing an online learning platform,
we integrated training resources across
all levels of subsidiaries, effectively
improving employee training and overall
operational efficiency. To deepen the
standardization of the Group, this
year we fully implemented a vertical
training management system, where
the headquarters was responsible for
developing and updating core courses,
replacing the previously decentralized
course materials. Additionally, we
established a two-tier course certification
mechanism (headquarters — branch
companies), eliminating duplicate
content, and created an online learning
platform. Although the average training
hours per employee decreased compared
to the previous year, the completion rate
for key courses reached 100%, achieving
“unreduced standards and enhanced
efficiency,” and further meeting the
Group's growing demand for talent
development.

1
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WMEBHAN AEBHAH During the Reporting Period, the Group

61,505 A X 2 ,J\H& EE - organized training for a total of 61,505

EXREZTHTEBI - HFI participants in areas such as onboarding,

B K Z 51392,709/\BF - legal compliance, and professional skills,
with cumulative training hours reaching
392,7009.

=% R R E &8l o E FI R The percentage of training time by

B SRR PR gender and level is shown in the table
below:

2024 2023F
2024 2023

EHRHEAY FHTIRR KRSl N S SEbE =
A7l ; BOL (M)

Percentage Percentage

of the of the

corresponding corresponding

number at the number at the
end of the Average end of the Average
period training hours period training hours

RIEHET  Male employee trained 100% 6.32 100% 23.66
ZIZHET  Female employee trained 100% 6.50 100% 18.56
%EN?E 5 EEJ‘ Trained non-management 100% 6.77 100% 2237
RillE Trained management 100% 6.35 100% 14.81
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After training sessions, the Group
conducts training surveys on the training
arrangements, course content and
lecturers; and the effectiveness of the
training is evaluated based on these
training satisfaction surveys and the
course completion rates, with the goal
of ensuring participants’ mastery of the
training content and overall satisfaction
with the training. In addition, the
Group has designed a special training
feedback form for MTs that covers many
aspects, such as course content, training
instructors, training effectiveness and
training management, so that MTs have
the chance to comprehensively and
objectively evaluate the effectiveness of
training and put forward suggestions for
improvements. Moreover, we conduct
direct sample surveys of participants
to understand their opinions and
suggestions. In this way, the Group
collects participant feedback in a timely
manner in order to make significant
improvements to training courses. During
the Reporting Period, our group allocated
approximately RMB1,082,214 to support
employee training.

Going forward, the Group will further
enhance the coverage and effectiveness
of our training, especially the Training
Department’s core capability to ensure
the continued development of talents
and positive corporate culture, so that
employees and the Group can grow and
succeed together.
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DISCLOSURES
ZHETHA — KM 8COR

Governance Reporting Code”

RAE
Content

BHZ HMHAKERTE

Part B: Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BARS

Governance Structure

[ 3 /R A

Reporting Principles

Reporting Boundary

B [FETHBERIKRX

Part C: “Comply or explain” Provisions

Al BERRY)

A1 Emissions

—REE

BRERARBZERERR AARIHOHS EEREZEEVNELSH:
@ HBE:R

() BTFUBTABEAFENHEBEIZRBHNEHN -

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

AL 8 8 RAB B B B -

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

AN2ER (BE) R RAE (BEE)REREBLHENE UM E) R(PER) BE (I

NEEEEM  BEREE) - [R202551 718 B 5]

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g., per unit of production volume, per

facility). [Repealed 1 January 2025]

MIFELERERENBEUBHB)L(MERER(MASEEEN - BER

MmatE) -
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

BIRBEEARAR FERE 2024

INDEX TABLE OF GENERAL ESG

Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited — Appendix C2 “Environmental, Social and

EREFNLE
Report Content

ExeBdy
Statement of the
Board of Directors
BRAARE
Report preparation
instructions

Report preparation
instructions

328

3.2 Emissions

3.2 B
3.2 Emissions

3.2 B

3.2 Emissions

1

Note 1
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EH 2ES

Aspect Content
MAFELEZRZENRENNAB)R(NER ZE(MASESEN BER
MmatE) -

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
ASHEIRFETUMBERERRRAENELARMERNSR -
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
AMOHEEEEERREEZNNAE RELAMITVOREEERAETEYL
BREMERME R
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and nonhazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

A2 BREA —RBE
BERERERBRELR  KREMRME) A HE o

A2 Use of General Disclosure
Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

ALEBREASNEZERIEAZEER(NE Rk AREUTETRARAE) R
HEMNBESEN FRERXMHE) -

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in
total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

A 2BFKERBE(MABEEEN  BERKFE) -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

AR UM EREAREAERAEINELERMERMNS R -

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

A248E SR RERKR ERTAEERBE AR LMAKBEARKRERE
LERARRNTER -

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
A2SERmRBEMENAE UHAE)R(MER) GEEEMKLE -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ERERLE
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Note 1

3.2 B
3.2 Emissions

3280

3.2 Emissions

3.1 BRFEH

3.1 Use of
Resources

31 BRfEH

3.1 Use of
Resources
31 BRER
3.1 Use of
Resources
31 BRER
3.1 Use of
Resources

3.1 BREMA

3.1 Use of
Resources

2

Note 2
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EH AES
Aspect Content
A3 RERRA —REE
&R BEZETAHRERRAAEREXNEATENRER -
A3 The General Disclosure
Environment Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural
and Natural resources.
Resources

MIHEXBEDURERARREFNEAZELERNERERTENTDY -

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

A FIREL —BEBE
AR EUHEERUEEHETAELEYENEARGRBSENIR - [1H2025
F1R1EHR]

A4 Climate Change ~ General Disclosure
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. [Repealed 1 January 2025]
MIBEREBRIREHETAELEYEBNEARBEHBEE  REHTH - (R
2025F1 AR ]
A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. [Repealed
1 January 2025]

Bl EfE —BREE
ERFMEmE BERERN IESE RE TE#E Zal REAMX
REMTERENN

@ HR: K
b)) BFHETAREAZENRBEIERAGINES -
B1 Employment General Disclosure

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

BLIZMR ERER(M2BARE) FRANKRSEAINESEH -

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age

group and geographical region.

Bl.2#R MRl FlRAF R MRENNEERKLE -

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

ERERNLE

Report Content

3ABREREA
B

3.4 Environment
and Natural
Resources

3ABREREA
B

3.4 Environment
and Natural
Resources

3.3 Addressing
Climate Change

33EHRAERE L

3.3 Addressing
Climate Change

5.1 E1E

5.1 Employment

5.1 EfE
5.1 Employment

5.1 EfE
5.1 Employment

BIRBEEARAR FERE 2024

209



RIR - ERERME
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

EH AR ERERLE
Aspect Content Report Content
B2 REEZ 2 —RKE SIBRREREE
EARRZ2IERERREEEHEBELRSN: Z%
@ HBR: K
b)) BTHETABEAZENHRBEZRRAGNES -
B2 Health and General Disclosure 5.3 Occupational
Safety Information on: Health and
(@  the policies; and Safety
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BLIBE=F BRERFR)EFAITHMHABRLE - S3BERER
2
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 5.3 Occupational
years including the reporting year. Health and
Safety
B22RIBBRAIERE - S3IBEREE
s
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 5.3 Occupational
Health and
Safety
B3R MM B ERERAZ 2 ARBBRIREENE - SIBRRERE
%
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they 5.3 Occupational
are implemented and monitored. Health and
Safety
B3 R K& —REE 5.4 BT R
BRRNESBOTIEBREMNAARRENEEK - HAEIED - ¥R
FoEIEREEN TEEREFABHONNBRE
B3 Development General Disclosure 5.4 Employee
and Training Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Training and
Description of training activities. Development

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.

BIIRHANREERN(NEREREE HAEREF) NN IEREADSIL . SABRIREIE

IR
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 5.4 Employee
senior management, middle management). Training and
Development
B32RMAIRESERIE S  BREE KX THEH - 5.4 B TR
R
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 5.4 Employee
category. Training and
Development
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EH AR ERERNLE
Aspect Content Report Content
B4 BT %A —BRRE 5.2 BTN
BEMIEETRARHETIM:
@ HER: R
) BITHETABEATZENHRBEZRRAGNER -
B4 Labour General Disclosure 5.2 Employee Rights
Standards Information on: and Interests

(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BAR iR BB B A M E RN e ET ARSI 5.2 8T
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced 5.2 Employee Rights
labour. and Interests
BAHMAEZRERBAKERABERARRNTSR - 525 THEE
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 5.2 Employee Rights
and Interests
BS ffEME R —RRE 42 fHIERE R
ERAEENRERMEABBE -
B5 Supply Chain General Disclosure 4.2 Supply Chain
Management Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Management
BS. 1 BB DM BRI EE - 42 HEHE R
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 4.2 Supply Chain
Management

Bo.2f it B A EEMNED  mARTEREONNREFRE  UREHES 42 HEBEER
MBITRERT A -
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where 4.2 Supply Chain

the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
Bo3M A A EEGEARDBNRERMEARNEN  UREBRTRE 42 fHEEER
BRHE

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the 4.2 Supply Chain
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
BoAMMARERERSRRLARRERIRBNEN  UREBATRER 42 ftEEER
BE

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and 4.2 Supply Chain
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
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EH
Aspect

B6 EmEE

B6 Product
Responsibility

B7 REJS

B7 Anti-corruption

RS
Content

—BREE

BFHMREERNRENERESR

@ HER: R
(b) BFHET
General Disclosure
Information on:

(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to

BE BELALBEFENRBRIEN:

ANBERRENRBEZRRAHNER -

products and services provided and methods of redress.
BOIEEREREREMAETARZBRFEAMADNRNED I

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons.

Bo2REUNREMRRENRFUENRESTE -

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.
B6.3% i B 4

rights.
B6.4% &

MEER

ERRENBEEFBOED -

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property

TBERERERER -

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

BeSHMHEEENRERLBEE UREBRTRERNE -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

—REE
BAMILEE BE
@ HR: K
() HBETHEET
General Disclosure
Information on:

(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer

CRERARER

ANEEARENHRERRANNES -

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

AFEEEREYERENE SHARTOHE RFDRER

B7IR BRI M & 31T
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
M EEERBRET  UREERATRER TS -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how

B7.2%

they are implemented and monitored.
B73fimEZEREIRHEMNREIFE -
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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2
Note 2

41 EmER
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41 EmER

4.1 Product
Responsibility

2

Note 2

41 EmER

4.1 Product
Responsibility

413 RER

4.3 Anti-corruption
Measures

43 REE

4.3 Anti-corruption
Measures

43RER
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Measures

43RER
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Aspect Content
B8 HERE —REE

BRMHE2ERTREEMAHBRRENEREX LD EERLEME

B8 Community General Disclosure

Investment

interests.

BB T ERER (MHE  REFE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,

health, culture, sport).
B8.2ER

IREMPRER (WS HAEH) -

BIFL

RIR - dERERBME
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R X BF)-

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

DH7 FEHEBKE

Part D: Climate-related Disclosures
D-l A3

D-I Governance

EEE@L-F\X

RABERERMNBBOLGERE

The governance body(s) responsible for oversight of climate-related risks and

CAREEETEERRYRIE

opportunities
D-II 5 A% RIREFRRNEE
D-Il Strategy Climate-related risks and opportunities.
D-ll LR & 72 ARER - FEREABER
B R
D-Ill Risk
Management climate-related risks.

D-VIEIZ & BT
D-IVMetrics and
Targets

BERBER

Greenhouse gas emissions

21 AREENEE TSR ETELE BEFEEEY
MEERMBEERMHMNER: BEEEZRWEAEER
BXEFEmAEENRBENES  REREEEAR
MREEIHERET  AREFERETLRS -

22 AKRBARERBEBBER  ZEETER °

Note 1:

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’

RHRIE AR

\

The processes and related policies it uses to identify, assess, prioritise and monitor

MHCR

ERERLE
Report Content

AAHEBHRE

4.4 Community
Investment

LA HERE
4.4 Community
Investment
LAHERE
4.4 Community
Investment

33EHREEL
3.3 Addressing
Climate Change
33EHREENL
3.3 Addressing
Climate Change

33ERERREN

3.3 Addressing
Climate Change

33EHREEL

3.3 Addressing
Climate Change

The Group’s operations do not involve heavy industrial

production and there is no discharge of hazardous waste
or use of packaging materials; non-hazardous waste is
indistinguishable from domestic waste from owners of

projects under management and emissions are closely
related to the number of owners of the size of projects
under management and have not been accounted for in this
reporting year.

Note 2:

The Group has no relevant information for the current

Reporting Period and this indicator is not applicable.

BIRBEEARAR FERE 2024
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MBEBRRTEZAERR -

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Binjiang Service Group Co. Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Binjiang Service Group Co. Ltd. (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
226 to 370, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting
Standards”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EREE
EECRERTEGFMAS(FREFML
BEDEMNETEEREN(EBELREN)
EITEZ BERZFENRATITHNAELRA
BEKHUMAEFERASENFHRXAFAENE
F—fE— SRl BREEFLESITNIGHE
MO EX e A& TR (TR R EE
EEBMBEREAMBBERRABOEMERE
B BEFBIUN BEEE YDERERZXF
RERTARBTHEMEREE - BFHE
BEEMEGHNERREERILEEHRE
EFMERREHER -

REEXER
ARELESHAEREESNERHE  RR
BAMGEAVBRANEZRSERZNEH °
ZEERDREBEEEREREAVBHRREK
HEAERWETRE ZETHZEFEIRE
HEBHER -

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code"”) together
with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the
Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

BLRBEEGRAR FERE 2024
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B X ETH ()

SHEBEMFEIORES M B HERME
3o

BERELKEER
The Key Audit Matter

B E2024F12A31BLFE - EEEE4LE
BRAARBIARED3S547TAE T &
BWEEERY - FEF X1 E RB KS5SHE
BRBHWK A Ko & £2024F12H31
HIEFE FXFHERBFTUARAREK
565.48 & T °

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group generated total revenue of Renminbi
("RMB") 3,594.7 million which comprised
revenue from property management services,
value-added services to non-property owners
and 5S value-added services. Among which,
revenue from value-added services to non-
property owners for the year ended 31
December 2024 totaled RMB565.4 million.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(t) and note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

EEETERRNAEESE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EETHIEEFRERBURABRNERIEFERE
A& IE:

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition of
value-added services to non-property owners included
the following:

THRFE BEEEFEFFEERBUAERZ
R ARES 2R B M EEAR
understanding and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
the key internal controls over the Group’s revenue
recognition of value-added services to non-
property owners;

BRMGEEEREETFNRB AL  ATERET
it AT B %2 28 U A T R A0 1R AR R AR 1

inspecting service contracts with customers on a
sample basis to understand and assess the terms
and conditions therein which may affect the
recognition of revenue;
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s = X SR (8)

SHEFBREMNIIORGEH B RRME
3 (%)

EREXZER
The Key Audit Matter

EEEFEFTHERBENRAZTZRERE
HFmMMEIFEEBRRNBERAR(E
TIEEDUKRERBARI KBS AR( &
SEBABA)NINARERBARE -
ZERERBERT ESEMNARMYE
Mo BEEEZ2EZ2BTHBEREED
EERFHBEREHEKA -

The Group’s revenue from value-added
services to non-property owners is mainly
derived from pre-delivery services and
consulting services to Hangzhou Binjiang
Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (“Binjiang Real
Estate”) and its subsidiaries and associates,
related parties of the Group. These value-
added services contribute a significant part of
the Group's gross profit. The Group recognises
such revenue over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(t) and note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

EEETERRNAEEEREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

s HRHMEEXR BFAARNKARSEEAR
Bak BREBEIABREBEREIFEXH  HFZERE
REESRNRITAREETHE - LI HHERBK
ARBERE ESENKRABIBRRETHER

o comparing, on a sample basis, revenue transactions
recorded during the year with the underlying
service contracts, service acknowledgement
receipts and their supporting documents, invoices
and bank-in slips for settled balances and assessing
whether the related revenue had been recognised
in accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition
policies;

e RMBEEE  BRABAIFEEMNREKNEARR K
ERE R WER RIS B8 B A % =77 AR IR 15 (B
BEREMTSHEBEETER  RAEEERABTRE
EREAZENRE  ANFEEREERENSE
:|\§E :

o comparing, on a sample basis, service prices
charged to Binjiang Real Estate and its subsidiaries
and associates against service prices charged to
third parties and other market data, enquiring
of management the reasons for any significant
differences and assessing the reasonableness of
management explanations;
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BERELKEER
The Key Audit Matter

EEHIEFHERBUABRBEE R —
HHEREZEE RARKAT E5EH
REMERz— BFEATERHREABA
BRIMASAIRESBRUAABERMBERERE
HeEE &R -

We identified revenue recognition of value-
added services to non-property owners as a
key audit matter because revenue is one of
the key performance indicators of the Group
and there is an inherent risk that revenue
could be recorded in an incorrect period or
could be subject to manipulation in order to
achieve financial targets and expectations.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(t) and note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements. (Continued)

EEETERRNAEEEREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

e BFRAMBAARHEERSEMBUEXH (BIER
BHEIABBAREXFEXHRER)ETHER
A EHEARARESREEN S HB®R: &

o comparing sales transactions recorded just before
and after the year end with the relevant underlying
documents, including service acknowledgement
receipts and their supporting documents and
invoices, to assess if the related revenue had been
recognised in the appropriate accounting period;
and

s RMEEE BETHFAKRENFEXTEER
BRAERBEBENMBAFLE  AREEEE
HABARNRENREEEXMY -

o scrutinising all manual journal entries relating
to revenue of value-added servers to non-
property owners which were raised during the
year, enquiring of management the reasons for
such adjustments and inspecting underlying
documentation on a sample basis.
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EREREHE
The Key Audit Matter

M2024F12A318 - EKENE S EKRK
HEALREHEEBENEEBRE®S A
ARBANTEEBTRARKIITAETT -
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross
trade receivables and a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) amounted to
RMB421.7 million and RMB77.7 million,
respectively.

EEENBESRRARETEBRERKEE
K ) 5 % R R B B M K -

The Group’s trade receivables comprise
mainly receivables from property owners and
property developers.

B 2 AR E
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(n), note 17
and note 27(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

ESETERRNMNEEEHEEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEN B EIRRRBENTERNCEEEERENE R
BFBEETIEE:

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for
trade receivables included the following:

THEFHEFEERES BEZRKXESE K
oM REEBERBEBRAFHENETZEAN
ZHI R AT - B MEERRG

obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls relating to credit control,
segmentation of trade receivables, ageing analysis
review, and estimation of credit loss allowances;

2ERTGFENNRTE  TH EEEGBEHE
EBBRBOBXK:

evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the credit loss allowance with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standard;

THREBERANTEHEEFERERNBERH
BRER PEREBEEEERBHEESEKRK
HETHAINEE BLENBBERERER
BN R E LI EN B &

obtaining an understanding on the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by management, including the basis of
segmentation of trade receivables based on credit
loss characteristics, historical default data and
assumptions involved in management’s estimation
of loss rate;
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BB E 2 E A (E)

SHETHREMZEI)  SEHBRERH
H17R M 27(a) - (48)

EREREHE
The Key Audit Matter

EREREESRUWNENZHENREE
BEFEN S RA(ENZIBRESHRNBEHR
REERRBRFESENTRAZTFHEERR
EZRYWRBENERE  BREEBX - BRLK
BIRAKAELEER T EEEES -
Management measure the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL of trade
receivables based on the loss patterns for
different customers grouped according to the
shared credit risk characteristics, ageing of
trade receivables, historical loss rates, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information at the end of each reporting
period.

EERKESRUREBENTEREEEBERE
BMER—HBAREZEE RERKEZHEI
RENESRY BEREFRAUBREIMNSEE
BERA REHGEFENERFTERB N
THEURERTEETERBNE RHE -

We identified the ECL allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
balance of trade receivables is material to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements
and the recognition of expected credit loss is
inherently subjective and requires the exercise
of significant management judgement.

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(n), note 17
and note 27(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. (Continued)

ESETERRNMNEEEHEEE
How the matter was addressed in our audit

FEEEEBEREGRIRDES  AREETHE
BELGIAMRANEN  ERAIAELED
HERSEE URBEALHE j(//rl{&ﬁ' e
EHAMATEREXE AR EEHNE

assessing the appropriateness of management’s
estimation of loss allowance and examining
the information used by management to derive
such estimates, including testing accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating whether
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information;

BARMEEERRE  BERHEMERXHE
ﬂttf? N E RN R ERKRERSTHOIER
BERREENERREES R R
assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were categorised in the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing with the demand
notes, invoices and other relevant underlying
documentation, on a sample basis; and

BE EEENEEREEBRRENS
202412 A3BW B E# 1 -

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance
as at 31 December 2024 based on the Group’s
credit loss allowance policies.
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REVBRBRRRRBEAREUIINER

EEARHEMBERNAZREE HMEHEBHE
FR(GEMBRRLESHRBIMBREHRIN
FREL T A& # -

EERGEVBRRFLNER L EBRER
EHN BEFITEREMERBERTMAE
AMZBER -

RESEREAMBRRAME  BSNEMT
REEBEMEN KMEEEMENRELT R
RAMBEBRRIAESEEXBRETERNE
BEEEANT  SUFEFEERERRAL -

HESERBETHIERSEMERN DR
BA#ERRL - BEFRAREEHEE - slut
BEEBBEFEHRE -

EERAAMBRRARENER

EEARERBERHBRE L G ER
REBAAGHNBEATREEAERA A
MEAHBEHRE LRHEERAHELE
ARBREAMEBUENABEHRE - K
FEREEERRERERTERNE RS
SRR -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Fung Ping Kwong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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GERmRAEMEZERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

#H Z£2024%12 A318 L F/E for the year ended 31 December 2024
(AARB(TARE]D S R) (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB"))

202445 20234
2024 2023
iogz3 AR®E Tt NG BV
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
A Revenue 3(a) 3,594,714 2,809,206
85 & B AR Cost of sales (2,759,346)  (2,113,319)
EF Gross profit 835,368 695,887
Hfb g A Other revenue 4 6,043 10,779
Hib U A (E518)F % Other net income/(loss) 4 1,164 (8,651)
HEREHAS Selling and marketing expenses (24,007) (18,037)
TH R Administrative expenses (100,505) (76,357)
ZHEWHIARAY  Impairment loss on trade receivables
BEZREEE and contract assets 27(a) (10,760) (24,279)
H b Other expenses (2,216) (2,037)
meNs Profit from operations 705087 577,305
AE KA Finance income 80,272 67,402
L= YN Finance costs (122) (647)
BARAR® Net finance income 5@ 80,150 66,755
Sal (RN P | DY Share of profits less losses of
S 1B associates 1,596 6,658
DihEE B EFHE Share of profits less losses of joint
BB 18 ventures (445) 1,821
Bk B A F) 8 Profit before taxation 5 786,388 652,539
Fr 15 %t Income tax 6 (232,886) (149,508)
FEFME Profit for the year 553,502 503,031
A&7 FEfh - Attributable to:
RAR = RE Equity shareholders of the Company 546,529 492,545
E i Non-controlling interests 6,973 10,486
553,502 503,031

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



ScERmREMEZERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B £2024F12 A318 L F [Z for the year ended 31 December 2024
(LA AR ¥ %) 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

2024 2023%F
2024 2023
k=3 AR¥ T T N

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

FEF®E Profit for the year 553,502 503,031

FEHMZEmKE Other comprehensive income

(MBRBEREHR for the year (after tax and
DHEARE) reclassification adjustments)

Te&HHDBEEEFA Items that will not be reclassified to

HH : profit or loss:
BERRAPHH®/AK  Exchange differences on translation

FFEAZERZ8 of financial statements of the

Company (1,013) 711

HEAREEH H B E18 Items that may be reclassified

mEIEE : subsequently to profit or loss:
B E N B A A Exchange differences on translation

MBBHRKRMEEZ of financial statements of overseas

fE 5 =% subsidiaries (170) (163)

FEXHBRALH Total comprehensive income for

the year 552,319 503,579
LR &F B4 : Attributable to:
RAR = RE Equity shareholders of the Company 545,346 493,093
FEE IR HE Non-controlling interests 6,973 10,486

FEXEHWKZAE Total comprehensive income for
the year 552,319 503,579

BREF Earnings per share 9
EAR#E(ARBIT) Basic and diluted (RMB) 1.98 1.78

234B F $3708 2 M # k AEf & %k — The notes on pages 234 to 370 form part of these
Do ENAABI R E IR EFESHRN  financial statements. Details of dividends payable to
T5£26(c) ° equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note
26(c).

= E M
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72024912 A31H at 31 December 2024
(A A R® L% 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

20245 20234
2024 2023
M it AR% Tt N R
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - BERFZ Property, plant and equipment 10 43,405 43,423
mEE Intangible assets 11 3,212 4,147
REZERNFHKRE Investment in associates 13 6,306 10,590
REeEEtENKRE Investment in joint ventures 2,976 3,421
R IEE E Deferred tax assets 25(b) 35,782 33,926
F H 17 R Time deposits 18 1,081,425 1,352,304
SEENE @] Prepayments 14 3,543 1,901
7777777777777777777777777 1,176,649 1,449,712
REBEE Current assets
FE8 Inventories 15 290,053 244,752
BHEE Contract assets 16 = 22,422
5N HMEWFHIE  Trade and other receivables 17 590,221 545,346
E H 17 3R Time deposits 18 941,074 279,347
EAFEFABER Financial assets measured at fair value

(DA FEFTAEBE])  through profit or loss (“FVPL")

MNEeREE 19 301,623 =
=R &R 1T 45 85 Restricted bank balances 20 68,329 57,939
HekBEeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 890,658 1,455,384

77777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 3,081,958 2,605,190
REBEE Current liabilities
aHaRE Contract liabilities 22 1,555,366 1,555,798
ZH5REMEFMFIE  Trade and other payables 23 1,008,995 847,158
HEAE Lease liabilities 24 1,564 2,368
B EA 7% 18 Current taxation 25(a) 86,626 86,340
2,652,551 2,491,664
REBEEFHE Net current assets 429,407 113,526
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

72024912 A31H at 31 December 2024
(A A R L5 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

20245 20234
2024 2023
iogz3 ARE Tt N S
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MEERABEE Total assets less current
liabilities 1,606,056 1,563,238
kRBER Non-current liabilities
HEARE Lease liabilities 24 1,082 1,655
EERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 25(b) 13,100 20,000
14,182 21,655
EEFHE NET ASSETS 1,591,874 1,541,583
BEXREE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
% 7R Share capital 26(b) 181 181
f# Reserves 26(d) 1,528,779 1,488,266
AATEZREREM  Total equity attributable to
nER equity shareholders of the
Company 1,528,960 1,488,447
I = IR RE & Non-controlling interests 62,914 53,136
R TOTAL EQUITY 1,591,874 1,541,583

B 2025438258 & & =2 # f &% #E T
% o

)

AR )

BEE ) E=x
)
)

F234E FF370E 2 W iF B A RS 3R K —

BB e

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 25 March 2025.

YU Zhongxiang

ZHONG Ruogin Directors

—_ — ~— ~— ~—

The notes on pages 234 to 370 form part of these
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#H Z£2024%12 A318 L F/E for the year ended 31 December 2024
(LA AR ¥ 7851 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

ARRERRFER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
TEAR
£AE
([mE))
ke RHEE ErgE  AREE  EXRE  GRME gt FEkER RER
The
People’s
Republic
of China
("PRC") Non-
Share Share Capital statutory Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests ~ Total equity
f#  ARETR  AR%Tn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETn  ARETT  ARETR
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WS 26(e)i) Bt 26(a)(i)
note 26(d)(ii)  note 26(d)fji)
R0BF1A1AH  Balance at
&8 1 January 2023 181 82,847 (65,765) 67,720 394 1160877 1,246,254 40,05 1,286,308
WBEHES Changes in equity
25 for 2023;
EETIE Profit for the year = = = = — 4955 492,545 10,486 503,031
Ef2E4NE Other comprehensive
income — — — — 548 — 548 - 548
2ENELE Total comprehensive
income = = = = 548 492,545 493,093 10,486 503,579
KERELT Acquisition of
i ER additional interests in
a subsidiary - - 1) - - - 1) (339) (340)
BAEEHER  Dividends declared
k& in respect of the
previous year 26(c)21(c) - - - - - (250,899)  (250,899) - (250,899)
BRTETHE  Appropriation to
statutory reserve - - - 44,49 - (44,496) - - -
FERREEE  Capital injection from
non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - 6,776 6,776
FERRRM Dividends to non-
k& controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - (2.175) 2,175
HEHBAR Disposal of  subsidiary = = = = = = = (1,666) (1,666)
2023128318 Balance at 31
k3 December 2023 181 82,847 (65,766) 112,216 942 1,358,027 1,488 447 53,136 1,541,583
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B £2024F12 A318 L F [Z for the year ended 31 December 2024

kx  R#ER

Share Share

capital ~ premium

VEal AR ARETR
Note RMB'000  RMB'000

R024E1A18%  Balance at 1 January
&8 2024 181 82,847

2EHEE  Changes in equity

29: for 2024:
ERHE Profit for the year = =
Eh2Eks Other comprehensive
income - -

(A A R® T3 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

AARRERRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
HE
EARE  iERE  ENRE  EEAE g FERER
PRC Non-
Capital  statutory  Exchange Retained controlling Total
Teserve  reserves reserve profits Total interests equity
AR¥TR ARMTR ARBTn ARETR ARMTr ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
HizE26(d)i) i &E26(a) i)
note 26(d)(ii)  note 26(d)(ii)

(65766) 112,216 942 1358027 1,488,447 53,136 1,541,583

= = = 546,529 546,529 6,973 553,502

= = (1.183) = (1.183) = (1.183)

2ENEEE Total comprehensive
income - -

- - (1183) 546,529 545,346 6,973 552,319

BEEEHERE  Dividends declared
k& in respect of the

previous year 26(0021(c) = =
KEEHERRE  Dividends declared

in respect of the

current year 26(0021(c) = =
RZETHE  Appropriation to

statutory reserve - -
FERRFEE  Capital injection from

non-controlling

shareholders - =
FERBREOKRE  Dividends to non-

controlling

shareholders - =
HERB A Disposal of subsidiaries - =

= = — (s (3574 - (357
= = —  (15908)  (159,089) - (159,089)
- 15 - (1599 - - _
= = = = = 8954 8954

_ _ - - - M) (59
_ _ _ - - (900) (900)

2024512318 Balance at 31
i December 2024 181 82,847

(65.766) 128,205 (41) 1383734 1,528,960 62,914 1,591,874

F234EEFI70E Z M EBR AT B RK —

%B aN

The notes on pages 234 to 370 form part of these
financial statements.
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GERTRER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

#H Z£2024%12 A318 L F/E for the year ended 31 December 2024
(A A R® L% 7R) (Expressed in RMB)

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
M it AR¥ Tt NG R
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ReEFTH Operating activities
KEELXNIR S Cash generated from operations 21(b) 802,570 1,107,756
BB ZEMESH  PRC Corporate Income tax paid 25(a) (241,356) (178,864)
RETHEENESE  Net cash generated from
- ERE operating activities 561,214 928,892
REEH Investing activities
BEWE BEX Payments for the purchase of
LHEARERLEE property, plant and equipment
BN and intangible assets (26,001) (24,848)
HEME BER Proceeds from disposal of property,
RAEFT 1S RIE plant and equipment 8,419 1,003
HEKB QAR Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash
NBREEMNRS disposed (900) (734)
REEEENRE Payments for investment in a joint
ES venture — (400)
ML RARTEE Payment for capital injection in an
B associate (980) —
U B —MEBEE2EH  Payments for acquisition of interests
E= of one entity — (340)
BERAFEIA Payments for purchase of FVPL
= End:OKN (300,000) —
FREIBFABE=MA  Payments for time deposits with
8 E B 7 A K original maturity over three
months (1,374,789) (1,317,187)
FREIBBREBE=1MA  Proceeds from maturity of time
B E B 7 K AT 1R deposits with original maturity
I8 over three months 1,029,515 130,000
2 B Interest received 48,180 38,848
B ke — e Capital reduction received from an
UNEI ¥ associate — 4,000
BB Z R A2  Dividend received from associates
% B 8,390 1,530
REZHMARS Net cash used in investing
F 8 activities (608,166)  (1,168,128)



GERERER

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

B £2024F12 A318 L F [Z for the year ended 31 December 2024
(A A R TT57R) (Expressed in RMB)

B it
Note

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®S Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB'000

- Financing activities
FEERERIEE Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests 8,954 6,776
ENHEHEEHWEAR  Capital element of lease rentals paid
=i 21(c) (1,856) (1,153)
ENHEREHFE  Interest element of lease
i rentals paid 21(c) (122) (59)
B E Dividends paid 26(c) (504,833) (259,208)
FEIE IR AR SR &Y AR B Dividends to non-controlling
shareholders (5,249) (2,175)
METHMARS Net cash used in financing
F activities (503,106) (255,819)
ReERBEEEY Net decrease in cash and
AR cash equivalents (550,058) (495,055)
MAIENER SR Cash and cash equivalents
REeZEEY at 1 January 21(a) 1,455,384 1,949,891
EXgFHoTE Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes (14,668) 548
M12A31HWE £ Kk  Cash and cash equivalents at
REZEY 31 December 21(a) 890,658 1,455,384
F234H EF370E 2 M sX R AN = — The notes on pages 234 to 370 form part of these
R4 o financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 EBEXGFEE
BIRBEBRBERAT(ERAT]
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B BF % S R & 52 R ([ B BR Bt
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BREESEEEe ((ERE
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Al B BR B S 3RS 2R R AR -
RertER((HABREstEA]) RE
B ZEUBBRERANAFTEEBR

AR ZEBERERBEBBRER
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BEGE TXHBEAEBE RN
ZEESEEEK
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements
of Binjiang Service Group Co. Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual IFRS Accounting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“1ASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These
financial statements also comply with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to
IFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group's
interest in associates and joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 EXREFEE®SE)

AABR2017F7A6H IR B S B
A PIZE22F R A% (19614 358
EOl - BEEREFTRASHS
AMKL A —RERRERARF -
AR A Z B R2019F38158 B
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ARBRBARRRPEAMLKIL 2
MERBNINEER - ARF KA
DAL B A 2 S8 BB A A
MEE®ERBIT -

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 6 July 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The Company’s shares were listed
on the Main Board on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 15 March 2019 (the “Listing”). The
principal activities of the Group are the
provision of property management services
and related services in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB, rounded to the nearest
thousand, which is the presentation currency.
It is prepared on the historical cost basis
except for financial assets measured as fair
value through profit or loss which are stated at
their fair value.

RMB is the functional currency for the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the
mainland China. The functional currency of
the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries
outside the mainland China are Hong Kong
dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the

judgements about carrying values of assets

and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note
2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

EXRETBEE)
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB to
these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — — Classification
of liabilities as current or non-
current (2020 amendments”) and
amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current
liabilities with covenants ("2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to |IAS 7, Statement of cash
flows and IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it
is exposed, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests (“NCI"”) either at fair value or at the
NCl's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with note 1(p) depending on the
nature of the liability.
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured
at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
1(k)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held
for sale).

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or the Company has significant influence, but
not control or joint control, over the financial
and operating policies. A joint venture is
an arrangement in which the Group or the
Company has joint control, whereby the Group
or the Company has the rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, rather than rights
to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group classified as held for sale).
They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the
consolidated financial statements include the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associates or the joint venture,
the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with the Group’s any
other long-term interests that in substance
form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or the joint venture, after applying
the ECL model to such other long-term
interests where applicable (see note 1(k)(ii)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there
is no evidence of impairment.
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(k)), unless it is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale).

The Group’s and the Company's policies for
investments in financial instruments, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in financial instruments are
recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at FVPL for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified

into one of the following measurement
categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses,
interest income calculated using
the effective interest method (see
note 1(t)(ii)(c)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)
-recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise
solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value
and the amortised cost is recognised
in OCl. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OClI is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-equity investments (Continued)

— FVPL if the investment does not
meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity financial
instruments is classified as FVPL, unless
the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the
Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in
OCI. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. If such election is made
for a particular investment, at the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings and
not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity
financial instruments, irrespective of
whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other
income (see note 1(t)(ii)(b)).
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 1(j)) to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment loss. Rental income from
investment properties are accounted for as
described in note 1(t)(ii)(a).

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the
costs of investment properties, less a residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their lease terms.

When the Group holds a property interest
under an operating lease to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property on a property-by-property
basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property
is accounted for as if it were held under a
finance lease (see note 1(j)), and the same
accounting policies are applied to that interest
as are applied to other investment property
leased under finance leases. Lease payments
are accounted for as described in note 1(j).
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(Continued)
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The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 1(k)(ii)).

— right-of-use assets arising from leases
over freehold or leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

— items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see note

1G)-

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual values,
if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

— office 3-5 years
equipment,
furniture and
fittings

—motor vehicles 5 years

—other properties shorter of the unexpired
leased for own term of lease and the
use buildings’ estimated

useful lives

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group and have finite useful lives are measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(k)

(i)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the
cost of intangible assets less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative period is as follows:

Estimated useful life
Software 5 years
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual

values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses

whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

()

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
components and non-lease components,
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or
less, and leases of low-value items. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value item, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the
associated lease payments are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is
recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease
liability, and are charged to profit or loss
as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 1(h) and 1(k)(ii)). Depreciation is
calculated to write-off the costs of right-
of-use asset, less a residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their
lease terms.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the Group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise
a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification,
which means a change in the scope of
a lease or the consideration for a lease
that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract, if such modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-
term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets
that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant
and equipment’ or ‘inventories’ if they
are held for sales in the ordinary course
of business and presents lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(t)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate
lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in
note 1(j)(i), then the Group classifies the
sub-lease as an operating lease.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial
instruments, contract assets and
lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for ECLs on:

— financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables);

— contract assets (see note 1(m)); and

— lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following rates if
the effect is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade
and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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1

()

Credit losses from financial
instruments, contract assets and
lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the
portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the
reporting date (or a shorter period if
the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs
that result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments
(including loan commitments issued)
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of
default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has
not increased significantly since
initial recognition.
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LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial
instruments, contract assets and
lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables,
amounts due from related parties (trade
nature) and contract assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based
on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic condition at the reporting date.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk
of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment, that includes
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
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(if any is held); or

— the financial asset is 90 days past
due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instruments credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in non-
equity securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying
amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.



SE P BmRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR=BEREHN

1 EXREFEE®SE)

(i)

EWMIR SHNEERE
BWEHEREELENEFEEE
(&)

= BBl E A 2 8 B E
RERESAH  AXEEFEHE
MEERAHLBAGSERE"
ERLE-HRAZHRHEHME
EGFARAEREGT A
FENEMHR EREEH
REERE -

ERMEELTREEREND
REBATABRRES=H:

— EBALRBREHBER
2

— VEEEMNEMRBE
Y R R K i R >

— ERAH WREHHE
RA B HAE

— AKEBEUHEMIATE
EZREMGHAEAERL
B

— BEBARBAESSRH
ESGETHMPHEMR:
"

— BHRBETALBRIBR
BoOEFMEBRMBGHE
9& o
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial
instruments, contract assets and
lease receivables (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of
the debtor;

— significant decrease in property
management and other service fees
collection rate;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

— the restructuring of a loan or
advance by the Group on terms
that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active

market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments, contract assets and
lease receivables (Continued)
Wirite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset
is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
oCcurs.

Impairment of other non-current
assets

At each reporting date, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its non-
financial assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts, investment
property, inventories and other contract
costs, contract assets and deferred tax
assets) to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current
assets (Continued)

For impairment testing, assets are
grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or cash-generating units ("CGU"s).

The recoverable amount of an asset or
CGU is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated to reduce the
carrying amounts of the assets in the
CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and

()

impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Financial Instruments on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with IAS
34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment
testing, and reversal criteria as it would
at the end of the financial year (see notes
1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Inventories

Inventories, including properties held for
re-sale, are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 1(I)(i))
and property, plant and equipment (see
note 1(h)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract,
e.g. sales commissions, are capitalised
if the costs relate to revenue which
will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Otherwise,
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are
not capitalised as inventory, property,
plant and equipment or intangible assets,
are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation of
capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which
the asset relates is recognised (see note

1)
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(t)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration
under the terms in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in note 1(k)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration becomes unconditional (see
note 1(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(t)). A contract liability
is also recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised
(see note 1(n)).

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see note 1(t)(ii)(c)).

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration
and only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost (see note 1(k)(i)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
other short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(k)

(@i).

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid
if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement
schemes pursuant to the relevant labour rules
and regulations in the PRC are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

Income tax expense comprises current tax
and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Current tax comprises the estimated tax
payable or receivable on the taxable income or
loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous
years. The amount of current tax payable
or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income
taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

— temporary differences related to
investment in subsidiaries, associates
and joint venture to the extent that the
Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future; and

— those related to the income taxes
arising from tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.



SE P BmRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 EXREFEE®SE)

rEERHEaERFEREESE
DRERELERBEE MRLERN
HEE -

EREANERENRHETRESE
EREMHNRRERBT AN BOR
B - EBRATAERNANHREER -
APHRBAE LA ENEREHR
MAELEHREE - REKERBK
MNERBEHEBERTEREZED
BOBIETE - HERREFE
BIEN2ERARERBREE -
AIRBEASEANSNBRRNER
AAEZEARRERMFE - LR
ERAEREZENBQETHAE -
Fkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁxii W%%

%%Mﬂ9'ﬁ@MMmEE$X
FERT A BEORE LT ERE -

PR EER B S B I RBRRK
Rz SRR KHZEEENREES
EMEMNMEETE BRI
MERAFTEMA— BB RENMR
FAE MUEBANENRNEBRH
ERAERZVNERENBAESD
EENzm - IRAEEMIBER - &
EHRENFERRNHERHE
HAEEKEHFEEEERE
BEREENTAMTRORFR
=J8

EXERBEEENBEERTES
TIRFFRF S o

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to
its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of
existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when
the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date, unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather
than through sale. In all other cases, the
measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
only if certain criteria are met.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as
follows:

()

Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue
on a gross basis, including the sales of
furniture, car parking spaces and storage
rooms, and provision of home decoration
services. In determining whether the
Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control
of the products or services before they
are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the
use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products or
services.

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third
parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

(a)

Property management service,
value-added services to non-
property owners and 5S value-
added services.

For property management service,
the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the
right to invoice based on the value
of performance completed to date.

For property management service
income arising from properties
managed under lump sum basis,
where the Group acts as principal,
the Group entitles to revenue at
the value of property management
service fee received. For property
management service income
arising from properties managed
under commission basis, where
the Group acts as an agent of the
property owners, the Group entitles
to revenue at a pre-determined
percentage or fixed amount of the
property management service fees
the property owners are obligated
to pay.

Value-added services to non-
property owners mainly include
consulting services to property
developers and cleaning, greening,
repair and maintenance services
to property developers at the
pre-delivery stage. The Group
recognises revenue over time by
reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

5S value-added services mainly
include housekeeping services,
brokerages services, home
decoration services, sales of
furniture, car parking spaces
and storage rooms and other
community value-added services
to property owners. For sales of
goods, including sales of furniture,
car parking spaces and storage
rooms, and brokerage services,
the Group recognises revenue at
point in time when the property
owners take possession of and
accept the goods and services.
For home decoration services, the
Group recognises revenue over
time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation. For
housing keeping services and other
community value-added services,
the Group recognises revenue
when the services are rendered.
Housing keeping services and other
community value-added services are
normally billable immediately upon
the services are provided.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

(Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and
other income

(a)

(b)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part
of the total rental income, over the
term of the lease. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as
income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in
profit or loss on the date on which
the Group'’s right to receive payment
is established.
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LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and
other income (Continued)

(c)

(@)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset. If the asset
is no longer credit-impaired, then
the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised
in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and
other income (Continued)

(d) Government grants (Continued)
Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised
as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset
are recognised initially as deferred
income and amortised to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asset by way of
recognition in other revenues.

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the respective functional
currencies of group companies at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated at the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction. Foreign currency differences
are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in
its entirety or partially such that control,
significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the exchange reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised,
but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss.
If the Group disposes of part of its interest
in a subsidiary but retains control, then the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount
is reattributed to NCI. When the Group
disposes of only part of an associate or joint
venture while retaining significant influence
or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1 EXREFEE®E)
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various service lines and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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2

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in the
preparation of these financial statements are as
follows:

The impairment allowances for trade and other
receivables and contract assets are based on
assumptions about risk of expected credit
loss rates. The Group adjusts judgement in
making these assumption and selecting inputs
for computing such impairment loss, broadly
based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including
forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
expected credit loss to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
carried forward and deductible temporary
differences are recognised and measured
based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the
relevant assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting date. In determining the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets,
expected taxable profits are estimated which
involves a number of assumptions relating
to the operating environment of the Group
and require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future
years.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT

The principal activities of the Group are
property management services, value-added

services to non-property owners and 5S value-

added services.

Revenue represents income from property
management services, value-added services

to non-property owners and 5S value-added

services.

revenue are as follows:

The amount of each significant category of

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NG S
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BREEMKEHKREEA  Revenue from contracts with
BISHEEBNEF customers within the scope
R L ON of IFRS 15
BERENERE®EEMN  Revenue recognised over
WA time:
MEEERBE Property management services 1,932,289 1,549,890
IEHEFEERS Value-added services to non-
property owners 565,418 580,833
5S {8 iR 1% 5S value-added services 976,676 564,924
3,474,383 2,695,647
REBEHEBIZNUWA: Revenue recognised at point
in time:
5S 3% {E BR 7% (A7 7E) 5S value-added services (note) 120,331 112,924
DU 3,594,714 . 2,808,571
H 3RR WA Revenue from other sources
5SIEH AR 1% 5S value-added services
—REMEHESWA — Rental income from investment
properties — 635
3,594,714 2,809,206
Biit: A REREHE(BEHERE = Note: For 5S value-added services that involve sale of
BARFEODRARMEHREERAE goods, including sales of furniture, car parking
ERERBOSSEERE M S © A spaces and storage rooms, and brokerage services
SEREFHAEREMNER R RS for property sales and leasing, the Group recognises
B B B RR U A o revenues at point in time when the property owners

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

take possession of and accept the goods and
services.
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LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT
(Continued)

No revenue from transaction with single
external customer amounts to 10% or more of
the Group's total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: two, of which one is
Hangzhou Binjiang Real Estate Group Co., Ltd
(“Binjiang Real Estate”) and its subsidiaries,
a related party of the Group.)

()

Revenue expected to be recognised
in the future arising from contracts
with customers in existence at the
reporting date

For property management services and
value-added services to non-property
owners, the Group recognises revenue
in the amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice that corresponds directly
with the value of performance completed
to date. The Group has elected the
practical expedient for not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for
these type of contracts.

For 5S value-added services to property
owners that involved in community
value-added services and brokerage
services, they are rendered in a short
period of time and there is no unsatisfied
performance obligation at the end of
each reporting period.
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3 WARDIBHE (&) 3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT
(Continued)

() RBEBHEENEFER (i) Revenue expected to be recognised
FFEENBAFEHRERBR in the future arising from contracts
®E(E) with customers in existence at the

reporting date (Continued)
HERIEEETRHENE MR For 5S value-added services to property
BARAXRAMEESEERS owners that involved in sales of furniture
il s PR2024%12A318 * & in customised interior furnishing
REASEREEHETH services, the aggregated amount of
BRENEANRSBHBER the transaction price allocated to the
AFR#31,282,0007T (20234 - remaining performance obligations
A R #29,672,0007T) ° & & under the Group's existing contracts as
BERRARXEEF I H at 31 December 2024 is RMB31,282,000
HEzglermREHKRALDT : (2023: RMB29,672,000). The Group will

recognise the expected revenue in future
when the furniture is delivered to and
accepted by the customers as follows:

2024 20234

2024 2023

ARE Tt NG B

RMB’000 RMB’000

20244 2024 — 14,916
20254 2025 30,221 14,467
20264 2026 1,061 289
20274 2027 — —
31,282 29,672

278 BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

3 WARDIBHE (&) 3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT
(Continued)

(i) RBEBHEENEFERN (i) Revenue expected to be recognised
FFEENBEAEHRERBR in the future arising from contracts
A (E) with customers in existence at the

reporting date (Continued)
PR R E RS RY5S 15 For 5S value-added services that involve
BEREMmE © B2024F12 A31 in the home decoration services, the
H 2EZEASERBEENIE aggregated amount of the transaction
THRISR KRBT (KB D REIT) prices allocated to the remaining
BROEBEETORZSBERERER performance obligations that are
A R #1,487,126,0007T (2023 unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) under
% : AR #%1,430,993,0007T) © the Group's existing contracts as at 31
TRINTAEEERAIEKR December 2024 is RMB1,487,126,000
i %5 B B R B0 K JE & 8 AR (2023: RMB1,430,993,000). The following
)78 B A table shows the expected revenue of

home decoration services which will be
recognised by the Group in future when
the services are provided:

20245 20234

2024 2023

ARE T T N

RMB’000 RMB’'000

20245 2024 = 708,564
20254 2025 1,245,236 628,919
20264 2026 113,035 93,510
20274 2027 128,855 =

1,487,126 1,430,993
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3

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT
(Continued)

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of business
lines. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three operating and
reportable segments:

— Property management services: this
segment provides property management
services to property owners, including
security, cleaning, gardening, repair,
maintenance, land management and
ancillary services.

— Value-added services to non-property
owners: this segment provides value-
added services to non-property owners,
including pre-delivery services, consulting
services and community space services.

— 55 value-added services: this segment
provides 5S value-added services to
property owners, including housekeeping
services, brokerages services, home
decoration services, sales of furniture, car
parking spaces and storage rooms and
other community value-added services to
property owners.

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results attributable
to each reportable segment. Segment results
represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central corporate
expenses. Revenue and expenses are allocated
to each segment with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments. The measure used
for reporting segment result is gross profit.
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3 WARZEEHSE (@)

(b) 7#HE (&)
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#Z20245128318 L Year ended 31 December 2024:

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORT
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

No analysis of segment assets and segment
liabilities is presented as these information is
not regularly provided to the Group’s most
senior executive management for review.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by operating and
reportable segment:

FRE

NEEBRHE BERE SSEERE

Value-added
Property services to 5 value-

management non-property added
services owners services Total
ARB TR ARETR AR%TR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

£E:
RN Segment Revenue 1,932,289 565,418 1,097,007 3,594,714
PHEMN Segment gross profits 355,081 218,174 262,113 835,368
APECERX Unallocated corporate expenses (48,980)
BB ATA B Profit before taxation 786,388
# 2202351283101t Year ended 31 December 2023:

£E:
A EHRA Segment Revenue 1,549,890 580,833 678,483 2,809,206
PEHER Segment gross profits 284,080 192,554 219,253 695,887
AAECERX Unallocated corporate expenses (43,348)
CREIR b Profit before taxation 652,539

HRASERBERABTRE LR F
BzXBREF BEAKBEERY
BEMETHEREEVNTE

D bt 3 48 51 TR AE R [ 3 B AT o

No geographical segment analysis is shown
as all of the Group's revenue are derived from
activities in, and from customers located in the
PRC and almost all of carrying values of the
Group's non-current assets are situated in the
PRC.
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
4 HihWARHEMUE (EE)FE 4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET

INCOME/(LOSS)

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB"000

HAth Y A Other revenue
X I %6 B (B 72 () Government grants (note (i)) 4,087 4,911
B H R 38 (B B (A 72 (i) Value-added tax deductible (note (ii)) — 3,488
HAth Others 1,956 2,380
6,043 10,779

(i) BB E2EM T MERAEBRHENE (i) Government grants mainly represent unconditional
BHEBIBET B - discretionary financial support from local municipal

government authorities.

(i) AENEEHZIZLEERARAEEET (i)  Value-added tax deductible mainly included additional
WEARMEEEERAEINEN - ZK deduction of input value-added tax applicable to certain
RMR2023F12A318 @M ° subsidiaries of the Group. The policy was expired on 31

December 2023.
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Htt A (BE)FE Other net income/(loss)
HEME BEREKEBZ Net loss on disposal of property,
B 1858 plant and equipment (457) (308)
BAFEGFAEZNEZHE & Net realised and unrealised gains
ANE IR S R on FVPL 1,623 —
HEMBARMNE#R Net realised loss on disposal
&5 18 5 58 of a subsidiary — (15)
HINPE [ 18 % =8 Net foreign exchange losses (2) (8,328)

1,164 (8,651)
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

BR Bt B 7 H
BEAAMBEMSR,(GEA)

(a) MEWAFHE

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

(a) Net finance income

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARE T N R
RMB’000 RMB'000

RITERMBEA
BEPBRH B X

Interest income on bank deposits (80,272) (67,402)
Interest expense on advance

payments from customers — 538

HEABEMNERAX Interest expense on lease
(K1at21(c) liabilities (note 21(c)) 122 109
B WA TR Net finance income (80,150) (66,755)

BIRGEERREAR FERS 2024
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

5 PBRBAIRE(E

(b) EITERA (b) Staff costs

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB'000
FekEMERN Salaries and other benefits 1,105,042 942,901

FE#RETEIH K Contributions to defined
(B7 2 3) contribution scheme (note (i) 94,324 70,779
1,199,366 1,013,680

sA Included in:

$HE K A Cost of sales 1,126,792 960,572
THAX Administrative expenses 63,095 48,897
HEREHASX Selling and marketing expenses 9,479 4,211
1,199,366 1,013,680

() AEEWTENBAREEHRAZNH
75 T AT B IR K GE R Y SRE f RGGE
B - AKENTEMBARDIELT
THRARENEEFEE TAD LR
R U BB RKEA -

B ERFEEHRRN  REBEGEE M
Bz %A &I B A R KRR S R

EXRRARME -

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(i)

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
required to participate in a defined contribution
scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated
on certain percentages of the employee salary as
agreed by the local municipal government to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits associated with
these schemes beyond the annual contributions
described above.
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
BR Bt AT R (8) 5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)
(c) HfbiEE (c) Other items
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR® Tt NG B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
e Hat10) Depreciation (note 10)
— BEBYME BWEKRKZ®E —owned property, plant and
equipment 15,204 11,577
— FRAEEE —right-of-use assets 1,965 1,610
—REME —investment properties — 425
17,169 13,612
HISHAFAEA@MM X Expenses related to short-term
leases 16,110 13,856
% ERD B & Auditors’ remuneration
— FEZHERS —annual audit services 2,100 2,100
— B R® — review services 500 500
— H b R — other services 132 493
7 & KA Cost of inventories 54,977 32,521
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
6 mEEEREMEZEKIZRNAE 6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

B STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) AareBEERHEMEZEKERA (a) Taxation in the consolidated
B IR S statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income represents:

2024% 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 28 B 18 Current tax
PR EMER PRC Corporate Income Tax 219,839 149,392
BEFERETR Under/(Over)-provision in respect
(B &) of prior years 1,803 (15)
221,642 149,377
IE % B 18 Deferred tax
EREZEHNELARED Origination and reversal of
temporary differences (1,856) (8,249)
ANEBEFRRKE QR FE  Withholding tax on the profits of
B FE B (K 77 25(b)) the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
(note 25(b)) 13,100 8,380
11,244 131
232,886 149,508
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

MIEMX ERERARETENS (b) Reconciliation between tax expense
T AEZ ¥ iR and accounting profit at applicable
tax rates:
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®S Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Fx #5 Ai A Profit before taxation 786,388 652,539
LIRS RIAEFE Notional tax on profit before
BAZHERFERBAT  taxation, calculated at the rates
MEBEZzERNIE applicable to profits in the tax
(B7 2 3) jurisdictions concerned (note (i) 170,656 140,702
AR 2 RIS E - Tax effect of non-deductible
MR 2 H KA expenses, net of non-taxable
income 239 338
KERABAHEE B Z Tax effect of unused tax losses
RIBEE  MBRE®A  not recognised, net of
utilisation 588 103
BAFERETR/ Under/(Over)-provision in respect
(HB%8) of prior years 1,803 (15)
REKEBAREEFBA  Withholding tax on profits
TEH B (B 22 i) retained by PRC subsidiaries
(note (ii) 59,600 8,380
ERRERS Actual tax expense 232,886 149,508
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)

6 HEEZRHEMEZEWERNAER 6

(#&)

() BERNSEERABABARESNR
AR AREBAUNRERS
REBHEBREESNEMMAEH -

RESEIMA IO ASBENE QA
BRREFRNEMETENBHAOK
AR E R PTE I E AB16.5% © 2018
FHEFESHRMAH  RAENAE

2EEBITERBFESREMN

M —F(8.25%) R R T AB K
165% MM - HRN|MEHRAN - A K
B 3 4 R OER(E T R B & B S R
O AN @ S T i R R )

EH B4 (20234 1 &)

AN E B BB A R) B 1K 25% H) it
KB R B FTAS B o ¥ R2024 5 R
RANNBLEENE THB AR -
ETBBARBIEELHERR K
AEBH - 1 E %% K B E25% (2023
F:25%) T EREBRBUA W 1220%
(2023%F : 20%) H) B 3= Bk 1 2 P 15

i e
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Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Island and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The income tax rate applicable to the Group’s
subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong for the
income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the
reporting period is 16.5%. A two-tiered profits tax
rates regime was introduced in 2018 whereby the
first HKD2 million in assessable profits earned by a
company will be taxed at half of the current tax rate
(8.25%) while the remaining profits will continue
to be taxed at 16.5%.No provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made as the Group did not
earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax
during the reporting period (2023: Nil).

The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to
PRC income tax at 25%. For certain subsidiaries
recognised as a small profit enterprise in 2024, the
portion of annual taxable income amount, which
does not exceed RMB3 million, shall be computed
at a reduced rate of 25% (2023: 25%) as taxable
income amount, and be subject to enterprise
income tax at 20% (2023: 20%).
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(BR=BEREHN

REFECEMSHEEIZREE G
MA - RIEFBH B IR HEE
JBEL 0 Bt B200841 818 A 5K B B A
FEmME  FPECEEREFED
2 UL ELEY B BB IR10% ) Bt R B 7B
nE -

M2023% - RABME B E QB %
BREAERIODESR - RE(AMLM
BEERNTBRREREMEHE SR
8 B BB AN BT LR B A = BE)(TH
W i 5 1) RCB R B 7% 48 3 B 0 BRI
BEPIZEMBEAIEREARNAE)
((FIRAE]) EEMBRARTAZE
XEEREWENR - B2023F £« #
BB B A AW E B AR SR RS % B
R IEH B K

7R2023F 128318 B EN A K E
FEKEB QRS IRSEHEN%
FERESENHRERAECHBEEE
A B #20,000,0007T °© & F2024%
NRANBLEFE ELEMREBEREA
R %20,000,0007T B ¥ & = &
H HERAEBR2024F 5 AEE
FEHBRARASKEENBARRE
400,000,0007T X fF F A & @ & 7 KT
B -

HE2024F12A31BLEE 8 S
EERETARBMRRKR ST EIARH
REBHEBEESRNE  RAEE
FEHNEAREIINDEBEFBEAR
#930,000,0007T X T A & B & 5
MBARME  ANEBBERIY X H
B A% BT A R ¥46,500,0007T °

R2024F128318 * LEN A& @ F
B BB A m) T &4 BB 1F F B A95% B
BREENH CLr8ERELHESR
& AR #13,100,0007T °

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
RHEMEPEKZROAESH 6

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Continued)

(if)

According to the PRC corporate income tax laws and
its implementation rules, dividends receivable by
non-PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises
are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%,
unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for
profits earned since 1 January 2008.

In 2023, the Company’'s Hong Kong subsidiary
received the certificate of Hong Kong resident
status. Pursuant to the Arrangement between
the Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with
respect to Taxes on Income (“Tax Treaties”)
and the Announcement of the State Taxation
Administration in relation to “Beneficial Owner” in
Tax Treaties (“Announcement No.9"), the Hong
Kong subsidiary meets the requirement for enjoying
the preferential rate and is subject to withholding
tax at a rate of 5% for dividends received from PRC
subsidiaries since 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax liabilities
of RMB20,000,000 were recognised in respect of
the 5% PRC dividend withholding tax that would
be payable on the distribution of the retained
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, deferred tax
liabilities of RMB20,000,000 were transferred to
tax payable and then paid by the Group in respect
of the distribution of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries’
retained profits of RMB400,000,000 to the Group's
Hong Kong subsidiary in 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, PRC
dividend withholding tax of RMB46,500,000 has
been recognised and paid by the Group in respect
of the additional distribution of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries’ retained profits of RMB930,000,000
to the Group’s Hong Kong subsidiary after the
director’s consideration of the Company’s future
dividend plan and overall economic benefit to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax liabilities of
RMB13,100,000 were fully recognised in respect of
the 5% PRC dividend withholding tax that would
be payable on the remaining retained profits of the
Group's PRC subsidiaries.
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

7 EEFHMH 7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BIEEB RGO FE383(N) K kA aF (B Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
BEERR AN RIFE2EEENES 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
FE T Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

BZ2024F12831B LEE
Year ended 31 December 2024
I% 2R
EZHS ENER MERL BARGEHER

Salaries,

allowances Retirement
and benefits Discretionary scheme
in kind bonuses contributions Total
AR%ETR AR®TR AR%ETR AR%ETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HTEE Executive directors
RBH Yu Zhongxiang - 1,666 935 46 2,647

FUINZ (1A2024F Qi Jiagi (re-designated from
9F1EMIERTT  anon-executive director to
EZEHEMEA  anexecutive director on

BIES) 1 September 2024) — 433 — 6 439
g%% Zhong Ruogin - 562 388 46 996
FUTEE Non-executive directors
BRE Mo Jianhua — — — — _
22 Cai Xin = — — — _
ks Qi Jiagi — — — — —

BUFHTEZE Independent non-
executive directors

255 Cai Haijing 100 - - - 100
TR Ding Jiangang 100 — - - 100
THE Li Kunjun 100 — - - 100

300 2,661 1,323 98 4,382
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

7 ESEHFM(E) 7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
HE2023F 12831 L EE Year ended 31 December 2023
HZ0BFN2A31BLEEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

I8 2R

B2k EMEN REEL REFEHR it
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and Discretionary scheme
Directors' fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Total
ARETT ARETT ARET RETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HTEER Executive directors
KU R(R20235F  Zhu Lidong (retired on

10A26E R{T) 26 October 2023) = 1,388 855 36 2,279
R BHE(2023F  Yu Zhongxiang (appointed

10A26H on 26 October 2023)

EZ ) - 187 80 6 273
EEE Zhong Ruogin — 562 188 42 792
FUTEE Non-executive directors
BRE Mo Jianhua = = = — =
2% Cai Xin — — — — —
BnaE Qi Jiag = = = = =
BUFHTEZE Independent non-

executive directors
255 Cai Haijing 100 - — — 100
T M Ding Jiangang 100 — — - 100
FTHE Li Kunjun 100 — — — 100
300 2,137 1,123 84 3,644
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

8 EBEHFMAL 8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
AEGZEHFMALTESR  —F& (2023¢ Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
—R)BEE EHFMWR WEH&E& o H one (2023: one) is director whose emoluments
fth 79 4 (20234 : 10 4) A+ & % B 4 are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the
m emoluments in respect of the other four (2023:

four) individuals are as follows:

2024 F 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NG B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Fe EEKEMEAF Salaries, allowance and
benefits-in-kind 3,933 3,929
) 15 7€ 4T Discretionary bonuses 3,380 1,640
R ORET & R Retirement scheme contributions 138 126
7.451 5,695
P9 (20234 : 9 %) £ = 3 B A £ A9 B The emoluments of the four (2023: four) individuals
CRRATHEENA : with the highest emoluments are within the

following bands:

2024 % 20234
2024 2023

AE A
Number of Number
LCCUEIS of individuals

1,000,0017%% 7T & HKD1,000,001-HKD1,500,000
1,500,000 7T — 2
1,500,00178 7T & HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000
2,000,0007% 7T 2 2
2,000,001 T & HKD2,000,001-HKD2,500,000
2,500,000 7T 2 —
9 BRER 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE
FREARKEERF LB £20245F12 The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
A318 1L F E AR A & R R 5 R E share is based on the profit attributable to equity
A K #546,529,0007T (20234 : A K % shareholders of the Company of RMB546,529,000
492,545,0007T) & B 2 17 IR 17 & h0 #& F (2023: RMB492,545,000) and the weighted average
¥ B% £276,407,000% (20234 : fn # F number of 276,407,000 shares in issue during the
A% £276,407,000%) 5+ & - year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: weighted
average number of 276,407,000 shares).
MR B £2024F % 20235124318 Jt$ There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding
EIXEAEFENNBITEIINRD - for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
&tiﬂﬁ%/ﬁﬁjf'ﬁﬁ—rﬁ’\tﬂﬁg$ﬂjﬂ and therefore the diluted earnings per share are

same as the basic earnings per share.
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(a) FREIEZH IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

BEBRK
BAZRE HthE 0% BER
FER%E RE  (RAXE) Rt
Other
Office properties Sub-total
equipment, leased  of property,
furniture Motor  for own use plantand  Investment
and fittings vehicles carried atcost  equipment  properties Total
ARETR  ARBTr  AR%TR  AR¥Tn  ARMIR  ARETR
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BE: Cost:
M0B3EI AR At 1 January 2023 26,817 15,714 7335 49,866 2,549 52,415
RE Additions 20519 6,332 4,667 31,518 — 31,518
HE Disposals (2,245) (804) - (3,049) (2,549) (5,598)
Ex2HNze Effect of movements in
exchange rates - 11 9 2 - 20
R03E12A318 At 31 December 2023 45,091 21253 12,011 78,355 = 78,355
AE Additions 22,451 1,908 1,665 26,024 = 26,024
& Disposals (2,099) 17,908) (7350) (27,357) = (27,357)
EZEHHTE Effect of movements in
exchange rates — 17 4 Al - A
R0ME1A3NA At 31 December 2024 65,443 5210 6,330 77,083 - 77,083
ZiHE: Accumulated depreciation:
RM03E1A1R At 1 January 2023 10,818 5,744 6,818 23,380 2124 25,504
R Charge for the year 8430 3,147 1,610 13,187 425 13612
HEEM Written back on disposals (1.121) (529) - (1,650) (2,549) (4,1%9)
EX2BNZE Effect of movements in
exchange rates - 8 7 15 - 15
IREVRE]LE At 31 December 2023 18,127 8,370 8,435 34,932 - 34,932
ER Charge for the year 11,545 3,659 1,965 17,169 — 17,169
HEEA Written back on disposals (1,801) 9,330) (7,350) (18481) - (18481)
E22Hnye Effect of movements in
exchange rates - 14 4 18 - 18
R20MENANE At 31 December 2024 2781 2113 3,054 33,638 - 33,638
REFE: Net book value:
R04E12A318 At31 December 2024 31,512 2,557 3216 43,405 - 43,405
N0BENANA At 31 December 2023 26,964 12,883 3,576 43423 — 43433
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

10 Y% - BERRZE (@) 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
(b) EFAREE(BEREVEURY (b) Right-of-use assets (including
¥ BERRE) investment property and property,
plant and equipment)
REEEERMNESNERAEERE The analysis of the net book value of right-
(BRBEMEARME BER of-use assets (including investment property
BREREFEINET and property, plant and equipment) by class of

underlying asset is as follows:

2024 % 20234
12A31H 12H831H
EX DI oJJ@ 31 December
2024 2023
AR¥ T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
MIEE AR HEMY % Other properties leased for
(BRI EXARTIER) own use, carried at
(B7 &) depreciated cost (note (i) 3,276 3,576
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

10 Y% BERRE®) 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
(b) EFAREE(BREREVEURY (b) Right-of-use assets (including
¥ RBRERSHE)E investment property and property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)
REZBERNEERTEBEE 2N The analysis of expense items in relation to
™ leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000

ZHBEEERE S  Depreciation charge of right-
CTRREEBRERE of-use assets (including
MEARYE - BEN&  investment property and
FEIFTEZL property, plant and equipment)

by class of underlying asset:

— HEEAMEMME  — Other properties leased for

own use 1,965 1,610
—REME — Investment properties — 425
1,965 2,035

HEBERNE(HiL5@) Interest on lease liabilities

(note 5(a)) 122 109
HEHHEEBBMNMAYT  Expense relating to short-term
(K1 5E5(c)) leases (note 5(c)) 16,110 13,856
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

HE2024FNA3HIEFEHME -
CTREEEBEREMERINU
ME BEERZB)AERAR
#1,665,0007C (2023F : A R ¥
4,667,0007T) - Z & B X ZHRBE
STHEBBERENNERCHER
KEBE -

FEHERS R RE -HESE
BRI 2F1B DR &N HE
21(d) B Bt 5E 24 ©

(i) HEEBRANEMYEXGRTE
B A5 AR )
AEBAEREBHERZES
HMMERERRIE - % F
HEMPBEHER—RB2K3
& o
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
additions to right-of-use assets (including
investment property and property, plant
and equipment) were RMB1,665,000 (2023:
RMB4,667,000). This amount primarily related
to the capitalised lease payments payable
under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out
in notes 21(d) and 24, respectively.

(i) Other properties leased for own use
carried at depreciated cost
The Group has obtained the right to use
other properties as its offices through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 2 or 3 years.
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
11 BEEE 11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
B4
Software
AR T
RMB’000
RS : Cost:

720231 A1H At 1 January 2023 —
=T Additions 4,521
& Disposals —

#2023F12A318 & At 31 December 2023 and
2024F12 A31H 31 December 2024 4,521

Het#e Accumulated amortisation:

720231 H1H At 1 January 2023 —
FEXH Charge for the year 374
& B o Written back on disposals =
7202312 A31H At 31 December 2023 374
FEXH Charge for the year 935
& 1 Written back on disposals —
R2024%F12 A318 At 31 December 2024 1,309
REFEE: Net book value:

720244512 A31H At 31 December 2024 3,212
72023412 A31H At 31 December 2023 4,147

AR RERENSFREH -

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line
basis over 5 years.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEREIN
R BATINKRE

12

TREFIITBZEAKEXE EE
SEERKHE QRS -

12

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

assets or liabilities of the Group.

FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
R/ i/ BRf A%E  AALT HE
AIER RIBERASE REWEA LERER BE DIRF IEEEER  IERBREAMM
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation  and paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
EnBRAT IBABREE  TER/ZR 100% 100% — RE&BARES REZR BRAW
2017565288 LB
Robust Class Limited BVI Not applicable/USD2 BVI and Hong Investment holding, limited
28 Jun 2017 Kong, China liability company
BIRBEE(ER) Bt TER/ 100% - 100% HEEE REZR BRAR
BRAR 2017487288 107,245,314 T
Binjiang Service Group Hong Kong Not applicable/ Hong Kong, China  Investment holding, limited
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited 28 Aug 2017 HKD107,245,314 liability company
AMBINZERERD E ARE120000000/  100% - 100% HE& NEEERE  ARAT
Bk 199744 A2 R AR 120000,0007
Hangzhou Binjiang Property - the PRC RIMB120,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 21 Apr 1997 RMB120,000,000 services, limited liability
ANEINZERER company
N
IHEIERESLR  ©E AR100000007T/  100% - 100% BEREBRS
BRAF* 2009%3A188  AEH1,000,0007 BRAT
Hangzhou Binjiang Real the PRC RMB10,000,000/ The PRC Brokerage and other service,
Estate Brokerage 18 Mar 2009 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
Management Co., Ltd.
AMBLEDESE
BRAR*
INRREGERAF 8 AEE10000000T/  100% - 100% HE RERBRFAHE
016894128 ARH10,000,0007 BRAT
Hangzhou Binrui Decoration  the PRC RMB10,000,000/ The PRC Decoration service and
Co, Ltd IUMERES 12 Sep 2016 RIMB10,000,000 sales of furniture, limited

BRAF
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
fERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
BRI/ it/ 28 A58 AALR HHE
ARAR RULEREE REKEX LEBRER KE DARE IEEEER  IERBRAEMA
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
MMEEREE S h AR %5,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% HE RERBRZRARE
BRAR* 2017%5A9H AR 5,000,000 N
Hangzhou Binwan Home ~ the PRC R\MB5,000,000/ The PRC Decoration service and
Decoration Co., Ltd. 9 May 2017 RMB5,000,000 sales of furniture, limited
MBS R ERH liability company
BRAR*
INEIRERS il ARH50000007T/  100% - 100% HE RER% ARAA
BRARF* 00755818 ARM5,0000007
Hangzhou Binjiang Home  the PRC RMB5,000,000/ The PRC Decoration service, limited
Decoration Co,, Ltd. 11 May 2017 RMBS5,000,000 liability company
ANEIREES
ERRR*
IMBaN%ER hE AR ¥%5,000,0007T,/ 51% - 51% F NEER BRAT
BRAR* 2018514318 AR 5,000,000
Hangzhou Binhe Property  the PRC RIMB5,000,000/ The PRC Property management,
Management Co., Ltd. 31 Jan 2018 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
ANESNEER
BRAR
h ARE25,0000007/ 100% - 100% #HE NEERRE  FEAR
ERERNERE 019%5A8148  AR%250000007 ENREE BRAT
BRAA
Ningbo Binrun Property the PRC RMB25,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 14 May 2019 RMB25,000,000 services, sales of car
ERERNERE parking spaces and
BRAR* storage rooms, limited

liability company
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 RIBARNIKRE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERERLA
Proportion of ownership interest
R/ it/ 28 A%E  AALH HHE
ARER RULEREE REKEX LEBRER KE DARE IEEEER  IERBRAEMA
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital ~ interest ~ Company  subsidiary  of operation and legal status
RNEENEER HE AR 2,000,000,/ 45% - 5% HE NEEERE ARAA
BRARN) 2019584208 AK%2,000,0007
Hangzhou Binxin Property  the PRC RMB2,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 20 Aug 2019 RMB2,000,000 services, limited liability
ANBGEHEER company
BRA)
ANERNZERERE tE AR #1,000,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEERRE  ARAT
Gk 2019%11A118 AR #1,000,0007C
Huzhou Binyao Property  the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 11 Nov 2019 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
HNERNZERER company
G
WNEENRER P AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% F8 NRERRS  BRAF
BRAF* W19F1MABE ARE100000T
Hangzhou Bintai Property  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 15 Nov 2019 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
MMERNEER company
BRAR*
KERBNEERARD ©E AR#1,000,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEERRE  ARAT
a* 01911818 AR #1,000,0007C
Yongkang Binsheng the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 1 Nov 2019 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
Co, Lid. KEEENE company
ERERAF
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
fERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&EMh it/ 2R A58 HEAF HHE
ARER RIBERAH RELEL LERER KE DANE IELEER  IERBREARQ
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
SEELNFER hE AR 1,000,000/ 100% — 100% #HE NEEERE  ARAT
BRAA 2019104318 AE¥1,000,0007
Jinhua Binyue Property the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 31 0ct 2019 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
SERNMEER company
BRAR
RNRZNZERRER 8 A& 100,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE BRART
NN 2019810A288  AR¥100,0007
Hangzhou Binhong property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
management Service Co,, 28 Oct 2019 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ltd MMBZNEER company
RBEERRE"
nMEENEER hE AR #100,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
BRAR* 20008108198 AR%100,0007
Hangzhou Binyu Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 19 Oct 2020 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
MMEZNEER company
BRAR
INBLERNEERE TH AR%100,0007/ 100% - 100% NEEERK BRAT
(NG 2020858148 AR#100,0007
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Binkang  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 14 May 2020 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
Co, LA MBILER company
NEEBERDA®
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATINERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&Efh i/ BRf A8 HELF HE
AR RIBEEAH RELEX LERER BF DIRF IEEEER  IEREREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation  and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
AABLEENREEE +E AR#100,0007/ 100% - 100% & NEEERE  ARAT
[N 200£5R19H AR 1000007
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Bintao  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 19 May 2020 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
Co, td IMBILER company
NEERERAR
M BEY = R R 10,000,000% T/ 100% - 100% & NEEERK BRAT
BRAF* 020578138 10,000,000
Hangzhou Bingang Property  the PRC HKD10,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 13 Jul 2020 HKD10,000,000 services, limited liability
MEENE R company
ERAR*
AMEREENRERE 1E AR¥1,000,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
RAR* 0209938 AKH1,000,0007
Hangzhou Chunan Binrun ~ the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 3 Sep 2020 RIMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
Co, ltd IMEZ B company
NEERERAR
nMERNRER Gk AR%100,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE AROA
BRAAY 02055898 ARH100,0007
Hangzhou Binfeng Property  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 9 May 2020 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
nMERNEER company
BRAR*
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
fERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&EMh it/ 2R A58 HEAF HHE
ARER RIBERAH RELEL LERER KE DANE IELEER  IERBREARQ
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
GRLETE R hE AR22,0000007/ 51% — 51% P& NEEERE  ARAT
EERRAA 0205118248 AE%22,000,0007
Hangzhou Xiaoshan the PRC RMB22,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Binhong Property 24 Nov 2020 RIMB22,000,000 services, limited liability
Management Co., Ltd. company
MBI ELDE
ERERAR
MNERNEER I AR 1,000,007/ 100% - 100% 8 NXEERE ARAW
BRAAY 020512838 ARE1,000,0007C
Hangzhou Bincui Property  the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 23 Dec 2020 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
RNERNEER company
ERAR*
AMBRNXERERDE HE AR #100,0007/ 100% - 100% FE NEERRE ARAA
A 20205128238 AEH100,0007
Hangzhou Binchi Property  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 23 Dec 2020 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
nNERNEERER company
NG
ANERNRERERD E ARH1000000T/  100% - 100% #E DEERRE  ARAT
Bk 201544168 AR 81,000,000
Hangzhou Binao Property  the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 16 Apr 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
MMERNEERER company
N
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(BRrZBEBPEI - LAREEITIIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 AMBATINERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&Efh i/ BRf A8 HELF HE
AR RIBEEAH RELEX LERER BF DIRF IEEEER  IEREREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation  and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
AMERNZERERY E AR 1,000,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
A 201547168 AR 81,000,000
Hangzhou Binya Property  the PRC RIMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 16 Apr 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
AMRENZERER company
N
MNEERNEERARL *E A& 3,000,000/ 51% - 51% @8 NXEERE BRAR
A 202145878 AR %3,000,0007
Hangzhou Binze Property  the PRC RMB3,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 7 May 2021 RMB3,000,000 services, limited liability
IMEENFERER company
R
LEERRINZERE 1E AR #1,000,0007/ 51% - 51% NEEERK BRAT
RAF* W1E5A7E ARH1,000,0007
Shanghai Hupin Riverside  the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 17 May 2021 RIMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
Co, Utd. L BRMETL company
NEERERAR
RNERNXERARD 8 ARE5,000,0007/ 51% - 51% ME NEEERE ARAA
A 1E5A178 AR %1,500,0007
Hangzhou Binhang Property  the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 17 May 2021 RMB1,500,000 services, limited liability

company
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(Br=BHEEAEI - AANRE LI R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
fERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
R/ it/ 2R A58 HEAF HHE
ARER RIBERAH RELEL LERER BF NIRF IEEEEX  IERBREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
ERELNRERARD tE AR 1,000,000/ 100% — 100% HE MEERRE  ARAT
A 20006108228 AR%1,000,0007
Ningbo Binhong Property  the PRC RIMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 22 Oct 2020 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
EREENFERAR company
N
ERERELNRRES T8 AR%3,0000007/ 5% - 5% NEEERS  ARAA
RAT: N01F6ABE  ARH3,0000007T
Yiwu Jiantou Binjiang the PRC RMB3,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Service Co., Ltd. 25 Jun 2021 RMB3,000,000 services, limited liability
ZERREINERE company
ERRT*
INERNXERARD S8 AR 1,000,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
A 001568298 ARH1,0000007
Hangzhou Bintong Property  the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 29 Jun 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
nNERNEZERER company
N
WNERNXERARL FH AE#1000007/ 100% - 100% FE NRERRE ARAA
ik NE9A18E ARI00,000T
Hangzhou Binwen Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 18 Sep 2021 RMB100,000 services, limited liability

MNEENXEEER

DAl

company
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATINERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
B/ i/ By A8 HELF i
AER RIBEEAH RELEL LERER BF DIRF IELEER  IEREREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company subsidiary  of operation and legal status
MNEENXERERE ©8 AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERS BRLT
A 201%9428R AR 1000007
Hangzhou Binyu Property  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 28 Sep 2021 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
RNBENXERER company
N
INERNXERARD T8 AR%100,0007/ 100% - 100% NXEERE BRAW
A 2021597297 AR#100,0007
Hangzhou Binjin Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 29 Sep 2021 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ANERNEERER company
R
MNERNZERARE 8 AR10,00,0007,/ 51% - 51%  HE NEEERK BRAT
A 2021594308 A5 %10,000,0007
Hangzhou Binchen Property  the PRC RIMB10,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 30 Sep 2021 RMB10,000,000 services, limited liability
MMERNEEEER company
NG
MNESNZERERL +E AR 1,000,000/ 66% - 66% PH NEEERRY  BRAF
A 2015108208 AR%1,000,0007
Hangzhou Binjia Property  the PRC RIMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 20 Oct 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
IMEENEERER company
NG
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Gt 1 -3
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&Efh it/ 28 A58 AALR g ]
AR RIBERAS REUEX LEBRER KE DANE IELEER  IERBREARQ
Place and date of Group's

Name of company

establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
incorporation and paid-in capital ~ interest ~ Company  subsidiary  of operation and legal status

EREANEZERARA
ﬂ*

Ningbo Binyao Property
Management Co., Ltd.
EREANRXERAR

AT

RNERNXERERA
ﬂ*

Hangzhou Bindi Property
Management Co., Ltd.
IMEaNEERER

2!

REELNZRBEERA
E] *

Tiantai Ciyue Property
Services Co., Ltd, XE#

HHERBERAA

AMBIHENERER
[INGIM

Hangzhou Binjiang
Chengnan Property

Management Service Co.,

Lid. EME LAY X
RBARAR

HE AR %1,000,0007/ 100% - 100% R NEEERE ERAA
2021512818 AR 1,000,000
the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
1 Dec 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
company
hE AR %100,0007/ 100% — 100% #HE& MEERRE  ARAT
021E12A28 AR100,0007
the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
2 Dec 2021 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
company
hE AR 1,000,000/ 51% - 51% HE NEERRE BRAA
201512868 AR¥1,000,0007
the PRC RMB1,000,000/ The PRC Property management
6 Dec 2021 RMB1,000,000 services, limited liability
company
hE AR %5,000,0007,/ 51% - 51% NEEERY  ARAA
2022517288 AR 13,530,000
the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ The PRC Property management
28 Jan 2022 RMB3,530,000 services, limited liability
company
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 AMBATINERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
RI/&Efh i/ BRf A8 HELF HE
AR RIBHRAS REUEX LERER KE  DANE ITELEEFR  IERBREARQ
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company subsidiary  of operation and legal status
ANBENXERRER WE AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
RAA* 202%3R18H AR 1000007
Hangzhou Bingian Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co,, 18 Mar 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ltd MM EE % ER company
BBERRE*
RNERNZERERY TH AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEERRE BRAT
A 202264728 AR#100,0007
Hangzhou Binxiang Property the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Co., Ltd. 28 Apr 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ANERNZERER company
R
MEER hE AR%10,000,0007/ 40% - 40% HE MEERRE  ARAT
MEERARRAT) 202267R208 AR 84,600,000
Hangzhou Binchanghe the PRC RMB10,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 20 Jul 2022 RIMB4,600,000 services, limited liability
Co, Utd. LM EEF company
MEERERATN
MMECHEERREE ©E AR%100,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE AROA
(NG W002F78278 AR#100,0007
Hangzhou Binren Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co., 27 Jul 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ld IMECHEER company
RBERRE*
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 AHBARNEKE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERERLA
Proportion of ownership interest
BRI/ i/ BRf A%E  AALH HKE
kL RULHREE REKEX ZERER KE DAKE IEEEER  IERBRAEMA
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital ~ interest ~ Company  subsidiary  of operation and legal status
ANERNXERREE +E AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% & NEERRE BRAA
NG 022E7R278 AR 100,000
Hangzhou Binyuan Property  the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co., 27 Jul 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
Ltd. B % E B company
REER AR
MNBENEERREE +E AK%100,0007/ 100% - 100% #HE& MEERRE  ARAT
RAR* 2022587118 AR100,0007
Hangzhou Bincui Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co,, 11 Aug 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ltd M BENEER company
REERAR
WNEENSERREE =& AR 1000007/ 100% - 100% & NEXERRE BRAA
NG 202%9A2A AR #100,0007
Hangzhou Binging Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co., 2 Sep 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ltd MMERYEER company
REER AR
RNESNZEEREE +H AR %100,0007,/ 100% - 100% FE NEEERY  ARAA
(NI 20225104118 AR 100,000
Hangzhou Binkun Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co, 11 Oct 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability

ld A RSN EE
RBARAR*

company
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(BRrZBEBPEI - LAREEITIIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 AMBATINERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
B/ i/ By A8 HELF i
AER RIBEEAH RELEL LERER BF DIRF IELEER  IEREREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held bythe  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company subsidiary  of operation and legal status
IMERNEERRES HE AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERS BRLT
[T 202611A7H AR 1000007
Hangzhou Binsheng the PRC RIMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 7 Nov 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
Service Co,, Ltd. M company
BRNFERREER
N
MNEENXEERER 8 AR 100,000/ 100% - 100% NEEERE AROA
NG 025179 AR#100,0007
Hangzhou Binteng Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co., 9 Nov 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ld I BENFE R company
RBERRE*
INEENZERRER TE AR #100,0007/ 100% - 100% HE NEEERE  ARAT
RAa W21A108  ARB100,0007
Hangzhou Binxuan Property  the PRC RMB100,000/ The PRC Property management
Management Service Co,, 10 Nov 2022 RMB100,000 services, limited liability
ltd IMEFNFER company
BHERAR:
BHELTHNZEER +8 AR 85,000,000/ 51% - 51% ME NEEERE AROA
BERAR N3F8ANA ARH5,000,0007
Hainan Binjiang Jixiang the PRC RMBS,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property management 21 Aug 2023 RMBS5,000,000 services, limited liability
Senvice Co, Ltd. /§ company
BIERNEXEERE
BRAR
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(Br=BHEEAEI - AANRE LI R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
12 AMBATNERE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERRRLA
Proportion of ownership interest
R/ i/ BRf A58 HEAF HHE
AR RIBERAH RELEL LERER BF DIRF IEEEER  IERBREAMN
Place and date of Group's
establishment/  Registered/issued ~ effective Held by the  Held bya  Principal country Principal activities
Name of company incorporation  and paid-in capital  interest ~ Company  subsidiary of operation and legal status
MNRTEENZEER +8 AR 3,000,000,/ 51% - 51%  HE NEEERS BRLT
BERAR* 003%8R14A  ARM3,0000007
Hangzhou Binjiang Jinhui ~ the PRC RMB3,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property Management 14 Aug 2023 RMB3,000,000 services, limited liability
Service Co,, Ltd. M company
BILENXERRE
BRAR
BNRIRANZERE 8 AR#10,000,0007/ 51% — 51% P& NEEERE BRAW
(NN 203E9R198 AR %2,000,0007
Huzhou Binjiang Yuehu the PRC RMB10,000,000/ The PRC Property management
Property management 19 Sep 2023 RMB2,000,000 services, limited liability
Co., Ltd. METIH M company
NEERRRAR:
ANBIRENXRER & AR %4,080,0007/ 51% 51%  F NEEERE  ARAT
NN 200054A14F  AR%2,450,0007
Hangzhou Binjiang the PRC RMBA4,080,000/ The PRC Property management
Xingchuang Property 14 Apr 2020 RMB2,450,000 services, limited liability
Service Co,, Ltd. M company
BIZEANZREER
N
ANERZERHERL +E AR%2,0000007/ 51% 51% HE RERBRFAHE
al* 200454A1%68  AK%2,000,0007 ARAT
Hangzhou Binzhi Home the PRC RMB2,000,000/ The PRC Decoration service and
Decoration Co., Ltd. 16 Apr 2024 RMB2,000,000 sales of furniture, limited

MNEAREREAR

2
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 RMBARINKRE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

L FEZETEHEBHABRAA - BERIZAXE ~ All the PRC entities are limited liability companies. The English
HEHRZE  ZZERNBEAIEBBIUFXERTR - translation of the entities’ name is for reference only. The official

names of these entities are in Chinese.

() ARIE2019F9F6B WM& AEEMAEHEEE ()  Pursuant to the agreement dated 6 September 2019, the Group
60%KREHE AMUZERNUBREERKE could control 60% voting rights of the board of directors, and
BiEdlE - Al ZERBNMBEERB201949A could control the financial and operating policies of the entity.
6HBRHAXREBNGZESMBRE Accordingly, the entity’s financial information was consolidated

into the Group's consolidated financial statements from 6
September 2019.

(i) RIE2022F7A1SEMHE - AEBETEGHESE (i) Pursuant to the agreement dated 15 July 2022, the Group
60% X EE EAMETZERNMBEREEBRKRE could control 60% voting rights of the board of directors and
BEGIE - At Z BBV K ER BB could control the financial and operating policies of the entity.
2022F7R20ARFEARE BN GRS T FREK © Accordingly, the entity’s financial information was consolidated

into the Group's consolidated financial statements from the
establishment date of 20 July 2022.
2024 &2023F12A318 + & & @ As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the subsidiaries
BArREmE KEERER - of the Group had no material non-controlling
interests.

13 REEQRINRKRE 13 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR®E Tt NG R

RMB’000 RMB’'000

JE ETH & & Bk A Costs of investment, unlisted 5,430 4,450
DK IERFEE(HKRRKRE) Share of post-acquisition results,

net of dividends 876 6,140

6,306 10,590
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LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following list contains associates of the Group,
which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted
market prices are not available:

AR iR/ WM2A3NAAKE
BELTAH FHRBEA RExsl BERTER RENERER IEXH
Form of Place of Effective interest held
business incorporation Registered/ by the Group
Name of associates structure and business issued capital At 31 December Principal activities
20245 W03%
2024 2023
ANEEMEREERAR  ERAL hE AR 10,000,000/ 20% 0% ROFERRSE REIX
AR 10,000,007 ENBRERNXEERH
Hangzhou Zhibin Technology Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000/ Technology development and
Service Co, Ltd. FIMZ & RIMB10,000,000 service, provision of leasing
HRRBERAA and property management
services of industrial parks
RMEENEERRRAT MK hE AR %5,000,0007,/ 49% 9% NEERRE
AR %5,000,0007
Hangzhou Zhihe Property Incorporated the PRC RMB5,000,000/ Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. 7 M RMB5,000,000
BENEXERARDA"
ENEREINE Eaz A hE AR %2,000,0007,/ 49% — NEEERRH
ERRBARLRD" AR 2,000,007
Quzhou Huicheng Binjiang Incorporated the PRC RMB2,000,000/ Property management services
Property Management Service RMB2,000,000
Co, LABMEHEIN
ERRERRAR
* ZEPHERBARBRADA - RAlZ KX E @ These PRC entities are limited liability companies. The

HEHR2E - ZZERAFRNETBBIARX
KRR e

English translation of the Company name is for reference
only. The official name of these companies is in Chinese.
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

14 FEFRIE 14 PREPAYMENTS
2024% 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt N R
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEERMENKIE Prepayments for purchase of
software 3,543 1,901
15 F& 15 INVENTORIES
2024% 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000
HIEEENYEN Z) Properties held for re-sale (note) 289,558 244,271
B o Consumables 495 481
290,053 244,752
Bat: HEEENYEFERASEBEEFEEE Note: Properties held for re-sale mainly represent right-of-use
MIFESRFDHENERESEE - assets relating to car parking spaces and storage rooms

purchased by the Group for re-sale.
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

16 SHEE 16 CONTRACT ASSETS
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt NG R
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
REBITRERBEE L Arising from performance under

home decoration service
contracts — 23,115
B Less: loss allowance — (693)
— 22,422
REBNRERBEABENRIFRE The Group’s home decoration service contracts
—BEINERR  AERKEHBES B include payment schedules which require stage
B3k e FTERIBIEBH R R EHREF payments over the decoration period once
—FHNRE - milestones are reached. All of the amounts are

expected to be billed within one year from the end
of the reporting period.
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17 ESREMEKRRIE 17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARE T N iR
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 WA Trade receivables
—%8=5 — third parties 350,324 377,771
— B s — related parties 71,342 68,401
e 421,666 - 446,172
BB S REWGRIE R E R E Less: Allowance for impairment
of trade receivables
—%=75 — third parties (73,300) (70,989)
— s — related parties (4,428) (4,394)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, (77,728)  (75,383)
ZSEWGRIE - NBRESEEE  Trade receivables, net of loss
allowance 343,938 370,789
B8 Bt 5 H b fE W SR IE Other receivables from related
parties 1,802 1,712
MEBEEBEMABEE 5 XA Prepayments to related parties
a1 for the purchase of car parking
spaces — 17,630
e RBAHKIE Deposits and prepayments 137,134 56,486
REREEZEHHIATR Payments on behalf of property
owners 57.450 36,496
B2AXTEE Advances to employees 4,549 3,508
H b & W K18 Other receivables 45,348 58,725
590,221 545,346
BIORWBHIBETZHBEHY X ERRY - Trade receivables are primarily related to revenue
FXEFTHERBREHIRERBA®E recognised from the provision of property
REWAERA - management services, value-added services to non-
property owners and provision of home decoration
services.
FEWEE T E S R HEMERRIEBTEE Trade and other receivables from related parties are
BEIRE R B - EUEE: T RIE 2B H unsecured and interest-free. Details of the amounts
Y FE30(d) ° due from related parties are set out in note 30(d).
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17 ESRHAMEBEWRIR(E)

(a) FRilR oA
REBREHR  ERWAERBH
RANBR B 5 WK R R B B E
FEW S =77 R BB )7 B 5 B WK IR

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(a)

Ageing analysis

As at the end of each reporting period, the
ageing analysis of trade receivables from third
parties and related parties based on the date

BREC TN T - of revenue recognition and net of allowance
for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

20244 20234

2024 2023

ARE Tt NS R

RMB’'000 RMB’000

R1ER Within 1 year 304,799 338,811
1E24F 1 to 2 years 39,139 31,978
343,938 370,789

FRAAEB EERRNEMFR
R M FE27@) °

(b) BEZEWRIERE
HE 5 WKIAR /R EE 8
DERBEERLE  RIELEE
12 #9 W [ 53R 78 /9 AT BE M AR K - FE Ut
BATHREBEEEREZRK
IR R (R B SR 1)) e

(b)

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are
set out in note 27(a).

Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment losses in respect of trade
receivables are recorded using an allowance
account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which
case the impairment loss is written off against
trade receivables directly (see note 1(k)(i)).

BIRBEEARAR FEME 2024
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17 ESRHEMEKRFIEGE) 17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
(b) EZEWRKIERME(E) (b) Impairment of trade receivables
(Continued)
B 5 RKHIERFANRERE The movement in the allowance for impairment
BEmT: of trade receivables during the year is as
follows:
2024% 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt N
RMB’000 RMB'000
R1A18 At 1 January 75,383 51,517
ERRZBEER Impairment loss recognised 11,453 23,866
Bt 2 A YO & 58 Uncollectible amounts written off (9,108) —
MR12A31H At 31 December 77,728 75,383
FHAEEGERREEBRE N Further details on the Group's credit risk
KBS REMERZKIEMSIBEE management policy and credit risk arising from
[2 b ) E % F 1B R 52 27(a) © trade and other receivables are set out in note
27(a).
18 EHIEFRX 18 TIME DEPOSITS

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000

REHBBBE=MAMNEITE Time deposits held at the bank

B 77 K with original maturity over
three months 2,022,499 1,631,651
BFtAIRBEEINERE Less: Amount included under
“current assets” (941,074) (279,347)
1,081,425 1,352,304
MR2024F12A318 - REIBABE=E As at 31 December 2024, the time deposits held at
ABRITERAEREMENF230%F the bank with original maturity over three months
5.17% 2 (20234 : N F2.90% £5.31% have annual interest rates ranging from 2.30% to
Z M) - 5.17% (2023: from 2.90% to 5.31%).
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SE P BmRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
19 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®S Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB"000
MEEmMm Treasury products 301,623 —
20 ZPREIBITHEER 20 RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES
2024% 20234
2024 2023
ARE T N R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
REEZZGUWBHNES Cash collected on behalf of the
(Htat23) property owners’ associations
(note 23) 61,503 50,896
X R &l 77 R Restricted deposits 6,826 7,043
68,329 57,939

AEBEEMEEERBEHBHRRE
TEZERBAS -BRETEZEAE
FHUAFAKRRITERL, AEERREZ
EHRREEZSFRITEP

The Group has cash collection on behalf of certain
property owners’ associations in its property
management service business. Since certain
property owners’ associations often face difficulties
opening bank accounts, the Group opens and
manages these bank accounts on behalf of the
property owners’ associations.
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

21 BERREEEY

(a) RERREEEYRE:

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt INEE: S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FERS Cash on hand 18 16
FITR & Cash at bank 873,969 611,186
REIBBE=FEALAKN Fixed deposits held at the bank
R 17 E B K with original maturity within
three months 85,000 902,121
958,987 1,513,323
B PR AR 1T 4 g Less: Restricted bank balances
(#7£20) (note 20) (68,329) (57,939)
890,658 1,455,384
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

21 BERBLSEEYWH) 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB'000
Fx #5 Ai ) Profit before taxation 786,388 652,539
AT ZIBEELFE: Adjustments for:
MiHRITE Amortisation and depreciation
(BT aE5(c) R BT et 11) (note 5(c) and note 11) 18,104 13,986
pal (R /NT | e D Share of profits less losses of
B8 associates (1,596) (6,658)
DihE & 1 EF R Share of profits less losses of
&5 18 joint ventures 445 (1,821)
B E WA (KT iE53)) Finance income (note 5(a)) (80,272) (67,402)
B & P A (B 7E5(a) Finance costs (note 5(a)) 122 647
HEMBARIMEIR Loss on disposal of subsidiaries — 15
BAFEFAEBZNE  Net realised and unrealised
BIE Kok B IE W F gains on FVPL (note 4)
B (K1 at4) (1,623) =
HEME BMEKLZME  Netloss on disposal of property,
2 BB FE K74 plant and equipment (note 4) 457 308
ZoRKFIERE L Impairment losses on trade
BEZREEE receivables and contract
assets 10,760 24,279
SINDE 85 18 (M7 2221(c) Foreign exchange loss (note 21(c)) — 8,309
LBESEY: Changes in working capital:
FE N Increase in inventories (45,301) (97,253)
EBHEENRBESKEM  Increase in contract assets and
JE Ug SR I 12 0 trade and other receivables (33,213) (242,039)
B 5 & BRI Increase in trade and other
0 payables 159,121 174,516
AHBECRLD) (Decrease)/increase in contract
liabilities (432) 648,257
ZREIBE M, (Increase)/decrease in restricted
A cash (10,390) 73
KEEENIRS Cash generated from operations 802,570 1,107,756
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21 RERREEEWE)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(c) MEZBHELENEEHRE (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities
TERFMASERETHHNEE The table below details changes in the
2 pRERSNIFRSEH - Group’s liabilities from financing activities,
BRETHMEANABRREERN including both cash and non-cash changes.
EFARARBRERNEZERNAEE R Liabilities arising from financing activities are
EHREeREXRPOELEABRERERDY liabilities for which cash flows were, or future

FISRERENEIE -

cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated cash flow statement as cash
flows from financing activities.

HEER REBARE Bt
Lease  Dividend

liabilities payable Total

ARBTRT ARBTR AR® TR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Hti#24)
(note 24)

®2024%1R1A At 1 January 2024 4,023 — 4,023
RELERERE: Changes from financing cash flows:
ENEEREEAT D Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,856) — (1,856)
ENAEREASHS Interest element of lease rentals paid

(H1325() (note 5(a)) (122) — (122)
BT IR B (F 2 26(c) Dividend paid (note 26(c)) —  (504,833) (504,833)
BEREREZHAT Total changes from financing cash flows (1,978)  (504,833)  (506,811)
Hitt#5: Other changes:
FRIUHHENEE Increase in lease liabilities from entering

BREEM into new leases during the year 479 — 479
FER X 5#56) Interest expenses (note 5(a)) 122 — 122
&85 B (A 2 26(c) Dividend distribution (note 26(c)) — 504,833 504,833
Hin &g @sm Total other changes 601 504,833 505,434
R2024%127831H At 31 December 2024 2,646 — 2,646
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(BR=BEREHN

21 RERREEEYWE)

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

HEAE EARE @t
Lease Dividend
liabilities payable Total
ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(W52
(note 24)
R2023F1A1R At1January2023 454 - 454
RERERERD: Changes from financing cash flows:
ENHEEHESEARIL D Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,153) = (1,153)
ENEEASHNAETLD Interest element of lease rentals paid (59) — (59)
B RS Dividend paid — (259208  (259,208)
BARSRBEHEE  Total changes from financing cash flows (1.212)  (259.208)  (260.420)
Hin 28 Other changes:
FRFTUHAEOMAERRE  Increase in lease liabilities from entering
Zm into new leases during the year 4,667 — 4,667
EREHHzE Effect of movements in exchange rates 5 8,309 8,314
T EF X (Hi#5a) Interest expenses (note 5()) 109 — 109
fix B2 B Dividend distribution — 250,899 250,899
Hin &g @a Total other changes 4,781 259,208 263,989
®2023%12A31A At 31 December 2023 4,023 — 4,023

BIRBEEARAR FEME 2024
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21 BERBEEEYWE) 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(d) HERERHAE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEFARESRERTIHNCEHERE Amounts included in the cash flow statement
AR for leases comprise the following:

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREEHEERE Within operating cash flows 16,110 13,856
BREERERE Within financing cash flows 1,978 1,212
18,088 15,068
22 AWERE 22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000
) 3 B 18 AR A Property management services 264,851 213,353
EFEFHEBERD Value-added services to non-
property owners 826 4,101
5S 3 1B IR 7% 5S value-added services 1,289,689 1,338,344

1,555,366 1,555,798
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

22 EHEE®H) 22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)
L& EBERBEE =R BENY The above contract liabilities represent prepaid
¥XEEE BARBERTHRZTARKSM property management fees, consulting service fees,
BRBEERXEREE - customised interior furnishing services fees and
home decoration services fees received from third
parties.
BERNEEZEHIT: Movements in contract liabilities were as follows:

2024F 20234
2024 2023
ARE T N
RMB’000 RMB’000

M1ATE R 4 &7 Balance at 1 January 1,555,798 907,338
MRERFER W (B A Decrease in contract liabilities
BRBBE)MEENESLHNERE  as aresult of recognising
A revenue during the year that
was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning

of the period (1,063,891) (364,983)
AR EREATEWFES Increase in contract liabilities as a
ER A EE N result of receipts in advances of
provision of services 1,063,459 1,013,443
K12 A318 8 & & Balance at 31 December 1,555,366 1,555,798
B —FULBRABANELDEYK The amount of receipts in advance of performance
KB A R %233,575,0007C (20234 : A expected to be recognised as income after
R #737,185,0007T) ° more than one year is RMB233,575,000 (2023:

RMB737,185,000).

BIRBEEARAR FEME 2024
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(BR=BHEREIN
23 EZNHEMENRE

LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20244 20234
2024 2023
i ARE T N R
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 N IR Trade payables 275,054 194,739
—%=7h — third parties (@) 272,349 191,872
— s — related parties (b) 2,705 2,867
H At & 1<F 8BS 5 RKIB Other payables due to
related parties (b) 41,901 47,909
ARER S Refundable deposits (c) 76,279 60,222
HihENBERER Other taxes and charges
payable 93,322 145,466
Bt ITE K& H At 12 A Accrued payroll and other
benefits 248,221 198,904
REXEZGUBRWES Cash collected on behalf
(Ht&#20) of the property owners’
associations (note 20) 61,503 50,896
B¥x 'BEHWREKEEE  Temporary receipts from
FKIB property owners/buyers (d) 148,039 108,866
Hih 7B K E5HFXIE  Other payables and accruals 64,676 40,156
1,008,995 847,158

(@) EBIHIRNFEIEEIERBELENEN
RE BREARR R SEREZERDE
AT 5 IR 75 TR B e 5008 ©

by ENBEBRIESREMEMNKETDEEIR
HhEs - BNBAHIRENFBEIRN
F£30(d) © E A - A R %41,861,0007T (2023
F12A8318 : A R#46,791,0007T) & # 8 B
TR ENBARGERNEEREREE
BN —FRNERBRA -

(0 ARERSENKEDERE RN
REERE -

d BEFREIEERXRABEEQRNMET
W AREXERUARRDEHELR
REAMDEE T ERHKRMOYERS KA
e
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(a)

(@}

Trade payables mainly represent payables arising from
sub-contracting services including cleaning, security,
landscaping, and maintenance services and payables for
home decoration service projects.

Trade and other payables due to related parties are
unsecured and interest-free. Details of the amounts due
to related parties are set out in note 30(d). Among which,
RMB41,861,000 (31 December 2023: RMB46,791,000) are
prepaid consulting services fees and property management
services fees received from related parties and expected to
be recognised as income within one year.

Refundable deposits represent miscellaneous decoration
deposits received from property owners during the
decoration period.

Temporary receipts mainly represent utility charges
received from property owners on behalf of utility
companies and property transaction amounts and deed
taxes temporarily received from property buyers relating
to brokerage services for property sales.
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(BR=BEREHN

23 ESRHEMEMNRE®)
REmelk SR HEEA RS
BT R E =0 E P AR A
-

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade payables due to related parties and
third parties, based on invoice date is as follows:

2024% 20234

2024 2023

AR% Tt NS R

RMB’'000 RMB’000

3fEAR Within 3 months 97,552 77,594

31 A1 1B1F A After 3 months but within 1 year 167,033 113,123

BiBE1F Over 1 year 10,469 4,022

275,054 194,739

24 HEEE 24 LEASE LIABILITIES
M20244F K2023FE12A318 - FHE & & At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the lease liabilities
EEAT A RER: were repayable as follows:

2024% 20234

2024 2023

AR% Tt NS R

RMB’000 RMB’000

R1FE R Within 1 year 1,564 2,368

1F&E2F K After 1 year but within 2 years 1,082 1,007

2F 1% After 2 years — 648

2,646 4,023

BIRBEEBERAR FEHRE 2024
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25 ZEMBRRAROFEH 25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) FmEMBMRRZRAVENPHIER (a) Current taxation in the consolidated
1B statement of financial position
represents:
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%S Tt NG R
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
M1A18 At 1 January 86,340 100,564
JiNE =Kl S Charged to profit or loss 221,642 149,377
HEFBEHNHREBEHEL  Transferred from deferred
MEBEEA tax liabilities in respect of
withholding tax 20,000 15,263
FEMNK Payments during the year (241,356) (178,864)
M®12A31H At 31 December 86,626 86,340
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25

(B=EEAEN
RE B AROR RSB (8)

(i) EERBEEEREESAR
BoNEE
REEBMBMRNEXA
AEENEERBEE (&
BE)WEXRE SR ESHIT

fE 52 |

25

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(i) Movement of each component of
deferred tax assets and liabilities
The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as

follows:
EARY
RER AREH
AhEE WEAIRE
ZAERR REFR  EiEx GKAREE  HERE RANANEAH H
Withholding
tax on
Impairment profits
loss on trade retained
receivables by the
and contract Accrued  Right-of- Lease Group's PRC
assets  Taxlosses  expenses use Assets liabilities subsidiaries Total
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB'000 RIB'000 RMB'000
R0B3E1418 At 1 January 2023 12,950 292 12,561 (156) 30 (26,883) (1,206)
ASERENBRADENR  Withholding tax paid or
SEXNAEAHENHR  payable on dividend paid by
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries - - — — - 15,263 15,263
RERHA/(0%) Credited/{charged) to profit or loss 6,069 91 1,854 (738) 973 (8,380) (131)
R023F12A318 At 31 December 2023 19,019 383 14,415 (894) 1,003 (20,000) 13,926
AEEREMBAREFE  Withholding tax paid or payable
SEXAREFHENR  on duidend paid by the
Group's PRC subsidiaries - — — — - 20,000 20,000
RBRFIA/ (B Credited/(charged) to profit
or loss 387 29 1,709 (129) (140) (13,100) (11,244)
R2045128318 At 31 December 2024 19,406 412 16,124 (1,03) 863 (131000 2,68

BIRBEESRAR FERE 2024
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(BRmBEAESIN
25 FEMBRRROFEHR (@) 25

(b) ERAELEHBREERERE: (8)

(i) BEAMBRRRHEE

LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

recognised: (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position

2024 % 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt N R
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REEB T BRI KR ANHE  Net deferred tax asset in the
BEEBIEEEFE consolidated statement of
financial position 35,782 33,926
REB T AR R KR AAK  Net deferred tax liabilities in
EEBIBEEEFHE the consolidated statement
of financial position (13,100) (20,000)
22,682 13,926

() RERELEBBEEE
WEBATEHERRELEHIBEE
=

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the following items:

ABARAEE — T EH

Unused tax losses— PRC

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARE Tt NG B
RMB’000 RMB’000
4,657 1,725

BEBEMFINEHINOEABE - B
2024F12A31H  AEB Y ERH
T Bt B 2 F R B) AR IE A 1B R
A R #1,020,0007T i T Fi 1B & &
(20234 : A R#431,000T) - EF
RAE RBBEABEBREER KA
BEEARRERT A EAIHE THE
NEEEEE -

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

In accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 1(r), the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets of RMB1,020,000 (2023:
RMB431,000) in respect of unused tax losses
of certain subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024.
The directors consider it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available of the certain
subsidiaries in the relevant tax jurisdiction.
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25 JREMBRRROAEHR (@)

() AERIELEHEEE (B

REBEFBENBERERER KBS
HANRERRBABBRBRAT

25

SE P BmRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

(Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, the unrecognised tax losses at the

FEE end of the reporting period will expire in the
following years:
2024F 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000
20244 2024 — 9
20254 2025 11 11
2026F 2026 1,069 1,132
20274 2027 60 60
20284 2028 513 513
20294 2029 3,004 —
4,657 1,725

BIRGEERREAR FERS 2024
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

26 EX - EREKE

AEBEGAESSAREH B
5 t B H R 45 £ 00 ¥ B ML A
ABBEHE - ADT BB AR
48 B0 5 9 £F 41 T 4 O R P o 2
HERIIATX:

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

The reconciliation between the opening and

closing balances of each component of the
Group's consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out

below:
NG Company % R EE ERfE BRAA @i
Share Share Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
Wi ARETR  ARBTR ARBTT  ARETT ARET:R
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wit2et) — WE2e0)0) K26
note 26(b)  note 26(a)j)  note 26(d)ii)
®2023%15188  Balance at 1 January 2023
&8 181 82,847 8,933 5,840 97,801
0235MEREH:  Changes in equity for 2023:
EE2EMEAE  Total comprehensive income
for the year — — (6,242) 286,934 280,692
BEFEMER Dividends declared in respect
RE of the previous year 26(c)(i) — — — (250,899) (250,899)
R2023%12A318  Balance at 31 December 2023
R20245151R and 1 January 2024
NE& R 181 82,847 2,691 41875 127,594
2205 MEHEH:  Changes in equity for 2024:
EE2ENEEE  Total comprehensive income
for the year — — 37,146 1,250,902 1,288,048
BAEEAERME  Dividends declared in respect
of the previous year 26(c)i) — — — (345,744) (345,744)
AEEMERRSE  Dividends declared in respect
of the current year 26(c)(i) — — — (159,089) (159,089)
R2024512A318 Balance at 31 December 2024
igkeEn 181 82,847 39,837 787,944 910,809
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

26 EX - REERE(®) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)
(b) B#& (b) Share Capital
EE R A Authorised share capital
20245 2023%
2024 2023
B#AEE &8 L £
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
(&) S (k) TEx
("000) US$'000 ('000) Us$'000
EE: Authorised:
B L ER0.0001% T Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each 1,000,000 100 1,000,000 100
EEITHRE Issued share capital
20245 203
2024 2023
R&EE K&
No. of No. of
shares shares
(Th) ARK%Tx (ThR) ARETn
("000) RMB'000 ('000) RMB'000
BRIRMEN Ordinary shares, issued and
LER: fully paid:
WA1BR12A31H At 1 January and 31 December 276,407 181 276,407 181

BIRGEERREAR FERS 2024
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26 EX - RERBRE(HE) 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

() *FEEREAQAREEZRE (i) Dividends payable to equity
ZRE: shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year:

20245 20224
2024 2023
AR% Tt N R
RMB’000 RMB’000

R H#% SR &K  Interim dividend of HKD0.630 per
NE R ERES share declared and paid after
f%0.630/8 7L (Bl =  the interim period (six months
202346 H30H It ended 30 June 2023: Nil)

NEA:F) 159,089 —
REEE VBRI EK  Final dividend of HKD0.876

H HA 1& #% &k R 23 per share proposed after the

f& 2.5 180.876/8 consolidated statement of

JC (20234 : 424  financial position date (2023:
BN KRBH®%  final dividend of HKD1.178 per
BIRAHKEEM  share and special dividend of
1178 L R R %  HKDO0.196 per share proposed
B &A%0.1967% 7T) after the consolidated statement

of financial position date) 223,602 344,782
INE I S BTl - N The final dividend proposed after the
B ERBESHRAERRE end of the reporting period has not been
f& o recognised as a liability at the end of the

reporting period.
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26 EX - EEREE @

(i) tEYBRFERNAIQTE

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(ii) Dividends payable to equity

HERERAREWT: shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous
financial year:

2024% 20234
2024 2023
ARB Tt NG R
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEBBEEHER  Final dividend of HKD1.178 per
HR B8 8%1.178 share in respect of the previous
BRI BE  financial year and special
fx0.196%8 T © B dividend of HKDO.196 per share,
REAH#ERIES  approved and paid during the
(20234 : AHIMR B year (2023: final dividend of
B i%1.0017% 70) HKD1.001 per share) 345,744 250,899

(i) KtiEE

()

g BHEEHITROE
B 42 %0 8 B # &5 Ik RUCER /Y
FIERBFRCAMNERE -
REREHBERAE  ARQF

P 0 3 188 B AT #1E 0 UIR BX

BTAR

NEEERR EEEES
DKREERR  ARAHKE
ENRELEREHEETN

BEHBBME -

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference
between the total amount of the par
value of shares issued and the amount of
the net proceeds received from the equity
shareholders. Under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is
distributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company would be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.
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335



336

e BwRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR=BHEREIN
26 EX - EEREE @)

(ii) HEEEME

A TE /R TR E T B AR B
BMAIROER AR AKX K&K E
B A (% F 2 A R B
RA)MMABERAAZT
EERBHBEINEIME
N HI50% ° =% f+f 1 RO B B A
RARERAEADIRBKEZ

A {EH e

WEBERMS

it & AN #925%

(iii) B X% %%

PE 5 B2 75 P B KR 3R 50
BNV BERREEELEN
FTBINEZR - ZHEEDIR
R FE( AT E DI A0 & 5B

B2 3R o
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BARERLOEDNER
HRTRGHERAEBEBRREN
REHRBETIIORNZEENE

LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

PRC statutory reserves

Statutory reserves is established in
accordance with the relevant PRC rules
and regulations and the articles of
association of the companies comprising
the Group which are incorporated in the
PRC until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. The
transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of a dividend to equity
holders.

For the entities concerned, statutory
reserves can be used to cover previous
years' losses, if any, and may be
converted into capital in proportion to
the existing equity interests of equity
holders, provided that the balance of
the reserve after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the entity’s registered
capital.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside the mainland China.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in
note 1(u).
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26 BXF - RERKRE(®

AEBEAEENETEBZARE
REBRBELENE N LNER
HRBELERBRKEEBNTE
BRAGERANSRE &
ARERIE MR R R A M T EAE
MERMENZE - REE2023F &
2024F12A3MBEFE - A& B /K
BREIABEREBETLE -

AEENEARBEREARITER
LFHERBERAENMREEFEY
MAKENEDEBEDHETRA
BEMBREMHE -

ARAEEFTHMAERNRERE - R
BEREBRE EFEREAXNALK
HERHNERAERERNER  EB
IR BT R R ETHES
SEOREES  FHAHEHEEER
g e

RE@EHREIA - A KB E @
SNERHE DN E AN R K o

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable
cost. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged throughout the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
bank loans and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents, and equity of the Group,
comprising issued share capital, retained
profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the
capital structure periodically. Based on the
operating budgets, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital and balances its overall
capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing
debts.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed

capital requirements throughout the reporting
period.
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27 BHERERE
FIEROES RBES - FERIME
RETITRARENEERBBRETES -

AEENeREERRER e RASEFE
Y XRHRE TEHERIAUALREZR
HibEWHIE - AEENEHBERR
BN HE M ENFIE -

AEBEFEAYNZFRBRAAEESE
BZERBAEANMBEREER
RREH & AR T e

AEENEERBRIEZETNEAR
RITEE XRFIRTER - T
TR ESREMEBKRKE A4
BERBAFEFARRZ EE
EEEREERR UKEEE
HENZEEERR

AEBNRTHRS  XRHIKRT
me - EHERERAFEFTA
EaIT2rAENemBEss -
EEERARFEETEELAM
MEAEERR BEAZETH
KEBEAUETERORRAKEES
KE R o

R EKKE(BREF R REN
RE - KREINAFK RAEER
REREMME AKEEFE
ERNELHEECHENMATEEERN (B
REBRR) REREARYHE
BAFENZERERANEY
EEBBRXIAEKR - Ft - RNk
& HI A L A% R AR IR RE R
BB -
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arise in the normal course of the
Group's business.

Financial assets of the Group include cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and trade
and other receivables. Financial liabilities of the
Group include trade and other payables.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash at bank, restricted bank balances, time
deposits, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and FVPL. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The cash at bank, restricted bank balances,
time deposits and FVPL of the Group are
mainly held with well-known financial
institutions. Management does not foresee
any significant credit risks from these assets
and does not expect that these financial
institutions may default and cause losses to
the Group.

In respect of other receivables including
deposits and prepayment, payments on behalf
of property owners, advances to employees
and others, the Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss rate for these receivables
is immaterial under 12 months expected losses
method based on historical settlement records
and looking-forward information (including
the economic environment). Thus no loss
allowance provision for these receivables was
recognised during the reporting period.
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27 BBEREBREREE

REFRBKBELRANEEMS
AEBRSHREHRGFERE
EFEEX -HRAEENBEREE
BEREERBTIIRER 2 M E
BEABERZR MEEKRE
MEtENEBERRBRIEERA
HETON REAKBTRATFH
ME—FED -

ANEBEEIWBAEHES K EMER
FIEH R BT E30(d) °

MN20245F128318  AEBWHEF
HERAN UEREBF=ZFHEZE
EERRBSES -

AEEREARGFEMBEHNEER
BEEROSBR(ERENEESRE
REEREFE)GFEBERREE -

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

In respect of trade receivables and contract
assets, the Group estimates the expected
credit loss rate at the end of each reporting
period. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on ageing information,
which is analysed based on the date of
revenue recognition, is further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The Group’s trade and other receivables due
from the related parties are disclosed in note
30(d).

The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk from third parties in view of its large
number of customers as at 31 December 2024.

The Group measures loss allowances at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using individually determined to be
impaired and a provision matrix.
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27 BEBREEE)

B EEARE
MR2024F12A310 - AEEBENE S
JFE U 5K A R #21,018,0007T (2023
F12A318 : A R %35,099,0007T)
BRIEERBE-  HFERKAE
HHE P E A8 [ B R E - R
H BEENHESNS ERHRIE
TE BRI U Bl o B bt - 7R2024F12 A
31 RE S FE WA E R A &
% 5 A R#%13,315,0007T (2023412
A318 : AR #14,264,0007T) °

BiEERE

MR2024F12A31B: R IE £ B &
BREISRBRBRENEERK
M HEMNMEBEREREEBEAR
#64,413,0007C (2023F : A R %
61,812,0007T) c TRUABEEME T
A5 A A K E2024F K% 2023F
RANBEZRURBEBRENEE
MEERRKRMEHREERIS -
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Individually determined to be impaired
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade
receivables of RMB21,018,000 (31 December
2023: RMB35,099,000) were individually
determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables related to customers that
were in collection difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables
is expected to be recovered. Consequently,
specific allowance for impairment of trade
receivables of RMB13,315,000 (31 December
2023: RMB14,264,000) were recognised as at
31 December 2024.

Provision matrix

At 31 December 2024, the allowances for
doubtful debts of RMB64,413,000 (2023:
RMB61,812,000) were additionally made
based on a collective group basis assessment
by ageing of trade receivables and contract
assets. The following table provides
information about the Group’s exposure to
credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets by using a provision matrix as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) EHEE (i) Contract assets
EH FREE
R2024512A31H BER BRE EBEREG
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
At 31 December 2024 loss rate amount allowance
ARM ARM
Fr Fr
RMB’000 RMB’000
FMEEERHE Non-property management
services
R1ER Within 1 year ZNil — —
Ta H FREE
M2023F12A31H BEX BmE EBEBEEE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
At 31 December 2023 loss rate amount allowance
AR AR
T T
RMB'000 RMB"000
FEMEEERIE Non-property management
services
R1ER Within 1 year 3% 23,115 693

BIRBEEBERAR FEHRE 2024
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27 HHEARERGE)

(a) FERER(H)
(i) EZEWHKE

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
(ii) Trade receivables

R2024%128318 At 31 December 2024 BHEEE REEAR BERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
AR TR AR TR
RMB'000 RMB’000
FNEEERY Non-property
management
services
P1ER Within 1 year 3% 117,557 3,527
1226 110 2 years 10% 4,038 404
RiB2F Over 2 years 100% 560 560
MEEERE Property management
services
RMER Within 1 year 1% 207,982 22,588
122F 110 2 years 36% 51,750 18,573
Him2F Over 2 years 100% 18,761 18,761
278,493 59,922
@t Total 400,648 64,413
RW2023%12H318 At 31 December 2023 FEHEEX RHERR BEEE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
ENEEBRY Non-property
management
services
B1ER Within 1 year 3% 174,908 5,248
15226 1 to 2 years 10% 11,358 1,136
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 186266 6384
MESERE Property management
services
R1ER Within 1 year 14% 180,884 25,583
=24 1 to 2 years 52% 30,744 15,973
HRiB2F Over 2 years 100% 13,179 13,179
224,807 54,735
5t Total 411,073 61,119
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BBRREE S

(i) EZEUREE)
BEHBEXEBE=FMNE
REBRERTE - ZFHLE
RRBEA(EEBREERNY
A I &) &L MR - B AT R
RASBEHEWRRABYE
BHHNEBERRAZBER ZE
Ro-MMARE - BREAAKHE
REZREMERKARE
MEEMEENEERRD
#— L 8B E &N E17
K16 °

AEBENEREERERTAEE
MRBESRR BRERTEAS
BEmAKRE - U ERERKER
(BN BPE AEREERFR
RHRNBACHBEREIZSCHMBERE
R/ZAESENEMBARESERH
MAZERE UAneEEH R
EHMWRBEEHTR -

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(ii) Trade receivables (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on
actual loss experience over the past
3 years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. Further
quantitative disclosures in respect of
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from trade and other receivables and
contract assets are set out in notes 17
and 16.

The Group’'s management reviews the
liquidity position of the Group on an ongoing
basis, including review of the expected cash
inflows and outflows and maturity of loans
and borrowings if any, in order to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions and/or from
other Group companies to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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LA A REIT5)7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The following tables show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of each
reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on:

contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of each
reporting period) and the date the group
is contractually required to pay, or if the
counterparty has the choice of when the
amount should be paid (irrespective of
the fulfilment of covenants), the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay;
and

expected undiscounted cash flows
provided to the Group’s key management
personnel and the date the Group is
expected to pay, shown as adjustments
to the contractual undiscounted cash
flows if the timing and/or amount to the
cash flows are expected to be different
from the contractual undiscounted cash
flows.
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BBRREE S

RBESRRE(E)

ZHREMR  Trade and other

1£ng
BREX

Within 1 year
or on demand
ARETR
RMB'000
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

R2024%12A31H
As at 31 December 2024

ARNARRRER

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BE1F
{B2%

More than

1 year but less
than 2 years
AR®TR
RMB'000

BR2E RM2B31A K
{B5E BRSE !5 BEE
More than
2 years Carrying
but less More than amount at
than 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
ARETR N S ARETT ARET TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ENHE payables 1,008,995 - - - 1,008,995 1,008,995
HEEE Lease liabilities 1,631 654 470 - 2,755 2,646
ANREH  Contractual and

AERE  enpected

R undiscounted

cash outflow 1,010,626 654 470 - 1,011,750 1,011,641
R023F12A318
As at 31 December 2023
ANMRERASRL
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
1Rk ol BiRF R2A31BH
BEX {B2ER {B5ER BRE & FHE
More than
More than 2 years Carrying
Within 1 year 1 year but less but less More than amount at
or on demand than 2 years than 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B5REM  Trade and other

3R payables 847,158 — — - 847,158 847158
AEBE  Lease liabilities 2,463 1,049 678 — 4,190 4023
AHRESH  Contractual and

AERR  enpected

i undiscounted

cash outflow 849,621 1,049 678 — 851,348 851,181
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

27 HHEARERGE)

() FIRmE

AEENNERBREIZERRE R
ReEEY XRHVRE  EH7F

AERBEERE -

(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from cash and cash equivalents, restricted

cash, time deposits and lease liabilities.

TRFANAEEFE I AT The following table details the interest rate
EAR profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial
instruments:
R2024512A31H R2023%12A318
At 31 December 2024 At 31 December 2023
ERAZ ERA %
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% AE®TTR % ARETT
% RMB'000 % RIMB'000
BENEERIA: Fixed rate financial instruments:
RYSBABB=EAMRT Time deposits held at the bank with
EHER M8 original maturity over three months
(note 18) 2.30% ~5.17% 2,022,499 2.90% ~531% 1,631,651
RISBATEAB=EAMBRST  Fixed deposits held at the bank with
EHRER ML) original maturity within three months
(note 21) 1.50% 85,000  1.45%-~3.00% 902,121
HEaEWHNM Lease liabilities (note 24) 3.95%~4.75% (2,686)  4.2%~475% (4,023)
FHAEERIA: Variable rate financial instruments;
ROALRIRARTLEE Cash at bank and restricted bank balance
(Wit2) (note 21) 0.01% ~ 1.65% 873,969 0.01% ~ 2.05% 611,186
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The Group does not account for any fixed rate
financial instruments, such as time deposits
and lease liabilities, at fair value through profit
or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate
at the end of the reporting period would not
affect profit or loss.

In respect of the exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative financial instruments held by
the Group, such as cash at bank and restricted
cash, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group is not exposed to significant interest
rate risk as the interest rates of cash at bank
and restricted bank balance are not expected
to change significantly.

Overall, the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk is not significant.

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through sales and purchases that
are denominated in a currency other than
the respective functional currencies of Group
entities.

The Company, the BVI subsidiary and the
Hong Kong subsidiary’'s functional currency
is Hong Kong Dollar (HKD). Their businesses
are principally conducted in HKD. In addition,
as the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group
considers the risk of movements in exchange
rates between the HKD and the USD to be
insignificant.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries’ functional
currency is RMB and their businesses are
principally conducted in RMB. Therefore,
the Group considers the currency risk to be
insignificant.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
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()

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the
fair value of the Group’'s financial
instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

o Level 1 Fair value measured using only Level 1
valuations:  inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

o Level2 Fair value measured using Level 2
valuations:  inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available.

o level3 Fair value measured using significant
valuations:  unobservable inputs
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
27 B EERE(E)

(e)

AFEM B

il

BATEFENEREER

a8E&(E)
RNFEERE)
BEEDNVENE Recurring fair value
measurements
BE: Assets;

BERATEFAER FVPL

—BHER — Treasury products

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

142024512 A
BIRNATE  R0UF2ANANATEFESIER

Fair value at

Fair value measurements as at

31 December 2024 categorised into
-8 EZR F=R
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AR®TR AR®TR AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

301,623 = 301,623 -

H £20244F &2023F12 A31H
EFEE ZE—REE_-_RK M
WaERER  TEEANE N
FZRB - AEBEHEKXAER
BHEBRNREHRERR
FTEERA  HANER -

BRIRITEITNRRAFETA
BEWEMERMS ERF
BEEBERTAMNESH
BMRAREHANERFEE

=

IE ©

MR2023F12A31H » A& E I
EEAFESENSREE
REE -

During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of
fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

For treasury products issued by banks
that are measured as FVPL, the fair
value is determined by net value of the
products on the consolidated statement
of financial position date that was
published by commercial banks.

The Group did not have financial assets

and liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 December 2023.
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAARBEITHI/R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

27 BEBREEE)

(e) ATEE(E)
(i) THBAFEIEZLME
EREENATHE

ENE N7 DN 3 NN
IR SR TAMKEESR
20244 % 2023F12A31B 8
FEYBREAEZR -

28 HARAEE
R2024F12831H » REBE W E T M E
RN ABE -

29 EiE
F2024F12 A318 « & & 7 B 15 ] & #&
BWEORERERAENT

27

28

29

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried at other than fair
value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December
2024 not provided for in the financial statements
were as follows:

2024 2023
2024% 20234
ARE Tt NS R
RMB’'000 RMB"000
MU BREREEEDETL Contracted for acquisition of
intangible assets 2,423 3,470

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXFEBARS 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
RiZgaBEmREMENRENEH A In addition to the related party information
BRASN - REBE TS T 5 8 KB disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
R e statements, the Group entered into the following

significant related party transactions.

RBEHRA - BT ST H During the reporting period, transactions with
RABEARS the following parties are considered as related

party transactions:

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

EAEENER
Relationship with the Group

B B 5 A4
Mr. Qi Jinxing B & 81 4t &

MMBIREERAERAR(EIZERD)REWME ARG -
PR BIFEREWB AR :

Hangzhou Binjiang Investment Holding Limited (“Binjiang
Holding"”) and its subsidiaries #1 ) /& )T 1% & 1% fx 5 BR A 7
([ETER]) R EM B 2QFR, including:

Binjiang Real Estate and its subsidiaries

BILFENMENERQF);

MNBRXERXRERAQA
Hangzhou Qinmao Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMREKEXEBERAA

MMEEEXFRAA
Hangzhou Xingtang Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMEEEXBRAQA

MMNEIEXBR QA
Hangzhou Xijiang Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMNBEIEZRRAR

INRLF L E R EHFR AR
Hangzhou Baohong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

INER A BB E R A R A A

AN F AR
Controlling shareholder
of the Company

Mr. Qi Jinxing is a
controlling shareholder

B LR IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT AR ) B A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 IR ) Bt R 7
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B LR IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BIREEEERAR FERE 2024
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXBEB LIRS (&) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

EAEENER
Relationship with the Group

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

MMNEBHEEZBR QA
Hangzhou Star Yun Property Co., Ltd.
MMEBEEFR DA

mMNELEERZEER AR
Hangzhou Bingin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
TUMB O B b 2E B 3 B R 2 A

MBS Hh E B 3 A R A A

Hangzhou Binwen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
UM X Hh 2E B 3 A R A Al

MMEREEREFGR AT

Hangzhou Bohang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MMEBEREEREFRQF

MM IEWERBEFR QA

Hangzhou Jingjiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MM T EERZERR QA

MMERERXRERAF
Hangzhou Binyuan Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMEEEXRBER AR

MMNAIEBREEXEARAA
Hangzhou Xijiang Henggiao Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMNAIEBREXBERAQA

=RAR T g0 R /N]
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E I B B & 1 A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT YE IR Y Bit & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B B & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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SE P BmRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

= o) oR A

Relationship with the Group

MINEED R XBR QA
Hangzhou Shenrui Logistics Technology Co., Ltd.
MMEBEEDREKRBER A A

MMNEEFEHERERR QA
Hangzhou Binfeng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MMNEE EHERZEARAF

MNEFEMERZEFR AR
Hangzhou Binyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MMEFEERERR AR

mMELEHERZEERRQ A
Hangzhou Bin ‘an Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMNEREHERZFR QA

MM BB EH EREFR ARG
Hangzhou Binbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MM BEBEFHERZERR QG

#INERFHWERZEBR AR
Suzhou Binyuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

HMNEREHERZERER QR

MM EBEIEFEMERZEARRAA
Hangzhou New Huangpu Binshun Real Estate Development

Co,Ltd MMHEBEIEEHEREFR QA

MMEEZERBEXRBRAA
Hangzhou Xinda Olympic Sports Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMEEZEREBEXBRAA

BEREFEHMERZEARADA
Deqing Jingsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
EERREHMERZEERAR

=RAR Y g: o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 R ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT AR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR B & X A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IR Y B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B LR IR B B & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXEBERS(E)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

= S o) R A

Relationship with the Group

MMNERELEXBRAF
Hangzhou Guotai Century Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMNBERELEXZFRLQA

MMEFBOHIEE X BR QA
Hangzhou Lvcheng Zhezhi Property Co., Ltd.
MNAR AN IE B X BR AT

MM EHEREHMERZERGR AT
Hangzhou New Huangpu Binzhi Real Estate Development

Co, Ltd MMH B REHEHEREBR QA

MMNEITLRFEXZBRAA
Hangzhou Xijiang Shenjianong Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMNAELLRFEXARLQA

BEMRREXBRAF
Yueqing Liangrong Real Estate Co., Ltd.
LETREEXRRRAA

MMMKREHERZEFR AT
Hangzhou Tianyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMREEHEREBR QA

MNE 2 = h ZE B A R A A
Hangzhou Binyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MMEZSFEHERZEFRRQA

mANERAE I EREERA G
Hangzhou Binhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
WU B A B5 b EE B B A IR A A

=RAR T g0 R /N]
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B T 12 AR B Bt R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT YE IR Y Bt & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR Y B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR B & X A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IRy B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXBEB LRI (H) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

= o) oR A

Relationship with the Group

BNEFERMERETER AT
Wenzhou Jianianhua Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

BNEFERHERZERR AT

MNP EEEXEBERAQA
Hangzhou Zhongxi Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MMFEXEXRBER AR

UM B3PS b E B 2 A R A A
Hangzhou Yuewen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMBXEHEFREBR QA

mMMERXEHEREER AT
Hangzhou Chuntian Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMERFEHERBZGR QA

AIEEREHEREZEGR AR
Zhejiang Hengxi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
HIEREMERZERR QA

EREBEXREEZRERAFA
Ningbo Bincheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.
EREXREEZEARAQA

MMESFEHERERRAA
Hangzhou Binxiu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

RN ERERENEERAR

MM BT i ER AR A E
Hangzhou Binxin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMNBTEHERZEFR AR

=RAR Y g: o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 R ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT AR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

=RAR e g o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IR Y B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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30 EXBEB LIRS (&) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

EAEENER
Relationship with the Group

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

MMNBEHERER QA
Hangzhou Binming Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMEHEXREFRAA

MMEBEEREFR DA
Hangzhou Bingiao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMNEBEHERZABR A

BT EZEREEZRARAT
Tonglang Anjing Industrial Co., Ltd.
MBTREREXRGRAA

MMEGFEERZERR QG
Hangzhou Binyang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MIMNESEERZEAR ARG

MMEEEXFRAA

Hangzhou Yudao Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMEHEEXRERDA

TNDE B3 5 Hh E B 3B R A 7

Hangzhou Binying Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
MMEBEREHERZEFRRQA

MINBIEEHEREARR DG

Hangzhou Bincheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMEBERFEHERERR QA
MMNEEFHERBEFR QA

Hangzhou Binmao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMNEBEEWEREARR QA

=RAR T g0 R /N]
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E I B B & 1 A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B B & R 7]
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT YE IR Y Bit & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BLE IR HY B & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B B & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IR BY B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

= o) oR A

Relationship with the Group

MMEISENEZGR QA
Hangzhou Longwu Shenghe Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMBEIERMEXGRAA

MMBBEXERLF

Hangzhou Binbao Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMNEBEEXBR QA

MMNEBEREXBR QA

Hangzhou Binyue Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMEBREXARLDQA

LN B A P53 E R B B IR A A

Hangzhou Bincheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMBEAEWEREBR QA
MMNERFEHERZEAR QA

Hangzhou Binliang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMERFEHEREZEER AR

MMREEXEGR AR
Hangzhou Xinhui Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMREEXEFR A A

EMENEHERZBR QA
Taizhou Binfan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

EMEANEHERBERR QG
MMNBBEMERERR AT

Hangzhou Binyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MBI E R EBR AR

=RAR Y g: o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 R ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT AR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT IR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

=RAR e g o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IR Y B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding
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30 EXBEB LIRS (&) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BEAEENER
Relationship with the Group

BEMAENGSE &8
Name of related party

MMEBREXARAA
Hangzhou Xinghao Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMEBEXFRAA

MMEEFMEREZEFRAA

Hangzhou Binyuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.

MMNBEEFHEREZEFR AR

MMTREARRKRERERERGR QA

Huzhou Nantaihu Future Community Construction
Development Co., Ltd.
MMTEARRRLRBERERER LA

MMBREXRER QA
Hangzhou Binming Industrial Co., Ltd.
MMNBREEER DA

MMEBEREMEREZEERAQF
Hangzhou Binkai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd
MINEREHERZEBR AR

MNERFEHERZEGR DA
Hangzhou Binjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd
MMEREMWEREFGR QA

MMBKFHEREFR AR
Hangzhou Binzhao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd

MMERFEHERBZFR QA

MMEABEEXFRAF
Hangzhou Xingmu Real Estate Co., Ltd
MNEABEEXZER AR

=RAR T g0 R /N]
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E I B B & 1 A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B LR AR B Bt & 1 7
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BLE IR EY B & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 IR &) Bt R 7
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT E IR ) B & X F)
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT R e B A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



30 EXEBARS ()

SE P BmRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BHMAENESE &8
Name of related party

= o) oR A

Relationship with the Group

MMImEREHERZEERA
Hangzhou Hangjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd
MMMREHERZEFR QG

MM BEERZERR DA
Hangzhou Jianpu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd

MMEREHERZEBR QA

MMNEBEIRTEMERBEERA
Hangzhou Binjiang Shengyuan Real Estate Development

Co,LtdMNEBEB IR TEHEREERA

MM EEREE EERA A
Hangzhou Runbin West Station Real Estate Co., Ltd
MM EBEALE EER A A

mMNEBEREWERBEER DA
Hangzhou Binbao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd

MMNEBEREHWERZERR QA

MMNEEYMEREERRAA
Hangzhou Zhihe Property Management Co., Ltd.
MMESMEERRRRQA

MINE BB KRG A R A A
Hangzhou Zhibin Technology Service Co., Ltd.
MME BRI KRE AR A

MMNBEEYEERBERAF
Hangzhou Binwang Technology Service Co., Ltd.

MMEEMEREERRAA

=RAR Y g: o) R /N
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L1 R ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

B L 12 IR ) B & A A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BILE IR B Bk & R A
Associate of Binjiang Holding

BT AR ) B R A
Associate of Binjiang Holdmg

REE® B E QA

Associate of the Group

ZNESJE o) 2N

Associate of the Group

NS0 R NG|
Associate of the Group

/PN

4

RAZRXEREHRSE - %5
AME N BREIIARXRR -

7 The English translation of the Company name
is for reference only. The official names of

these companies are in Chinese.
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(BR=BHEREIN
30 EXEBARS ()

(b) FEEEAEME

AEBTIEERAEHES(BED
NARBEE /IR GR M ZE7A
BE)RETREHME T GWHKH
AESPT M EE)) AT

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel
remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 7
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt INGE S
RMB’'000 RMB'000

TE - ZBREWRET Salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind 9,251 9,367
) 15 7€ 4L Discretionary bonuses 6,871 4,088
R OKETE R Retirement scheme contributions 371 335
16,493 13,790

FMABEATE T AR K&
5(b)) °

BINJIANG SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs”
(see note 5(b)).
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXFEBAERZ(E) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

AEEEFRBBIRBESHA
MERXZXZFBNT:

Particulars of significant transactions between
the Group and the above related parties

during the reporting period are as follows:

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR® T N R
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MEEERBUWAKE:  Property management services
income from:
— BIFEEREKB — Binjiang Real Estate and its
YN subsidiaries 54,807 46,521
— B R e B — Associates of Binjiang
NG| Holding 12,926 16,748
— RNEBEME QT — Associates and a joint
k—HEe&Eh% venture of the Group 28,233 24,449
RIFRIBRT - A BRTE  Pre-delivery services, consulting
WAKE : services income from:
— BIFEEREKB — Binjiang real estate and its
N subsidiaries 273,084 291,956
— B R e — Associates of Binjiang
NC] Holding 156,661 174,791
MEHERERBIE  Sales agency services for property
WAKE : sales income from:
— BILIFEE R EN B — Binjiang real estate and its
NC] subsidiaries 11,821 19,314
— BT AR O B 2 — Associates of Binjiang
NG Holding 3,139 8,323
MMATAEEEREM: Sales of goods to:
— BILIFEE R EN B — Binjiang real estate and its
NG] subsidiaries 584 —
— BT E IR A B A — Associates of Binjiang
NG Holding 189 —
BIRBEERBRAR FERE 2024
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362

20245
2024

AR TR
RMB’000

BXATREIRER
BR 75 -
—BIFENMENE

yNE]

EXUATRABREE
B AR
—BIFENENE

NC]

BEXEHHEERY

—BIFENRENE

NC]

ERINNCIE ¢ S C R
BE:
—BIFENREMNE

yNE]

HERBMNERAX:

— BIEENEWE
A A

WEEBEML - FEYE R
&
—BIFENRENE

NG

Receiving catering services from:

— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 2,583

Receiving hotel management
services from:
— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 961

Receiving services of short-term
leases
— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 2,411

Acquisitions of right-of-use assets
from:
— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 838

Interest expense on lease
liabilities:
— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 37

Acquisitions of car parking spaces,
storage room and shops
— Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries 62,731

30 EXFEBAERZ(E) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) ERBBEERARZ (&) (c) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB'000

1,352

830

2,023

1,730

51

116,090
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXBEB LRI (H) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) EdRAEE R VA &R (d) Balances with related parties

20245 2023%
2024 2023
ARE TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEEAE FEERE RS
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount allowance
ERATAREZEWFHE: Trade receivables due from:
BIFERENBAR Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries
—B5kE — Trade nature 22,943 2,832 19,262 828
BIIRRMOEE QT Assodiates of Binjiang Holding
—BHME — Trade nature 47,589 1,572 47,931 3,530
FEEMBERAR-HEELE  Assodates and a joint venture
of the Group
—B5hE — Trade nature 810 24 1,208 36
71,342 4,428 68,401 4,394
WU T AR ERRE: Other receivables due
from:
BIREREWBAR Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries
—FEHHE — Non-trade nature 384 = 500 =
BIERNEZ AR Associates of Binjiang Holding
—FESHE — Non-trade nature 1,418 = 1,212 =
1,802 - 1,712 -

BIRGEERREAR FERS 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR=BHEREIN
30 EXEBARS ()

(d) EEEEESEVE &R ()

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) Balances with related parties
(Continued)

20245 2023%
2024 2023
AR%ETR AERETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REELAE FERE EPIEEE N 3t
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount  allowance
BAFE: Prepayments:
BEEENENFE Prepayments for the purchase
of car parking spaces
BIFERENBAR Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries
—BHME — Trade nature = = 17,630 =
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR Tt NG R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
EFUATETNES Trade payables due to:
B RE:
BIFRENREK B AR Binjiang Real Estate and its
subsidiaries
— B5tHE — Trade nature 2,705 2,867

364
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(BB EHEBPHI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXFEBAERZ(E) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) EEREEg REVES &R (B) (d) Balances with related parties

(Continued)

20244 20234
2024 2023
AR T NG
RMB’000 RMB’000
EBEATELTNHEM Other payables due to:
FE {3 5K1E

BIFRENEKMB AR Binjiang Real Estate and its

subsidiaries
— FESHE — Non-trade nature — 1,078
B LR IR B Bk & R A Associates of Binjiang Holding
— FESHHE — Non-trade nature 40 40

40 1,118
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(BB EHEBPEI  LAAREEITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXBEBARSZ(E) 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) EERAEE HRVASER () (d) Balances with related parties

(Continued)

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR% Tt NS R
RMB’000 RMB’000

HibENRE —EX Other payables — contract

a&: liabilities:

BIRENEKBAR  Binjiang Real Estate and its

subsidiaries
— B54E — Trade nature 32,235 30,528
BILE AR ) B & N A Associates of Binjiang Holding
— B54E — Trade nature 8,966 15,668
REESEE QT Associates of the Group
— B5 1" — Trade nature 660 595
41,861 46,791
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%E Tt NG BV
RMB’000 RMB’000
EfEEERE: Lease liabilities due to:
—BIFERE — Binjiang Real Estate and its
(S =RNE] subsidiaries 838 1,900

(i) H Z=20244% }2023412A318 Ik F
E - AEEREEFBEFERBEIFE
HIEAE o

(i) FE U A B B 5 3K O3E (B FE A B B
TREMNSBEERRRE -
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(i)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group used the trademarks of Binjiang Real
Estate in the PRC on a royalty-free basis.

Amounts due from/to related parties, other than
lease liabilities due to related parties, are unsecured
and interest-free.
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(B R BEIEBEI - AAREILHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

30 EXFEBAERZ(E)

(iii) HEREAMEERA
CAEERBAAMES
12t

5 # AR 75 9 %

%WHE

AN REBBEHEE
TREABRE  BE)
ERRIRENEER
FR7

H F202412 831 Elltir‘;:* VN
MEBELEE R KB 43
¥0E HBRKA
—RE=H Eﬁ K JE K
R #918,984,0007T
503,020,0007T) °

> & ot Bl

H2024F128318  REBEH Ll

SHEREHNEEARY1,203,762,000
75(2023¢ A R #1,283,403,000
) BSERRBEEARE
26,585,00070(2023F: A R ¥
100,962,00070) &k & #) & E # 5 A
R ¥ Z 75 (20234 : A R #23,115,000
TT) °

EXFaERARAEILIREE R HEW
BARREREYMEEERY - HHR
% RN ATRT - HE R E RS M
HEEMANMBEIFERENW
BAREESTYE  BEKRH -
BEEERELRBEFEEM  FY
BhEHENER TR BR LD
MAIFBIAAE TR E M B E R H K
FEBERXS LTWRANFUAE
FIRENRBEETRENEETERE
[(HERERXS]—& -

EXFaEREEREIREND
Z mEIEEHEEREER
/%/I}%Fhf\@)ﬁaﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
BARZHEK EMRAF4AERR
AEMNBEIZIAFERERS -
@mmﬁ%x%ﬁ \EMRBIE
MAmmﬁﬁmmEﬁﬁﬁ O
REeBTEMRAUBUAENEER
HRIE °

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(iii)  For certain commercial apartments and properties
sold by Binjiang Real Estate to individual property
purchaser, the Group entered into a home
decoration service agreement with the individual
property purchaser to provide related home
decoration services.

In addition, the Group entered into a decoration
project contracting agreement with a third party to
provide home decoration services for commercial
apartments developed by one of the Binjiang Real
Estate’s associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised home decoration service revenue
of RMB918,984,000 (2023: RMB503,020,000) from
individual property purchasers and a third party in
respect of those commercial apartments developed
by Binjiang Real Estate and its associate.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
contract liabilities of RMB1,203,762,000 (2023:
RMB1,283,403,000), gross trade receivables of
RMB26,585,000 (2023: RMB100,962,000) and gross
contract assets of RMB Nil (2023: RMB23,115,000)
in respect of the above transactions.

The related party transactions in respect of
provision of property management services,
consulting services, pre-delivery services,
sales agency services and sales of goods to
Binjiang Real Estate and its subsidiaries and
certain properties leased, catering services,
hotel management services and car parking
space, storage rooms and shop purchase from
Binjiang Real Estate and its subsidiaries above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
provided in section “CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” of the Report of Directors.

The related party transactions in respect of
using trademarks of Binjiang Real Estate, sales
of goods to Binjiang Real Estate and receiving
hotel management services from Binjiang Real
Estate above constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
those transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).
BILRBERERAR FERE 2024
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(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 RAEEZ W HR &K

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%E Tt NG B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
kRBEE Non-current assets
R—FKHEBEARAKE Investment in a subsidiary 99,304 97,179
Y BERZE Property, plant and equipment 39 85
99,343 97,264
REBEE Current assets
B 5 & E b W IR Trade and other receivables 9,581 9,331
7E B3 17 3K Time deposits 804,669 27,507
RERRESFED Cash and cash equivalents 9,621 5,642
o 8238 42,480
REEE Current liabilities
Z 5 & H b fE T R IE Trade and other payables 12,405 12,139
HEESE Lease liabilities — 11
12,405 12,150
REBEEFE Net current assets 811,466 30,330
HEERARBEE Total assets less current
liabilities 910,809 127,594
EEEH NET ASSETS 910,809 127,594
BEXRNEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
[N Share capital 181 181
Ee Reserves 910,628 127,413
4R = TOTAL EQUITY 910,809 127,594
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RmBHEAEIN
BEHRNFEFARSIR

RIBERKRE  EEZHRMARFRE -
E—SHFBRKIE2600)EE -

HERERARERA
MN20245FE 128318 EERALREED
BRERERTAEBARESEILE -

M2024F12A318 - EE R A KEEH
BEESARAEEAKRER AR - ZE
RYERRUEARNAZHBRE -

REZE2024F12A31HLEFECEH
BREARERZIERT - HEARZEN
/QEE/E

EEAUBEHRATIZEH  HEETE
AIEEgC MMEIERE £20245F124
BIBLEFERAERNERTBERENR
ﬁﬁ%m%ﬂ&m{ﬂﬁw'*$@%
VAT A Bt B2 7K 5 [ 45 Al /9

32

33

34

LA A RE T 7R) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
directors proposed a final dividend. Further details
are disclosed in note 26(c)(i).

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2024, the directors consider the
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Mr. Qi
Jinxing, an individual person.

At 31 December 2024, the directors consider the
immediate parent of the Group to be Great Dragon
Ventures Limited. This entity does not produce
financial statements available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the IASB has issued a number of new
and or amended standards, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

BIRBEEARAR FEME 2024

369



370

e BwRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(R R BEIEBPEI - AAREITHIR) (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

34 REZE20245F12A31HLEFECE#H 34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
15 I"'ﬁﬁEQE%ZZTIKET C FTEAIR 2 BN NEW STANDARDS AND
BESE (B INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024 (Continued)

RATEHS 2 ABRNEFHBEN
Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

BREiERE21K BT EXRGIFE—RTLEY 202561718
Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025

— Lack of exchangeability

AR BEREENEI R A T ARBR B RELAET 2B T ANETR: 202651718
ﬁ:% f%ﬁl’ﬁﬂ* afiﬁ/ﬁzn]—
Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures 1 January 2026

— Amendments to the dlassification and measurement of financial instruments

ERMEREENSHENNERESE — EN 202651718
Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
BN B RERNESR THEHANZIRAE 202751718
IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BRMBREENES  FAAGRELONEL T RE 20271 R1H
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
AEBEFETHZERRELRIE The Group is in the process of making an
FEFHHHFW’JTE TR BHNERR assessment of what the impact of these
SRIE - RAZFER KA g 4 developments is expected to be in the period of
éﬂﬁ%#ﬁﬁ?iiﬁ%% ° initial application. So far it has concluded that the

adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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